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2014 HIGHLIGHTS

March

 EUR 350 million redemption of remaining participation capital from Republic of Austria
 EUR 125 million equity contribution by shareholders

June

 EUR 175 million record first half profit achieved

July

 EUR 460 million redemption of remaining non-sustainable capital elements

August

 Setup of a service center for payments and loan processing

September  EUR 264 million record first nine months profit achieved
October

 Strong results from ECB Comprehensive Assessment Review
 Sale of BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST announced (closed Feb. 2015) – entering long-term partnership with AMUNDI
 Opening of BAWAG P.S.K. office in London, UK

December  EUR 333 million record full year profit achieved

OUTPERFORMED ALL 2014 GOALS
Targets 2014
Return on equity > 10%
Operating expenses < EUR 500 million
Risk costs / loans and receivables < 30 basis points
Fully loaded CET1 capital ratio > 10%
Deposit base > EUR 20 billion
Consumer lending market share > 8.5%
> 73% variable deposits as % of total deposits

Performance
14.9%
EUR 499 million
28 basis points
12.1%
EUR 21 billion
9.0%
79%

PERFORMANCE SCORECARD
Return on equity

Business net interest margin

Cost-income ratio

+3.3pts

+0.27pts
2.33%
2.06%

(12.7)pts
65.8%
53.1%

11.6%

2013

2014

2013

2014

Leverage ratio

CET1 capital ratio

+1.4pts
5.5%
4.1%

+2.7pts
12.1%
9.4%

2013
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14.9%

2014

2013

2014

2013

2014

NPL ratio
(0.6)pts
3.4%

2013

2.8%

2014

KEY FIGURES

Profit or loss statement
(in EUR million)
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Core revenues
Gains and losses on financial instruments and
other operating income and expenses
Operating income
Operating expenses
Bank levy
Total risk costs
Profit before tax
Net profit

Performance ratios
Return on equity
Return on tangible equity
Return on risk-weighted assets
Return on total assets
Net interest margin
Business net interest margin
Cost-income ratio
Risk costs / loans and receivables
Statement of financial position
(in EUR million)
Total assets
Financial assets
Customer loans and receivables
Customer deposits
Own issues
IFRS equity
IFRS tangible equity
Risk-weighted assets

Balance sheet ratios
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio (fully loaded)
Total capital ratio (fully loaded)
Leverage ratio (fully loaded)
Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR)
NPL ratio

580.2
188.0
768.2

Change
(%)
19.2
5.2
15.8

597.4
194.7
792.1

Change
(%)
15.8
1.6
12.3

50.2

265.8

(81.1)

139.7

(64.1)

939.8
(499.2)
(24.6)
(74.4)
342.5
333.1

1,034.0
(680.8)
(25.3)
(98.2)
228.8
229.1

(9.1)
(26.7)
(2.8)
(24.2)
49.7
45.4

931.8
(647.7)
(25.3)
(150.0)
110.2
107.3

0.9
(22.9)
(2.8)
(50.4)
>100
>100

2014

2013

14.9%
15.8%
2.03%
0.94%
1.95%
2.33%
53.1%
0.28%

11.6%
12.6%
1.25%
0.59%
1.49%
2.06%
65.8%
0.34%

2014

2013

34,651
7,488
21,779
21,135
6,113
2,405
2,302
16,792

36,402
7,733
20,980
22,013
7,531
2,053
1,911
16,001

2014

2013

12.1%
15.8%
5.5%
134%
2.8%

9.4%
13.9%
4.1%
178%
3.4%

2014

2013

691.8
197.8
889.6

Change
(pts)
3.3
3.2
0.78
0.35
0.46
0.27
(12.7)
(0.06)
Change
(%)
(4.8)
(3.2)
3.8
(4.0)
(18.8)
17.1
20.5
4.9
Change
(pts)
2.7
1.9
1.4
(44)
(0.6)

2012

2012
6.5%
7.3%
0.49%
0.26%
1.45%
1.61%
69.5%
0.50%
2012
41,265
10,050
22,275
21,999
9,050
1,895
1,722
20,618
2012
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
4.9%

Change
(pts)
8.4
8.5
1.54
0.68
0.50
0.72
(16.4)
(0.22)
Change
(%)
(16.0)
(25.5)
(2.2)
(3.9)
(32.5)
26.9
33.7
(18.6)
Change
(pts)
–
–
–
–
(2.1)

Note: For details on definitions and calculation methodology, please refer to the section entitled “Definitions” on page 49.
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BAWAG P.S.K. AT A GLANCE

BAWAG P.S.K. is one of Austria’s largest and most
profitable banks with more than 1.6 million retail, small
business and corporate customers operating under a wellrecognized national brand. We apply a low-risk and
efficient business strategy with over 70% of our customer
loans and receivables within Austria. The remaining
customer loans are predominantly in Western developed
economies such as Germany, the UK, France and the
United States.
Over the past few years, our strategy has been to focus on
our core businesses and exit areas where we have limited
or no competitive advantage. During this transformation, we
sold our asset management subsidiary, discontinued our
proprietary trading activities and proactively decided to exit

Central and Eastern Europe. Our CEE loan exposure has
significantly decreased and is today below 1% of total
assets. We pride ourselves in running the book in a safe
and secure manner.
Our business segments are Retail Banking and Small
Business, Corporate Lending and Investments and Treasury
Services and Markets. Delivering simple, transparent and
best-in-class products and services that meet our
customers’ needs is our consistent strategy across our
business units.
We are 52% owned by Cerberus Capital Management LP
and 40% by GoldenTree Asset Management LP.

STRATEGY
 Austria is the core market for BAWAG P.S.K. – Our aim
is to be the most efficient centrally managed bank
operating in the safe haven economy of Austria.
 Simple, transparent and best-in-class products – We
provide our customers with easy-to-understand,
transparent and best-in class products they want and
value through various physical and digital sales
channels to create long-term customer relationships.

 Efficiency is the key to winning – Cost efficiency across
all businesses and functions is critical to winning in a
more complex world with increased competition, regulatory requirements and macroeconomic challenges.
 Safe and secure – A strong capital position, stable
deposits and low and predictable risk costs across the
Bank are fundamental cornerstones for the execution of
our Bank strategy.

OUR GOALS IN 2015
 Profitability – net profit of >EUR 400 million and return
on equity >14%

 Capital base – maintain a fully loaded CET1 ratio >12%
and achieve a total capital ratio >16%

 Operational excellence – net cost-out of 5-10% and
cost-income ratio <50%

 Leverage – leverage ratio >6%
 Liquidity – maintain a liquidity coverage ratio >100%

 Risk profile – NPL ratio <2.5%
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BUSINESS SUMMARY

Retail Banking and Small Business
Our retail banking franchise has over 1.6 million private
customers across Austria. We provide a full suite of
savings, lending and investment products across more than
480 branches in partnership with Österreichische Post AG
(Austrian Post). In addition, we have a digital platform
consisting of our online and mobile activities and easybank,
our fully owned direct bank subsidiary. We have a market
share of over 15% in current accounts, 9% in consumer
in EUR million
Customer deposits
Assets
Operating income
Profit before tax

loans and 8% in deposits across Austria. Our small
business segment supports Austrian corporations with
annual turnover of up to EUR 50 million and also includes
our social housing activities. We provide comprehensive
lending and payment services for over 38,000 small
business customers. The segment also includes our
leasing business.
2014

2013

18,746
9,579
562
157

19,559
9,525
528
77

Change
(%)
(4.2)
0.6
6.4
>100

Corporate Lending and Investments
Corporate Lending and Investments provides loans and
financial services to large corporations across various
industries. We serve over 2,500 corporate customers in
Austria, providing them with loan products and our marketleading payment solutions. We also make selective lending
in EUR million
Assets
Operating income
Profit before tax

and other debt investments in corporate, commercial real
estate, portfolio and specialty financing transactions in
Western countries, i.e. Germany, the UK, France and the
United States. The segment also includes public sector
customers.
2014

2013

13,885
258
143

12,938
262
117

Change
(%)
7.3
(1.5)
22.7

Treasury Services and Markets
Treasury Services and Markets executes interest rate and
currency hedging activities for the Bank, provides customer
in EUR million
Assets
Operating income
Profit before tax

execution across a variety of capital markets activities and
manages the Bank’s portfolio of debt securities.
2014

2013

5,755
77
56

5,124
88
53

Change
(%)
12.3
(12.4)
5.7
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Disclaimer:
Certain statements contained in this report may be statements of future
expectations and other forward-looking statements that are based on
management’s current view and assumptions and involve known and unknown
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or events
to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements.

This report does not constitute an offer or invitation to purchase or subscribe
for any securities and neither it nor any part of it shall form the basis of or be
relied upon in connection with any contract or commitment whatsoever.

Actual results may differ materially from the results predicted, and reported
results should not be considered as an indication of future performance.

Due to a change in methodology relating to the calculation of averages,
certain key ratios for Q4 2013 and Q1 2014 may differ from the originally
published figures. Changes in the total capital ratio compared to originally
published figures in prior periods relate to the application of RWA figures
according to CRR.

Neither BAWAG P.S.K. nor any of its affiliates, advisors or representatives
shall have any liability whatsoever (in negligence or otherwise) for any loss
howsoever arising from any use of this report or its content or otherwise
arising in connection with this document.
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The tables in this report may contain rounding differences.
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LETTER FROM THE CEO

Dear Stakeholders,
2014 was a great year for BAWAG P.S.K. thanks to the
dedication of all of our employees working together as
one team to achieve a common goal of providing our
customers with simple, transparent and best-in-class
products while becoming one of the safest and most
efficient banks across Europe.
Our continued focus on our customers’ needs drove
outstanding financial results. Despite a low-interest rate
and slow-growth European macro environment, BAWAG
P.S.K. generated record earnings in 2014, making us one
of the most profitable Austrian banks.

Delivering results
2014 was a transformative year for the Bank as we
executed several strategic initiatives while delivering strong
results. For the first time in our history, we published
clearly defined financial and operating targets. We
outperformed across all of our goals.
 Target return on equity of greater than 10%
We finished 2014 with a net profit of EUR 333 million,
backed by core revenue growth of 16% that was driven
by a focus on key lending products, maintaining our
disciplined pricing approach and liability optimization
initiatives. Overall, with a 15% return on equity, we
clearly outperformed our target.
 Operating expenses less than EUR 500 million
We have invested heavily over the past few years to fix
our structural cost imbalances and are now seeing these
investments pay off. The Bank’s operating expenses
were down 27% to EUR 499 million, enabling us to
reduce our cost-income ratio by 13 points to 53% and
positioning BAWAG P.S.K. as a bank with efficiency at its
core. I strongly believe that in today’s slow-growth
environment, being the most efficient player in the

8

market is the key to winning. This enables us to provide
our customers with competitive products in a lowinterest rate environment.
 Risk costs as percentage of loans and receivables less
than 30 basis points
We proactively repositioned our balance sheet to tackle
challenging macro events and exited / reduced our
exposure to non-core areas where we had limited
competitive advantage. An example of this is our exit
from CEE countries. Our risk costs were down 24% to
EUR 74 million in 2014, representing 28 basis points as
a percentage of loans and receivables. Additionally, our
NPL ratio declined to 2.8%, emphasizing our low risk
profile within the balance sheet.
 Fully loaded CET1 capital ratio in excess of 10% and
a total capital ratio of 14%
Our fully loaded CET1 ratio and total capital ratio were
12.1% and 15.8%, respectively. This positions BAWAG
P.S.K. among the top-tier banks when compared to our
Austrian and European peers and provides us with a
strong capital base to continue growing in our core
businesses.
 Total deposits maintained at a level of EUR 20 billion
Our core strategy with regards to funding is to maintain
our stable customer deposits. We ended the year with
customer deposits of EUR 21 billion. We proactively
managed the outflow of legacy high-cost fixed savings
into other savings and investment products, thus
retaining over 90% of the customer liability volume
within the Bank across deposit and fee income
products.

LETTER FROM THE CEO

 At least 73% variable deposits as percentage of total
deposits
We actively managed the shift of our funding mix
towards more flexible and functional variable-rate
products, thereby enhancing our customers’ experience.
For example, they can use self-service machines,
reducing waiting times at our branches as well as
allowing for 24/7 access through digital platforms. With
79% variable deposits as a percentage of total deposits,
we not only achieved our goal, but significantly
contributed to reducing the Bank’s funding costs,
freeing up sales force capacity in our branches and
improving the overall customer experience.
 Consumer lending market share in Austria of at least
8.5%
We grew our consumer loan volume by more than 13%
in 2014, underlining our focus on this key product for
the Bank, translating into a market share in Austria of
9.0%. By focusing on customer service and operational
excellence, we were able to outperform our goal for
the year.

Highlight events of the year
2014 saw many important milestones for BAWAG P.S.K. In
the first quarter, we redeemed the remaining EUR 350
million of participation capital held by the Republic of
Austria and raised EUR 125 million of equity from our
existing shareholders. Subsequently, we also redeemed
approximately EUR 400 million of non-controlling interests
and the remaining EUR 60 million of non-sustainable
hybrid capital elements, underpinning our focus on
managing the Bank on a fully loaded basis without relying
on non-sustainable capital elements.

The second quarter was driven by the introduction of
external quarterly financial reporting for the Bank, thereby
pursuing our goal of increased transparency.
In the third quarter, we established our service center for
Bank-wide payment and loan operations under the roof of
our fully owned subsidiary “E2E”, positioning us to proactively address the changing economic and business
landscape and drive efficiency and productivity over time to
enhance our flexible operating model.
The fourth quarter had many highlights. The European
Central Bank disclosed the results of its comprehensive
assessment of 130 European banks, among them six
Austrian banks including BAWAG P.S.K. We are very
pleased to report best-in-class results among our Austrian
peers in both the asset quality review (AQR) and stress test
exercise, providing third-party confirmation of our low-risk
balance sheet and business model.
In mid-October, we announced the sale of our wholly
owned asset management subsidiary BAWAG P.S.K.
INVEST to AMUNDI, which was closed in February 2015.
The transaction is in line with our strategy to focus on our
core retail franchise and enables us to partner with a worldclass asset manager to continue offering the products that
our customers want and value via our branch network and
digital channels.
Finally, we opened our London office in order to locate our
international loan and bond origination teams with greater
proximity to key relationships for sourcing corporate, real
estate, specialty and portfolio finance transactions. This
strategic initiative further develops our international
business franchise, which has been a growth area of the
Bank and provides earnings diversification and underlines
our focus on countries with stable geopolitical and
macroeconomic fundamentals.
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Outlook
The business transformation we have undertaken the last
few years truly started paying off in 2014. We are now in a
strong position to face the headwinds in the Austrian and
European banking markets. We plan for a persistently low
interest rate environment, increased competition and
regulatory requirements.
Going into 2015, we are confident in our ability to provide
our customers with the products and services they want
and value. We expect to continue our success into 2015
with the following goals:
 We will continue to invest in businesses that meet the
Bank’s overall profitability hurdles. We are targeting a
net profit of >EUR 400 million and return on equity
>14%.
 We will continue to focus on operational efficiencies
through end-to-end process reengineering initiatives. We
are targeting a net cost-out of 5-10% and cost-income
ratio <50%.
 We will retain a prudent and stable risk profile which
was confirmed by the AQR. We expect an NPL ratio
<2.5%.
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 We will continue to focus on maintaining a strong capital
position. We target maintaining a fully loaded CET1
ratio >12% and achieving a total capital ratio >16%.
 We will keep the Bank at a low leverage, targeting a fully
loaded leverage ratio >6%.
 We will maintain a solid liquidity position with a target
liquidity coverage ratio >100%.
I want to once again thank our customers and shareholders
for their continuous support and our employees for their
tireless efforts for making our Bank so successful. The
strong results in 2014 reiterate that BAWAG P.S.K. is well
positioned to successfully win in a competitive and evolving
European banking market. We will stick to our Austrian
focused low-risk strategy, providing our customers with
simple, transparent and best-in-class products and
services. We are very proud of positioning BAWAG P.S.K.
as the best-performing bank in Austria.

Byron Haynes
CEO and Chairman of the Managing Board

OUR STRATEGY

OUR STRATEGY
AUSTRIA IS THE CORE MARKET FOR BAWAG P.S.K.
BAWAG P.S.K. is a strong and well-recognized brand across
Austria with more than 130 years of history in this safe
haven economy. With 1.6 million customers, over 70% of
our lending represents exposure to the Austrian market.
We believe that the combination of our products and
services, our strong focus on increased efficiency and the
exit from non-core areas allows us to meet the needs of our
customers across the country.
This Austria-focused strategy is based on the following
unique characteristics of BAWAG P.S.K.:
 Our strong cooperation with Österreichische Post AG
(Austrian Post) regarding our branch network, where we
have more than 480 joint outlets providing a convenient
setting for customers to conduct their banking and
postal needs. This creates an annual non-banking
customer flow of about 50 million people through our
branches for potential customer conversion.
 Our long-standing and continuing customer relationship
with the Republic of Austria for payments services
across various institutions.

 Our lean, centralized organizational structure that
enables us to assure consistent service quality to our
customers across the country and develop products and
services on a timely basis tailored to the needs of all of
our customers and businesses.
Our Austrian business is complimented by our international
division focusing on corporations, commercial real estate,
portfolio and specialty financing transactions located in
Western countries, i.e. Germany, the UK, France and the
United States. Run out of our London office, it positions us
with greater proximity to key relationships and allows us to
better source opportunities in these competitive markets.
This strategy provides the Bank with earnings
diversification and growth opportunities in countries with
stable geopolitical and macroeconomic fundamentals.
We continue to execute our strategy of reducing legacy
exposures in Central and Eastern Europe, where we have a
limited competitive advantage. Our ultimate goal is to fully
exit these markets.
Our aim is to be one of the most efficient centrally
managed banks across Europe, focused predominantly on
serving Austrian retail, small business and corporate
customers in every region of the country.

SIMPLE, TRANSPARENT AND BEST-IN-CLASS PRODUCTS
We are convinced that providing customers with easy-tounderstand, transparent and best-in-class products which
they want and value through different physical and digital
sales channels is key to building and maintaining
successful customer relationships. Therefore, we continue
to execute on our retail strategy, which is based on the
following pillars:

 Investing in a multi-channel retail banking model to
enable customers to access the entire range of products
and services whenever and wherever they want.

 Providing simplicity and consistency in our product
portfolio, which supports our orientation towards clear,
fair and transparent banking.

 Continuing the development of a more flexible operating
model across our retail product platforms in order to
address cost efficiency, increase scale for customer
flows and demands around the clock and be a leader in
technological change in our operating channels.

 Strengthening our already successful partnerships to
continue developing our retail franchise and enhancing
our product offerings and services.
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Enhancing product simplicity and transparency
We strongly believe that our customers prefer a retail bank
that is easy and transparent. Therefore, we have dedicated
our product strategy to enhancing simplicity and
consistency in our product portfolio, enabling us to offer
our customers clear, fair and transparent banking services
and products.
This approach is reflected in the unique “Box” product line
of the Bank, which bundles product information and
required documents in a consistent and standardized way
to access different financial services. The concept is
successfully complemented by our consumer vehicle
leasing activities and a full suite of lending products and
payment services for small and medium-sized businesses
in Austria.
This concept is being received well in both the branches
and the digital channels and also enhances our sales
productivity.

Digital channels
1) Online: Our online / eBanking offering increases product
delivery and provides ease of usage for customers in order
to increase digital payments and other transactions. This
should drive greater cost efficiency and serve as an
additional channel for customers to directly evaluate and
purchase an increasing range of products such as daily
savings cards, current accounts, consumer loans, credit
cards and fund offerings. We have also established the
number one social media platform through our BAWAG
P.S.K. Facebook site, which allows us to develop a stronger
relationship with our customers, obtain real-time feedback
and enhance overall brand awareness.
2) Mobile: Due to general trends in customer behavior and
technological innovation, we expect mobile device banking
to ultimately become the most important digital channel for
our customers when it comes to everyday banking needs
for information and transactions. With our highly successful
mobile banking apps, increased transaction flow and
committed IT investment, we are well prepared to meet
changing customer needs and will continue to enhance our
offerings.

Investing in our multi-channel retail banking model
We are continuously investing in our physical and digital
platforms to offer our customers attractive savings, lending,
insurance and investment products and services whenever
and wherever they want. We focus on intuitive customer
interfaces to enhance the overall experience when using
our products and services.
Physical channel
Continued optimization of our branch network remains key
to our physical distribution strategy. Our joint branches
together with Österreichische Post AG (Austrian Post) offer
banking and postal services through a variable operating
cost structure and create non-bank customer visits of over
50 million people a year, providing an excellent opportunity
for customer leads, conversions and sustained visibility of
our brand. We will maintain a disciplined approach to our
physical branch structure as it relates to both costs and
profitability. Today, we have the largest centrally managed
branch network with over 480 outlets across Austria.
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3) Direct bank: easybank is a leading direct bank in
Austria and allows us to tap a customer base which is
complimentary to the BAWAG P.S.K. franchise. easybank
operates on its own brand proposition with a focus on
simple and innovative products, lean processes and high
service quality. easybank and BAWAG P.S.K. share a single
operating and technology platform. easybank will continue
to build on its market-leading deposit-taking capability,
focus on online consumer loans and target an increased
market share with its very successful current account
offering, which was rated number one product. This will
further strengthen its position as a primary direct bank for
retail customers. easybank will leverage its strategic
partnership with Shell Austria in over 125 gas stations on
integrated cash management and customer account
verification. easybank is also strategically pursuing
additional opportunities both domestically and
internationally.
Through all these investments in our retail banking model,
our brand value increased by 34% to EUR 260 million, as
determined by Brand Finance and published by the
Financial Times magazine The Banker.

OUR STRATEGY

Strengthening our successful partnerships
With regards to our offering in products and services,
partnerships play an important role for the Bank to leverage
its unique distribution channels and core banking system
while offering our customers very attractive products and
services.
We believe in partnering with world-class leaders. One
relationship to highlight is the long-term partnership the
Bank recently entered into AMUNDI to distribute its fund
products throughout Austria via our physical and digital
distribution channels, enabling us to continue offering our
customers the products they want and value. The
agreement also included the sale of our asset management
subsidiary BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST to AMUNDI.
Other important partnerships include Generali
Versicherung with our joint venture BAWAG P.S.K.
Versicherung, Bausparkasse Wüstenrot for building society
savings and loan products, VISA and MasterCard for debit

and credit cards, Western Union for remittance services
and First Data for the Austrian ATM network.

Developing a more flexible operating model
We continue to evaluate and develop operating solutions
which are more efficient and allow us to scale our workflow
across products and platforms to meet customers' needs
while maintaining and improving our high standards for
operational excellence.
We continuously invest in our IT infrastructure to improve
our cycle times and enhance customers' experience. We
have invested over EUR 100 million in IT tools and
upgrades to our core banking system over the past years.
Examples include the one-stop process for our consumer
loan product with automated and standardized credit
decisions and integrated cross-selling of insurance
products. This led to a process time improvement from four
days down to 15 minutes.

EFFICIENCY IS THE KEY TO WINNING
The overall banking industry across Europe is facing
headwinds driven by stagnating economic growth, a multiyear low-interest rate environment, continued pricing
pressure as a result of excess liquidity in the market and
increased regulatory requirements. In today's challenging
environment, we believe banks have to change their overall
business models to be more efficient in their operations.
A strategic focus for us over the last two years was to
address the structural cost challenges we faced in our
business model. We instituted a broadly based
restructuring program with the goal to reduce our total cost
base while simplifying our products and services. We
proactively addressed these structural imbalances and
expedited the restructuring program, which was in the best
interest of our customers, employees and shareholders.

Operational excellence
Going into 2015, we are focusing on optimizing our
processes and driving operational excellence throughout
the Bank. As a result, we have appointed Sat Shah as a

Managing Board Member and Chief Operating Officer. Sat
Shah joined the Bank in June 2014 as the Chief
Administrative & Strategy Officer, driving various strategic
initiatives including the successful sale of BAWAG P.S.K.
INVEST and the creation of a long-term partnership with
AMUNDI. In 2014, we established a centralized loan and
payment servicing center, created an IT transformation
roadmap and established a six sigma quality program. The
newly created COO organization will build on these
successes by driving operational excellence in 2015 and
beyond, including six-sigma initiatives, simplification
programs and continued IT infrastructure investments.
The key cornerstones of the process optimization and
efficiency program are:
 The establishment of our internal service center for
Bank-wide payment and loan operations under one roof
in our fully owned subsidiary "E2E" to proactively
address the changing economic and business
landscape and drive efficiency and productivity.
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 Further rationalization of products, services and
processes, resulting in the streamlining and
standardization of our product offerings and the
optimization of our footprint.
 Mapping our value chain to identify areas of core
competency across the front, middle and back offices
and leveraging intragroup and external outsourcing and
nearshoring platforms.
 Creating a culture focused on driving operational
efficiencies and productivity and encouraging
continuous improvement every year.

 Incentives: Increasing Board and Senior Leaders
performance targets, especially with regards to areas of
cost and operational efficiency
 Transparency: Full allocation of actual costs across the
businesses and products to maintain clear transparency
of profitability measurement across channels and
products
 Optimization: Project teams coordinated by the quality
leader focusing on increased end-to-end measurements
and analysis; six sigma quality program installed across
the Bank

Cost management

Investing in our core banking system

With a goal to be one of the most efficient banks across
Europe, cost management has been embedded into the
culture of the Bank through the following approach:

The cornerstone of our flexible operating model and ability
to drive efficiencies and operational excellence is the
maintenance of a best-in-class IT infrastructure that adapts
to the changing needs of our customers across our various
distribution channels. Over the last years, we have invested
over EUR 100 million into various IT projects in order to
automate and simplify our processes, transition to the
digital world, enhance our computing and analytical
capabilities and improve the overall customer experience.
We have established a multi-year IT roadmap that allows
the Bank to continually upgrade its infrastructure and
leverage new technologies as they are introduced. A few
examples include enhancing our computing infrastructure
through the cloud, leveraging low-cost industrialized
infrastructure technologies, treating our data as an asset
and refining our analytic tools while maintaining flexible
application development and release processes.

 Centralization: Centralized cost management through
the CFO office using a disciplined approach by
analyzing and reviewing costs at a line item level
 Cost targets: Absolute cost targets versus reliance on
cost-income ratio measurements to maintain nominal
cost tracking and avoid potential cost drift following
revenue lift
 Accountability: Direct ownership and accountability at
the Managing Board level for actual cost in each division
and across the Bank

SAFE AND SECURE
A strong capital position, stable deposits and low and
predictable risk costs across our products are fundamental
cornerstones for the execution of our Bank-wide business
strategies and the achievement of our goals. The
management is committed to operating the Bank in a safe
and secure way.
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Capital
We believe our CET1 capital ratio (CRR “fully loaded”)
target should be at least 12% over time, which is a prudent
level to manage through various economic cycles and
provides us with the flexibility to consistently support all of
our key lending and investment initiatives. Strong total
capital levels are also critical and we believe that our entire
capital base should be supported by elements which are

OUR STRATEGY

fully CRR compliant with no reliance on any transitional
elements.
All of our business and asset allocation decisions are
primarily oriented towards achieving and maintaining our
capital goals, resulting in a detailed analysis of appropriate
risk-adjusted returns on our capital utilization in each
business unit on a day-to-day basis.
Additionally, we are managing the Bank with low balance
sheet leverage compared to our peers, standing at 14.4x or
6.9% equity to total assets and a fully loaded leverage ratio
of 5.5% as of year-end 2014.

encumbrance of our balance sheet assets. Our liquidity
coverage ratio was 134% at year-end 2014 and we plan to
maintain this to be >100%.
As of 31 December 2014, our short-term liquidity buffer
amounted to EUR 7.4 billion, constantly exceeding any
regulatory liquidity requirements. While maintaining this
buffer does result in some compression on our overall net
interest margins due to the very low interest rate landscape,
we believe that there is greater value in maintaining a more
robust position in this area and we fully account for the
related headwinds in our annual business planning.

Liquidity and funding

Low risk profile

Retail and corporate savings products have been the core
part of our funding strategy over the years and will continue
to be the dominant form of funding for our balance sheet.
We supplement our savings balances with a diversified
strategy of wholesale funding. We have issued both
unsecured bonds as well as covered bonds secured by
mortgage and public sector collateral.

Over the past five years, the Bank has made significant
progress in addressing legacy balance sheet issues and
has effectively invested approximately EUR 300 million as a
result of overall charges from non-core sales, impairments
of non-core business units, the sale of legacy nonperforming loans, the sale of legacy structured products
and the rationalization of subsidiaries.

Overall, our ratio of wholesale funding to deposit funding
has been decreasing as our overall balance sheet and new
funding requirements have been reduced. Our long-term
goal is to maintain strong deposit funding and low reliance
on wholesale funding. Furthermore, our ratio of secured
funding to overall funding stood at below 10% at 31
December 2014, which highlights the low overall

We believe these legacy balance sheet issues are behind
us, and the risk costs of the Bank have normalized on a goforward basis to reflect the stable nature of our businesses
and the markets we operate in. We are also better
positioned to maintain a stable earnings profile, as our
balance sheet will reflect both a conservative risk profile
and measured growth in our key businesses and markets.
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CHALLENGES, RESULTS AND GOALS

In 2014, we made substantial progress across all key
financial, business and operational challenges to position
the Bank well to support our retail and corporate customers
over the long term in addition to creating an outlook of

EFFICIENCY

EQUITY
RETURNS

CHALLENGES

2014 RESULTS

Low interest rate environment
pressures net interest
income

Net profit +45% to EUR 333 million, backed by focus on
key lending products, disciplined pricing approach and
liability optimization

Deliver earnings which exceed
our cost of equity

Return on equity of 14.9%

Highly competitive business
environment – high pressure on
margins

Operating expenses reduced by 27% to
EUR 499 million

Compressed margins from rate
structure
More comprehensive regulatory
burden
Digitization driving change

CUSTOMER
BANKING

sustained profitability. These same challenges and results
help frame our goals for 2015 and support our overall
strategy to be the most efficient centrally managed retail
bank across Europe that is favored by our customers.

High customer expectations of
strong and efficient services in
both digital and physical
channels
Sustained price competition
High competition among existing
and new players entering the
banking market

Cost-income ratio improved to 53%
Established a service center for payments and loan
processing
Digital transactions increased by 3 points to 60% of
overall transactions

Deposits at EUR 21 billion despite proactively managed
outflow of fixed-term savings into other bank products
Variable deposits increased from 70% to 79% of total
deposit base
Market share in consumer lending increased by 1 point
to 9.0% in a retracting market

2015 GOALS
Net profit >EUR 400 million
Return on equity >14%

Net cost-out of 5-10%
Cost-income ratio <50%
Increase in digital transactions to
65% of overall transactions
Focus on operational efficiency
through E2E process
optimization

Deposit shift continues with yearend target of at least 80%
variable deposits as percentage
of total deposits
Maintain consumer lending
market share in Austria of at
least 9.0% by year-end

Number of current accounts increased by 33,000 or
2.6% on a net basis

RISK, CAPITAL
& LIQUIDITY

Opened London branch office
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Increased regulatory
requirements – ECB
comprehensive assessment

NPL ratio further reduced by 60 basis points to 2.8%

NPL ratio <2.5%

Fully loaded CET1 capital ratio of 12.1%

Market expectation to fully
comply with CRR rules

Full redemption of participation capital and other
remaining non-sustainable capital elements

Maintain fully loaded CET1
capital ratio >12% and achieve
total capital ratio >16%

Improve quality of capital

Capital raise of EUR 125 million

Increase liquidity buffers

Leverage ratio (fully loaded) improved to 5.5%
EUR 7.4 billion short-term liquidity buffer

Leverage ratio >6%
Maintain a liquidity coverage
ratio of >100%

MANAGING BOARD

MANAGING BOARD OF BAWAG P.S.K.

Byron Haynes
CEO and Chairman of the Managing Board

Wolfgang Klein
Deputy CEO and Head Retail Banking and Small
Business

Corey Pinkston
Head Corporate Lending and Investments /
Treasury Services and Markets

Anas Abuzaakouk
Chief Financial Officer

Stefan Barth
Chief Risk Officer

Sat Shah
Chief Operating Officer
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In 2006, BAWAG P.S.K. made a voluntary commitment to
apply the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance for listed
Austrian companies. There were no changes to the Code in
2014.

The Bank has published an annual Corporate Governance
Report since 2009.
Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code was
audited by independent third parties in 2014, revealing that
all key provisions of the Code were fulfilled.

SUPERVISORY BOARD
As of 31 December 2014, the Supervisory Board of BAWAG
P.S.K. consisted of twelve members.
The Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board comprise
the rights and obligations of this board and also define the
individual committees of the Supervisory Board and their
responsibilities. The individual members of the Supervisory
Board and the composition of the committees are
presented in the Boards and Officers section.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee reviews the Bank’s
accounts and the annual financial statements, and
monitors the Bank’s internal control systems. This
committee is also in regular contact with the external
auditor, the Head of the Internal Audit and the Head of
Compliance & KYC. The annual audit plans and reports
about the activities of Internal Audit and Compliance & KYC
are also submitted to the Audit and Compliance
Committee. The Head of Internal Audit and the Head of
Compliance & KYC have direct access to the Chairperson
and members of the Audit and Compliance Committee.

Risk and Credit Committee
Under the ultimate responsibility of the full Supervisory
Board, the approval of loans and credit (as well as other
forms of financing) to individual borrowers or groups of
connected customers for the purposes of para 392 of the
Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 (exposures that equal 10%
or more of the Bank’s eligible own funds) has been
delegated to the Risk and Credit Committee. A report about
the large exposures approved by the Risk and Credit
Committee is submitted to the Supervisory Board at least
once per year. The granting of loans and credit facilities to
corporate customers in the amount of EUR 250 million or
18

more must also be approved by the Risk and Credit
Committee. The Risk and Credit Committee also approves
transactions with the Bank’s affiliated parties pursuant to
section 28 BWG and the Bank’s material credit policies. It
also advises the Supervisory Board on the current and
future risk-bearing ability and risk strategy of the Bank and
monitors the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management systems and compliance with the legal
provisions and regulatory requirements. Furthermore, the
Committee also reviews whether prices of offered services
and products fully take into account the business model
and the risk strategy as well as whether initiatives provided
by the Bank’s remuneration system take into consideration
risk, capital, liquidity and the likelihood and timing of
earnings.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee deals with Managing Board
succession planning and the regular Fit & Proper
evaluation of Managing Board members and Supervisory
Board members regarding their knowledge, skills and
experience. Following these tasks, the Nomination
Committee had stipulated a target quota for the
underrepresented gender on the Managing Board and on
the Supervisory Board. The Nomination Committee
assesses the structure, size, composition and performance
of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board
periodically but in any case if circumstances imply the
necessity for a new evaluation. Further tasks of this
Committee are the monitoring of the recruiting process with
regard to senior management and the approval of the
assumption of executive functions by members of the
Managing Board as a Supervisory Board member, member
of the Managing Board, managing director or partner with
personal liability in companies not belonging to the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee deals with the general
principles of the Bank’s remuneration policy. It also
monitors the remuneration policy, remuneration practices
and remuneration-based incentive structures pursuant to
section 39c BWG, except for those pertaining to Managing
Board members.

Committee for Management Board Matters
The Committee for Management Board Matters deals with
relationships between the Bank and the members of the
Managing Board. For example, it decides about the
provisions of employment and severance agreements with
Managing Board members and about the remuneration
paid to members of the Managing Board as well as

performance targets. It also monitors the remuneration
policy, remuneration practices and remuneration-based
incentive structures pursuant to section 39c of the Banking
Act pertaining to Managing Board members.

Related Parties Special Audit Committee
The Related Parties Special Audit Committee audits
whether transactions of BAWAG P.S.K. and BAWAG P.S.K.’s
subsidiaries with related parties pursuant to IAS 24
(“Related Parties”) are granted at arm’s length terms that
are no more favorable than would be given to non-related
parties. Any related parties transactions require the
approval of this Committee, which shall only be granted if it
is determined that the related parties transaction is
concluded at arm’s length terms that are no more favorable
than would be given to non-related parties.

MANAGING BOARD
As of 31 December 2014, the Managing Board of BAWAG
P.S.K. consisted of five members – Byron Haynes,
Wolfgang Klein, Corey Pinkston, Anas Abuzaakouk and
Jochen Klöpper.
Byron Haynes is the CEO of BAWAG P.S.K. and Chairman
of the Managing Board. Wolfgang Klein is responsible for
Retail Banking and Small Business and is the Deputy
Chairman of the Managing Board. Corey Pinkston is
responsible for Corporate Lending and Investments &
Treasury Services and Markets. Anas Abuzaakouk is the
Chief Financial Officer. Jochen Klöpper was the Chief Risk
Officer and resigned as of 31 December 2014.
In the beginning of 2015, the Supervisory Board appointed
Stefan Barth as Chief Risk Officer and Sat Shah as Chief
Operating Officer. Stefan Barth will be responsible for Risk
Management and has been with BAWAG P.S.K. since 2013.
Sat Shah joined BAWAG P.S.K. in 2014 and will be
responsible for Strategy, Operations and IT.

The Rules of Procedure of the Managing Board define the
responsibilities and tasks of this Board. According to these
Rules of Procedure, the Managing Board has the right to
form committees and to issue statutes for these committees. The following executive committees have been
formed:
 the Enterprise Risk Meeting for steering the total bank
risk;
 the Credit Policy Committee, which focuses on credit
guidelines and strategies;
 the Credit Approval Committee, which decides on
financing transactions above a certain threshold; and
 the Strategic Asset Liability Committee, which deals with
strategic capital and liquidity planning issues as well as
operational aspects of asset and liability management.
As of February 2015, the topics of the Credit Policy
Committee were merged into the Enterprise Risk Meeting.
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SUITABILITY ASSESSMENT (FIT AND PROPER)
The EBA guidelines on the assessment of the suitability of
the management body and key function holders
(EBA/GL/2012/06) stipulate that credit institutions must
adopt a suitability assessment policy that defines a strategy
for the selection and the process of assessing the suitability
of the members of the Managing Board, Supervisory Board

and staff in key positions. At the December meeting of the
Nomination Committee, all Managing Board and
Supervisory Board members and the Managing and
Supervisory Boards as a whole were subjected to a
suitability evaluation.

COMPLIANCE
The Compliance Office reports directly to the Managing
Board. Regular reports are also submitted to the Bank’s
Audit and Compliance Committee.
The key responsibilities of the Compliance Office are
preventing money laundering and combating terrorism,
monitoring compliance with sanctions, securities
compliance, as well as the prevention of insider trading,
market abuse and conflicts of interest. A series of detailed
guidelines have been put into place to ensure compliance
with all legal requirements.
In addition to all relevant laws such as the Securities
Supervision Act, all employees are also bound by a Code of
Conduct that contains, among other things, guidelines for
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business conduct and customer service, for how conflicts
of interest are to be handled and for preventing market
abuse and money laundering. A detailed anti-corruption
guideline governs the acceptance and awarding of gifts and
keeps employees and management abreast of the valid
anti-corruption regulations.
BAWAG P.S.K. has also been a member of the Austrian
chapter of Transparency International (TI-AC) since the end
of November 2012. This not-for-profit organization seeks to
increase general awareness of the need to combat
corruption and increase transparency in Austria, and it
works to facilitate the implementation of relevant measures
and reforms.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN
OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
The Supervisory Board of BAWAG P.S.K. properly fulfilled
all duties incumbent upon it by law, the Bank’s Articles of
Association and its Rules of Procedure. The Managing
Board of the Bank was continuously monitored and
regularly advised. The Managing Board informed the
Supervisory Board of all material issues in a timely and
comprehensive manner. Open discussions took place in
the Supervisory Board, and also individual discussions
between the Managing Board members and the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board, as well as the Chairman of the
Audit & Compliance Committee.

Supervisory Board
As of December 2014, the Supervisory Board consisted of
twelve members.
The Supervisory Board convened for five meetings in 2014
and decided four proposals via circular resolution. All
members attended nearly all of the meetings in person.
The meeting in March 2014 focused on the financial
statements for 2013. Among other things, the Supervisory
Board discussed the Corporate Governance Report and
Code including the Supervisory Board’s yearly discussion of
its performance and efficiency. A focus of discussions in
2014 was the full redemption of participation capital to the
Republic of Austria and the Bank’s capital and cost
structure. In May 2014, the recovery plan was approved
and subsequently submitted to the FMA. In December
2014, the Supervisory Board approved the budget for 2015
and the resolution plan which was submitted to the FMA
before the year-end. Other key focus areas of the
Supervisory Board during the reporting period were the
establishment of the London branch, and the sale of
BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST. Further reports contained the
results of the comprehensive assessment comprising the
Asset Quality Review (AQR) and the EBA stress test.
The agenda of each meeting included the discussion of the
business and capital situation. The Supervisory Board
discussed the Management Letter of the external auditor as
well as the appointment of the external auditors for the year
2015. Regular reports were provided on the civil and
criminal proceedings regarding the City of Linz.
The focus of the individual meetings also included reports
on personnel matters, reports pursuant to section 21
Securities Supervision Act, Fit & Proper topics focusing on

the limitation of mandates, regulatory topics as well as the
Single Supervisory Mechanism of the European Central
Bank and the annual report on large exposures.

Supervisory Board Committee Meetings
Audit and Compliance Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee held six meetings in
2014. The meetings in February and March focused on
reviewing the Bank’s financial statements for 2013 and the
Corporate Governance Report for 2013, as well as on the
annual reports from Internal Audit and Compliance & KYC.
In February, the information security report for 2013 was
presented, in May the Committee discussed the
Management Letter among other things and in July, the
focus was on the half-year numbers. In October, the Audit
and Compliance Committee discussed the
recommendation for the appointment of the external
auditors and the annual audit process for 2014. In
December 2014, the Audit and Compliance Committee
approved the 2015 audit plans of Internal Audit and of
Compliance & KYC. Furthermore, the annual report on the
measures taken to fight corruption was discussed. Internal
Audit and Compliance & KYC submitted quarterly reports.
Improvements and upgrades related to fraud prevention
tools and processes were discussed. Reports on audits and
enquiries by the regulatory authorities were also provided to
the Audit and Compliance Committee.
The external auditor was present at all meetings. The Audit
and Compliance Committee also met in private sessions
with the external auditor and the Heads of Compliance &
KYC and Internal Audit without the members of the
Managing Board being present.
Risk and Credit Committee
The Risk and Credit Committee held five meetings in 2014.
One credit application was decided upon by way of circular
resolution. In addition to the approval of loans, the Risk and
Credit Committee also dealt with general credit risk topics.
The meeting in March focused on the limit prolongations of
transactions with affiliated parties as well as on reports on
the real estate markets in Austria, Germany, France, Spain
and the UK. The main topic in May was the updates
regarding the Internal Ratings-Based Approach (IRB) and
the Asset Quality Review (AQR). Reports on the Bank’s
most important equity holdings and on the status of the
comprehensive assessment comprising the AQR and the
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EBA Stress Test were presented in July. In October, the
Risk and Credit Committee discussed the results of the IT
security penetration test for 2014. In December, the focus
was on the results of the FMA on-site-review “Market Risk
in the Bank Book.” The Group Risk Report of the Bank,
which includes the calculation of the Bank’s risk-bearing
capacity and reports on corporate, retail and market risk,
was a regular item on the Risk and Credit Committee’s
agenda.
Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee held one meeting in 2014 and
also made one decision by way of a conference call. The
most important topics of discussion in December were the
Fit & Proper evaluation of the Managing Board members
and the Supervisory Board members as well as the
succession planning of senior management at BAWAG
P.S.K. Furthermore, the scope of the Nomination
Committee was discussed and assessed.
In a conference call held in November 2014, the
Nomination Committee acknowledged the resignation of
Jochen Klöpper and discussed the replacement of the
CRO. In the December meeting, the Nomination Committee
recommended the appointment of Stefan Barth as CRO.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (pursuant to section 39c
BWG) held one meeting in 2014. In March, the
remuneration policy was updated. Furthermore, the
statistical review for 2013 according to the regulations and
the compensation policy were presented.
Committee for Management Board Matters
The Committee for Management Board Matters held three
meetings in 2014 in which it discussed and agreed the
Managing Board compensation, MbO goals and contracts
of the Managing Board members. The Committee for
Management Board Matters also decided on amendments
to the Bank’s remuneration guidelines.
Related Parties Special Audit Committee
The Related Parties Special Audit Committee held two
meetings in 2014. In December 2014, the current portfolio
of related parties transactions was reviewed and
acknowledged.
All committees also reported regularly about their
discussions and decisions to the entire Supervisory Board.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The accounts, the annual financial statements for 2014
and the management report were audited by Deloitte Audit
Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH. The audit revealed no cause
for objection. The legal regulations were complied with in
full, and an unqualified auditor’s opinion was issued.
After an in-depth discussion, the Supervisory Board
concurred with the results of the audit, raised no objections
against the annual financial statements and management
report for 2014 including the proposal for the appropriation
of profits submitted by the Managing Board and hereby
approves the annual financial statements for 2014
pursuant to section 96 paragraph 4 of the Stock
Corporation Act.
The consolidated annual financial statements for 2014
pursuant to the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and the Group Management Report were audited by
Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH. The audit
revealed no reasons for objection, and the legal
requirements were met in full. The auditor confirmed that
the consolidated annual financial statements provide a true
and accurate picture of the financial position of the Group
as of 31 December 2014 and of the earnings position and

cash flows for the financial year started on 1 January 2014
and ended 31 December 2014 in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union.
The auditors also confirmed that the Group Management
Report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements.
The Supervisory Board agreed with the opinion of the
auditor after extensive discussion.
In conclusion, I would like to express my sincere thanks to
all employees on behalf of the entire Supervisory Board for
their hard work and commitment. BAWAG P.S.K. has made
substantial progress during 2014 and we are optimistic
about the Bank’s future.

Vienna, 4 March 2015
The Supervisory Board
Franklin W. Hobbs
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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ECONOMIC AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS
Macro trends
The Austrian economy continued its slow but stable growth
in 2014. Gross domestic product grew 0.3% versus 0.2%
in 2013 and unemployment figures were some of the
lowest across Europe at 4.9% (as of November 2014). The
corporate sector demonstrated continued flexibility with its
relatively smaller sized company structure, enabling the
sector to adapt to the changing economic environment.

consumer prices, HICP). The retail banking sector saw
decreased consumer lending demands (down 5.4%) driven
by concerns around economic uncertainty. This was
partially offset by demand in the retail housing market (up
3.2%). Despite the economic uncertainty and slow growth
environment, the retail mortgages are performing well with
low delinquencies and default rates. Finally, depressed
short-term yields created an outflow from consumer
savings products into more attractive yielding variable rate
or alternative securities. A similar trend is expected into
2015.

Market developments
Overall corporate loan demand was muted in 2014, mainly
driven by lower investments being made. We expect this to
moderately increase in 2015. In addition, corporate loan
default rates remained stable at low levels reiterating the
resiliency of companies across Austria.
For Austrian households, 2014 was a year of lower wage
growth with a continued, but moderate, level of inflation
growth (1.5% according to the harmonized index of

Summary
The outlook for the Austrian economy remains cautiously
optimistic as corporations and households remain relatively
stable despite the overall macro uncertainty. BAWAG P.S.K.
expects 2015 Austrian GDP growth in line with or slightly
above 2014 levels, reflecting the continued low growth
environment. Private household disposable income should
be supported by low oil prices and expected tax reform.

REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS
Significant regulatory milestones occurred in 2014, such as
the implementation of the Basel 3 framework, the launch of
the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) and the ECB's
takeover of responsibility for the Euro zone’s main credit
institutions.
The Basel 3 framework came into force on 1 January 2014
with the EU regulation and after transposition of the
corresponding EU directive into Austrian law. In the
aftermath of the financial crisis, the objective of the reforms
was to improve capital and liquidity regulations with the
goal of promoting a more resilient banking sector.
One of the cornerstones of the new framework is defined
with the new capital requirements phased in over the next
few years. However, BAWAG P.S.K. manages its capital
structure on a fully loaded basis from the very beginning,
not taking into account any transitional rules. Our target
CET1 capital ratio in 2014 was 10% on a fully loaded basis
and we delivered a much stronger ratio, landing at 12.1%.
This measures up against the minimum officially required
CET1 capital ratio of 4.0% under the Capital Requirements

Regulation (CRR). Going forward, we will continue to
maintain a CET1 ratio >12% and strive to achieve a total
capital ratio >16%.
The new framework also defines new liquidity standards
reflected in the new ratios, the liquidity coverage ratio
(LCR) and the net stable funding ratio (NSFR). The LCR
determines that credit institutions must have a liquidity
buffer that ensures a survival horizon of at least 30
calendar days in case of a stressed liquidity situation. The
NSFR, however, is intended to ensure a sound funding
structure, taking a one year time horizon into account. In
January 2015, the European Commission published the
final legislation on the LCR, with transitional rules, starting
with a minimum of 60% coverage requirement as of
1 October 2015 and increasing to 100% by 2018. With our
robust liquidity position, which has always been one of the
Bank’s strengths, we achieved a LCR of 134% at the end of
2014. We plan to maintain a LCR of >100% going forward.
The calibration of the NSFR (which will come into force in
2018) has not been finalized yet. However, BAWAG P.S.K.
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plans to manage the NSFR above 100% on an ongoing
basis as well.
A new requirement in the European regulatory landscape is
the leverage ratio. This ratio is defined as Tier 1 capital as a
percentage of total exposure. Based on current definitions,
BAWAG P.S.K.'s leverage ratio stands at 5.5% on a fully
loaded basis compared to the stipulated 3%. Going
forward, we will maintain a leverage ratio >6%.
Progress was also made in creating the European Banking
Union. The Single Supervisory Mechanism is set to
centralize competences and resources for the supervision of
the significant Euro area banks, including BAWAG P.S.K.
Prior to the SSM assuming its supervisory tasks on 4
November 2014, the ECB conducted a comprehensive
assessment of the Euro area banking system together with
the national competent authorities (NCAs). The
comprehensive assessment consisted of the following pillars:
 Asset Quality Review (AQR)
 Stress test to check the resilience of banks' balance
sheets.
The AQR results were combined with the forward-looking
stress test results. The stress test used both a baseline and
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an adverse scenario for testing banks. Under the baseline
scenario, banks were required to maintain a minimum
CET1 ratio of 8% and under the adverse scenario of 5.5%.
The published AQR results reinforce our low-risk balance
sheet of high-quality assets and the accuracy in our
accounting methods with regards to both provisioning and
collateral valuation. The adjustment from the AQR review
resulted in an impact of 21bps, which was best-in-class
among the participating Austrian banks. Overall, BAWAG
P.S.K. was highly successful in passing the stress test, with
CET1 ratios of 11.9% for the baseline scenario and 8.5%
for the adverse scenario, both approximately 50% higher
than the minimum targets set out by the ECB.
Going into 2015, we expect considerable regulatory
changes for European financial institutions. The European
Banking Union is going to be completed by implementing
the second pillar – the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM)
and the third pillar – the Deposit Guarantee Scheme (DGS),
and further efforts are expected on intensifying the
regulatory level-playing field across Europe. We will
continue to proactively monitor and implement these
changes and to consider these developments in our
business plans accordingly.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

BAWAG P.S.K. successfully executed its business plans in
2014 and delivered strong results.
A few key highlights include:
 Record net profit of EUR 333 million in 2014, up 45%
compared to the year before. The increase was
particularly driven by improvements in the Retail
Banking and Small Business segment, which was up
over two times.
 Return on equity of 14.9% in 2014, up 3.3 points from
last year.
 Net interest income rose 19% in 2014, despite a
continued low-interest rate environment. The increase
came from a strong focus on key lending products, our
disciplined pricing and liability optimization initiatives.

 Net interest margin improved by 46 basis points to
1.95%, while the business net interest margin increased
27 basis points to 2.33%. This success was a testament
to our continuous efforts in asset and liability repricing.
 Our focus on cost efficiency paid off. Operating
expenses fell to EUR 499 million from EUR 681 million
in 2013, improving cost-income ratio by 12.7 points to
53.1%.
 Total risk costs substantially decreased to EUR 74
million in 2014, resulting from the improved credit
quality of the core businesses and positive effects from
the prior year de-risking activities.
 Our capital base continues to be strong, with a Common
Equity Tier 1 capital ratio and total capital ratio (both
fully loaded) of 12.1% and 15.8%, respectively, versus
9.4% and 13.9% at 31 December 2013.
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ANALYSIS OF PROFIT OR LOSS STATEMENT AND STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Profit or loss statement

in EUR million
Interest income
Interest expense
Dividend income
Net interest income
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expenses
Net fee and commission income
Core revenues
Gains and losses on financial instruments1) and
other operating income and expenses2)
Operating income
Operating expenses
Bank levy
Operating profit
Provisions and loan-loss provisions
Impairment losses
Share of the profit or loss of associates
accounted for using the equity method
Profit before tax
Income taxes
Profit after tax
Non-controlling interests
Net profit

2014
1,089.9
(407.9)
9.8
691.8
302.0
(104.2)
197.8
889.6
50.2
939.8
(499.2)
(24.6)
416.0
(72.6)
(1.8)
0.9
342.5
(8.8)
333.7
0.6
333.1

1,112.4
(541.6)
9.4
580.2
288.8
(100.8)
188.0
768.2

(22.5)
133.7
0.4
111.6
13.2
(3.4)
9.8
121.4

Change
(%)
(2.0)
(24.7)
4.3
19.2
4.6
3.4
5.2
15.8

265.8

(215.6)

(81.1)

(94.2)
181.6
0.7
88.1
5.4
18.4

(9.1)
(26.7)
(2.8)
26.9
(6.9)
(91.1)

2013

1,034.0
(680.8)
(25.3)
327.9
(78.0)
(20.2)
(0.9)
228.8
1.7
230.5
1.4
229.1

Change

1.8
113.7
(10.5)
103.2
(0.8)
104.0

–
49.7
–
44.8
(57.1)
45.4

1) Excluding valuation results attributable to shareholders of non-controlling interests. Compared to the profit or loss statement presented in the Consolidated
Financial Report according to IFRS, the item gains and losses on financial instruments is EUR 2.7 million lower (2013: EUR 8.7 million higher).
Accordingly, the item profit after tax presented above is EUR 2.7 million lower (2013: EUR 8.7 million higher) than the profit after tax presented in the
Consolidated Financial Report according to IFRS.
2) In accordance with IFRS, the item other operating income and expenses also includes the bank levy in the amount of EUR 24.6 million for 2014. However,
the Bank’s management considers the bank levy as a separate expense. Accordingly, it is shown in a separate expense line in the Group Management
Report.
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Net profit increased by EUR 104.0 million, or 45.4%, to
EUR 333.1 million in 2014. The increase was driven by
higher net interest income, higher net commission
income, lower operating expenses and lower risk costs.

stable, creating favorable earnings leverage. The Bank’s net
interest margin improved 46 basis points to 1.95%, while
the business net interest margin increased 27 basis points
to 2.33%.

Net interest income increased by EUR 111.6 million, or
19.2%, to EUR 691.8 million in 2014, driven primarily by
liability optimization measures and increased core asset
yields and volumes. These actions reduced interest
expenses, while customer loan development remained

Net fee and commission income increased by EUR 9.8
million, or 5.2%, to EUR 197.8 million in 2014. This
reflects continued fee income growth across our retail
franchise.
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Gains and losses on financial instruments and other
operating income and expenses decreased by EUR 215.6
million, or 81.1%, to EUR 50.2 million in 2014. This was
primarily due to lower one-off gains during 2014. The gains
in 2013 were primarily driven by the sale of securities and
the sale-leaseback of the headquarters building. Gains and
losses and other operating income/expenses accounts for
5% of operating income.

reduction in personnel, other administrative and
restructuring expenses. The cost-income ratio improved by
12.7 points to 53.1%.
Provisions and loan-loss provisions decreased by EUR 5.4
million, or 6.9%, to EUR 72.6 million in 2014. This was
mainly driven by positive effects from the 2013 de-risking
actions. Impairment losses amounted to EUR 1.8 million in
2014 versus EUR 20.2 million in 2013.

Operating expenses decreased by EUR 181.6 million, or
26.7%, to EUR 499.2 million in 2014, driven by a
Total assets

in EUR million
Cash reserves
Financial assets
Available-for-sale
Held-to-maturity
Held for trading
Fair value through profit or loss
Loans and receivables
Customers
Debt instruments
Credit institutions
Hedging derivatives
Tangible non-current assets
Intangible non-current assets
Tax assets for current taxes
Tax assets for deferred taxes
Other assets
Assets held for sale
Total assets

2014

2013

Change

684
7,488
3,833
2,042
1,163
450
25,280
21,779
1,983
1,518
546
84
103
7
243
148
68
34,651

481
7,733
5,126
773
1,081
753
27,256
20,980
2,485
3,791
164
85
142
5
245
291
–
36,402

203
(245)
(1,293)
1,269
82
(303)
(1,976)
799
(502)
(2,273)
382
(1)
(39)
2
(2)
(143)
68
(1,751)

Financial assets decreased by EUR 245 million compared
to 2013 and amounted to EUR 7,488 million as of 31
December 2014. Certain available-for-sale bonds were sold
and reinvested in held-to-maturity bonds. The increase of
held-to-maturity bonds also includes the reclassification of
available-for-sale bonds with a book value of EUR 323
million.

Change
(%)
42.2
(3.2)
(25.2)
>100
7.6
(40.2)
(7.2)
3.8
(20.2)
(60.0)
>100
(1.2)
(27.5)
40.0
(0.8)
(49.1)
100
(4.8)

Loans and receivables with customers increased by EUR
799 million, or 3.8%, to EUR 21,779 million as of
31 December 2014, primarily driven by growth in core
retail and international business assets. Due to balance
sheet deleveraging of non-core liabilities that continued in
2014, loans and receivables with credit institutions
sizably decreased by EUR 2,273 million, or 60.0%, to EUR
1,518 million, which primarily represented excess liquidity
invested in money markets.
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Total liabilities and equity

in EUR million
Total liabilities
Financial liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss
Issued securities
Held for trading
At amortized cost
Customers
Issued securities
Credit institutions
Valuation adjustment on interest rate risk
hedged portfolios
Hedging derivatives
Provisions
Tax liabilities for current taxes
Tax liabilities for deferred taxes
Other obligations
Obligations in disposal groups held for sale
Total equity
Shareholders' equity
Participation capital
Non-controlling interests
Total liabilities and equity

2014

2013

Change

32,246
30,842
1,675
1,675
1,174
27,993
21,135
4,438
2,420

33,603
32,488
2,968
2,968
1,298
28,222
22,013
4,563
1,646

(1,357)
(1,646)
(1,293)
(1,293)
(124)
(229)
(878)
(125)
774

196
160
522
0
3
517
6
2,405
2,405
–
–
34,651

Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss decreased by
EUR 1,293 million, or 43.6%, to EUR 1,675 million as of
31 December 2014, driven by the redemption of an own
issue with a notional value of EUR 960 million in February
2014.
Deposits from customers decreased by EUR 878 million,
or 4.0%, to EUR 21,135 million as of 31 December 2014,
primarily from the run-off of legacy fixed savings accounts
that were not renewed.
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(2)
126
504
1
10
477
–
2,798
2,053
350
395
36,402

198
34
18
(1)
(7)
40
6
(393)
352
(350)
(395)
(1,751)

Change
(%)
(4.0)
(5.1)
(43.6)
(43.6)
(9.6)
(0.8)
(4.0)
(2.7)
47.0
–
27.0
3.6
(100)
(70.0)
8.4
100
(14.0)
17.1
(100)
(100)
(4.8)

Shareholders' equity increased by EUR 352 million to EUR
2,405 million as of 31 December 2014. The change was
driven by the net profit for 2014 and a shareholder
contribution of EUR 125 million, partially offset by
remaining coupon payments on the participation capital
and the negative impact from the change of interest rates
of social capital in other comprehensive income.
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CAPITAL AND LIQUIDITY POSITION
The management team continues to run the Bank on a
fully loaded basis from a capital standpoint, which was
demonstrated in the first quarter of 2014 with the full
redemption of the remaining EUR 350 million of
participation capital and a capital contribution from the
shareholders of EUR 125 million. In the first half 2014, the
Bank redeemed the outstanding non-sustainable minorities
of approximately EUR 400 million and called the remaining
EUR 60 million of non-sustainable Tier 1 as well as other
Tier 2 instruments in the third quarter of 2014. The Bank’s

fully loaded capital ratios have continued to improve since
31 December 2013 from 9.4% to 12.1% (CET1 capital
ratio) and from 13.9% to 15.8% (total capital ratio). Our
core funding strategy continues to be based on our stable
customer deposits. In addition, the Bank participated in the
TLTRO in September and funded EUR 0.7 billion from the
ECB in the first tranche. We maintain a conservative
liquidity management strategy, which is also reflected in a
strong liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) of 134% as of yearend 2014.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
in EUR million
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Core revenues
Operating income
Operating expenses
Total risk costs
Net profit

Q4
2014
186.8
43.9
230.7
219.5
(124.1)
(22.2)
69.6

Q3
2014
179.6
46.8
226.4
237.1
(124.5)
(14.7)
88.5

Q2
2014
172.5
51.9
224.4
247.7
(123.6)
(17.9)
95.1

Q1
2014
153.0
55.1
208.1
235.6
(127.0)
(19.6)
80.0

Q4
2013
161.1
47.3
208.4
317.8
(215.1)
(27.8)
73.3

(figures annualized)
Return on equity
Return on tangible equity
Return on risk-weighted assets
Return on total assets
Net interest margin
Business net interest margin
Cost-income ratio
Risk costs / loans and receivables

11.7%
12.2%
1.64%
0.80%
2.15%
2.41%
56.5%
0.35%

15.3%
16.1%
2.09%
1.02%
2.07%
2.35%
52.5%
0.23%

17.0%
18.2%
2.25%
1.10%
2.00%
2.30%
49.9%
0.28%

15.0%
16.1%
1.94%
0.90%
1.73%
2.19%
53.9%
0.29%

14.7%
15.9%
1.76%
0.80%
1.77%
2.15%
67.7%
0.41%

Note: For details on definitions and calculation methodology, please refer to the section entitled “Definitions” on page 49.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
RETAIL BANKING AND SMALL BUSINESS
Strategy
Our Retail Banking and Small Business segment services
1.6 million clients in the Austrian market and covers our
retail banking services provided through our branch
partnership with Österreichische Post AG (Austrian Post)
servicing our Austrian private and small business clients,
our online and mobile sales channels supported by our
outbound customer care center, our direct bank easybank
and BAWAG P.S.K. Leasing.
In 2014, we continued to be the leading Austrian multichannel retail bank, with innovative and transparent
products delivered through our various sales channels. We
further developed our products and services to grow our
asset and liability volumes and to make our products even
more convenient for our clients. One example in this
context is the introduction of SmartCash. This functionality
offers our clients the possibility to withdraw high cash
amounts from our self-service terminals without a debit
card. We simplified our processes – both our sales and our
operating processes – to increase our cost efficiency.
Finally, we further invested in the development of our
online and mobile offerings to meet our clients' increasing
demand for digital transactions and services. Our goal is to
be the number one multi-channel retail bank in Austria,
offering simple, fair and transparent products and services
through our various physical and digital channels.

2014 Business Review
Retail Banking and Small Business reported a net profit of
EUR 156.9 million for 2014, more than double the net
profit of EUR 77.2 million in 2013. This strong growth was
driven by a higher operating income of EUR 561.9 million
(up 6.4% versus 2013), while operating expenses were
managed down to EUR 363.5 million (down 15.0% versus
2013).
The strong financial development of the segment is the
result of the continued focus on our main value drivers – in
particular:
 Growth in profitable asset volumes with a primary focus
on consumer lending and housing loans (i.e. mortgages)
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 Stable funding from customer deposits with an
optimized liability cost structure and focus on current
accounts and daily savings cards
 A continued shift of transactions to digital channels
which positively impacts sales force productivity in our
branches
 Focus on growing sales of investment and insurance
products, driving our fee income
Growth in profitable asset volumes
We saw solid net asset growth of EUR 190 million, or
13.0%, in consumer loans to EUR 1.6 billion in 2014.
During 2014, we increased our market share to around
9.0% (compared to 8.0% as of 31 December 2013) while
holding new business margins stable and risk costs at a
moderate level. Our efforts to be the leading retail bank in
Austria were confirmed through our market share gain well
above our stated goal of 8.5%. All this was possible in an
environment of decreasing client demand, with total market
volume down 5.4% year-over-year.
The success of our consumer loan product is driven in
large part by enhanced operational efficiency and brand
awareness. We improved our time-to-yes to less than 15
minutes due to an automated electronic process and
higher product awareness through very successful mass
media advertising campaigns. As an example, our
consumer credit advertising campaign was awarded a
GOLDEN EFFIE by the IAA (International Advertising
Association) for being one of the most effective media
campaigns in Austria.
We also continued to develop new product features and
services for our consumer loan products. We launched an
online consumer loan that allows existing as well as new
customers to complete the credit application process
online. By doing so, we are among the first movers across
Austrian banks in terms of direct lending through the
internet. This is complemented with offering customers
flexible, easy-to-understand and competitively priced
products.
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Along with consumer loans we focused on growing our
profitable housing loan portfolio, resulting in a total market
share of 4.9% at the end of 2014 (compared to 4.7% at
the end of 2013). The total housing loan market in Austria
grew by around 3.2% in 2014. In a very price-competitive
environment, we focused on risk-adjusted margins. Overall,
the volume of our EUR-denominated housing loans grew by
16.6%, or EUR 420 million, to EUR 2.9 billion in 2014 with
stable margins and risk costs. Housing loans denominated
in foreign currency (predominantly CHF), which represent
a legacy non-core portfolio of BAWAG P.S.K. originated
mainly in the ten years prior to 2009, decreased by 6.5%,
or EUR 100 million, to EUR 1.5 billion.
Overall our non-core assets, which also include small
business, social housing loans and non-vehicle leasing,
decreased by a total of approximately EUR 550 million.
Retail Asset Volume Development
9.63 bn

9.53 bn
22%

25%

10%
18%
47%

9.58 bn
20%

10%

10%

18%

17%

50%

53%

Dec 2013

Jun 2014

Dec 2014

Others
Social housing

Stable funding from customer deposits with an optimized
liability cost structure
One of our main focuses in 2014 was to maintain our
stable funding from customer deposits while optimizing the
cost of deposits. We adjusted our pricing throughout the
year in response to market changes and ECB actions.
The repricing measures resulted in a decreasing average
external rate on retail deposits of 0.50% as of 31 December
2014, which was 27 basis points lower versus the
beginning of the year. The overall decline was driven by
both pricing adjustments of fixed-term deposits – standing
at 1.29% at year-end 2014 compared to 1.61% at the
beginning of the year – as well as repricing of variable-rate
savings products – standing at 0.28% at year-end 2014
versus 0.39% at the beginning of the year.
In addition to repricing measures, we continued the shift
from legacy fixed-term deposits (with higher funding costs
and limited digital capabilities) to both variable-rate savings
cards and current accounts. This shift into savings cards
and current accounts provides customers with more
flexible, digital and easy-to-use products that are core to
the funding of the Bank. This approach resulted in an
increased share of 79% of variable-rate savings products in
total customer deposits at year-end (compared to 70%
beginning of the year).
Overall, our customer deposits decreased as we actively
managed the outflow of these fixed-rated non-core
products (i.e. approximately 90% of these customers were
retained and cross-sold into other products). We ended the
year at EUR 18.8 billion of retail deposits, in line with
expectations.

Small business
Consumer loans, housing loans, consumer leasing vehicles
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Retail Customer Deposit Volume Development
19.56 bn
30%
1.61%

18.84 bn
25%
1.39%

75%

70%

18.75 bn
21%

79%

1.29%

0.77%
0.61%
0.39%

0.35%

Dec 2013

Jun 2014

0.50%
0.28%
Dec 2014

fixed-rate term deposits

external interest rate fixed

variable-rate savings

blended external interest rate

received the highest “Net Promoter Score” in the history of
the FMVÖ Recommender Award. Furthermore, during the
fourth quarter easybank received the online banking award
for the best banking website from PASS-Consulting Group.
Focus on shift of transactions to digital channels and
improving sales productivity in branches
We currently operate more than 480 joint outlets together
with our partner, Österreichische Post AG (Austrian Post),
throughout Austria. We invested heavily into both the redesign and modernization of the equipment in our
branches. This included the roll-out of self-service
terminals, integrating the Small Business units into the
branch organization and setting up new sales units focused
on digital channels.

external interest rate variable

easybank
easybank, the 100% direct banking subsidiary of BAWAG
P.S.K., once again reported strong growth in 2014,
increasing the number of accounts by 10%, or over
47,000. easybank celebrated reaching the milestone of
500,000 accounts in October and reached 507,000 client
accounts at the end of the year, compared to 460,000 at
the end of 2013. easybank continued to grow deposits to
EUR 2.9 billion by year-end 2014, versus EUR 2.7 billion at
year-end 2013, representing an increase of over 7%.
In 2014, easybank drove an initiative to push the sale of its
online loan products, resulting in 60% asset volume
growth. In the third quarter, easybank launched a new
product "easy kredit," which was the basis for our direct
lending efforts and very well received by our customers. In
2013, easybank entered into a strategic partnership with
Shell to equip petrol stations with integrated cash
management terminals and product shelves where
customers can withdraw cash while cash handling
processes are streamlined. These systems were
successfully rolled out to more than 125 petrol stations
during 2014.
easybank's core strategy is based on the strong client
orientation. This is reiterated through the numerous awards
the bank wins. For the fourth year in a row, easybank won
the yearly Recommender Award of the FMVÖ (“FinanzMarketing-Verband-Österreich”) for Austrian banks. The
award is based on customer feedback for which easybank
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On the back of these investments, we placed a strong focus
in 2014 on optimizing services and sales processes, thus
driving sales productivity and creating an improved
customer experience.
One of our main initiatives was the continued shift of
transactions to online and self-service channels, thus
driving both our efficiency while also enhancing the
customer experience (e.g. reducing waiting times in
branches). The success of these initiatives is reflected by
the constant increase of digital payment transactions; in
2014, 83% of all transactions were executed via online and
self-service channels, versus 79% in 2013.
We also continued to enhance our website and eBanking
functionalities. Our eBanking is already used by 43% of our
current account clients, while our website attracts 3 million
visitors every month. The majority of online visitors still uses
our website for information gathering purposes but we are
seeing a positive trend of clients shifting to purchasing
products online. Because of this, we heavily invested in our
online sales capabilities to ensure we capture this customer
flow and launched new online consumer loan and savings
products.
The growing usage of our digital channels enables our sales
employees in the branches to put a stronger focus on
cross-selling existing customers and capturing new
customers. For this purpose, we established different roles
in our sales organization. Our Account Managers focus on
advising existing customers, while our Frequency Managers
focus on attracting new clients out of the approximately 50
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million non-bank customer visits we generate through our
joint branch network every year.
Payment Transactions per Channel
57%

59%

22%

21%

60%

23%

23%

18%

17%

Dec 2013

Jun 2014

Dec 2014

online

During the fourth quarter, we further strengthened our
position in investment products through the long-term
partnership with AMUNDI, a world-class asset manager.
AMUNDI acquired BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST, the wholly
owned asset management subsidiary of BAWAG P.S.K., and
will provide us with attractive investment products for our
customers in the future.
Besides marketing and product activities in the fourth
quarter, we put a strong emphasis on the consistent roll-out
of a new advisory sales process throughout the entire
network – also supported by our new front-end advisory IT
system GATE. This systematic approach ensures both
consistent service and quality across our entire sales
network while also increasing sales productivity. For
instance, GATE delivers all relevant client information to our
advisors on demand (“360° client view”) and guides them
through a systematic advisory process (via different product
decision trees).

self-service
over the counter

Outlook 2015
Growing sales in investment and insurance products
In 2014, we put a strong focus on the sale of feegenerating products – such as funds and insurance
products – and positioned these products as an attractive
alternative to low-yielding fixed-term deposits and bonds.
This shift towards investment products has been supported
by a series of measures related to the “ErtragsBox” and
“VorsorgeBox”. Our “ErtragsBox” combines our offering of
fund products for the medium-term investment horizon and
was streamlined to enhance the advisory process to better
meet our clients’ needs. The “VorsorgeBox” (focusing on
life insurance products for the long-term horizon) was also
revamped to better cater towards personal pension
planning. Our sales activities were supported by the
marketing campaigns “Konzept: Ertrag” and “VorsorgeBox
Österreich.” All of these measures led to an increase of net
fund sales by over 22% versus the prior year and was
accomplished against an overall market growth rate of 2%
in 2014.

In 2015, we expect growing competition in the Austrian
retail banking market – both from established retail banks
as well as from direct banks and specialized companies
offering select products and services as well as new
entrants to the market from outside the financial industry.
In this environment, we are well positioned to meet our
client needs through our comprehensive multi-channel
offering, access to the largest, centrally-managed banking
network with more than 480 branches, as well as 24/7
availability through state-of-the-art digital channels. We
expect to continue our strong performance in 2015 with a
key focus on the same core value drivers: growth in
profitable asset volumes, stable retail funding at optimized
cost, continued shift to digital channels and increased cost
efficiency and sales productivity. We will continue to
establish ourselves as the number one multi-channel retail
bank in Austria offering simple, transparent and easy-to-use
products and services through our various physical and
digital channels.
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Financial Results
Income metrics
(in EUR million)
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Core revenues
Gains and losses on financial instruments
Other operating income and expenses
Operating income
Operating expenses
Total risk costs
Profit before tax (= net profit)

Key ratios
Return on equity
Return on risk-weighted assets
Net interest margin
Cost-income ratio
Risk costs / loans and receivables
NPL ratio

2014

2013

398.0
159.8
557.8
0.8
3.3
561.9
(363.5)
(41.5)
156.9

343.6
147.1
490.7
35.0
2.6
528.3
(427.6)
(23.5)
77.2

2014

2013

35.3%
4.81%
4.17%
64.7%
0.44%
3.22%

17.2%
1.81%
3.56%
80.9%
0.25%
3.23%

2014

2013

9,579
3,420
18,746

9,525
3,102
19,559

Business volumes
(in EUR million)
Assets
Risk-weighted assets
Customer deposits
The Retail and Small Business segment improved its core
revenues from EUR 490.7 in 2013 to EUR 557.8 million in
2014, which represents an increase of 13.7%. The strong
performance was driven by higher net interest income due
to liability optimization efforts (+15.8% versus 2013) and
improved net fee and commission income (+8.6%). The
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Change
(%)
15.8
8.6
13.7
(97.7)
26.9
6.4
(15.0)
76.6
>100

Q4
2014
103.3
34.3
137.6
0.0
1.0
138.6
(96.3)
(9.5)
32.8

Q4
2013
89.7
32.7
122.3
(0.5)
1.6
123.4
(112.8)
4.4
15.0

Change
(%)
15.2
4.9
12.5
100
(37.5)
12.3
(14.6)
–
>100

Change
(pts)
18.1
3.00
0.61
(16.2)
0.19
(0.01)

Q4
2014
26.5%
3.74%
4.30%
69.5%
0.40%
3.22%

Q4
2013
15.6%
1.86%
3.77%
91.4%
(0.19)%
3.23%

Change
(pts)
10.9
1.88
0.53
(21.9)
0.59
(0.01)

Change
(%)
0.6
10.3
(4.2)

continued operating efficiency improvements had a positive
effect of 15% on operating expenses compared to 2013.
Overall, the segment contributed EUR 156.9 million to the
Bank’s net profit in 2014, more than doubling the net profit
achieved in 2013.
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CORPORATE LENDING AND INVESTMENTS
Strategy
Corporate Lending and Investments includes our Austrian
corporate and public sector business as well as our
international corporate, real estate, portfolio lending and
investment activities.

impacted by this FX situation and do not expect a material
increase in risk in these limited situations.

Business Review 2014
Austrian Corporate Business

We continued to focus on our business solution partner
concept to service our Austrian corporate and public sector
clients according to their needs with the full range of
financing, investment and payment servicing products
fulfilled by a dedicated team of sales professionals across
the country. Our focus in Austria continues to be on
maintaining and acquiring sustainable relationships while
holding strong pricing discipline on our credit products
despite the competitive landscape. Our international
lending and investment strategy remains primarily focused
on stronger Western European countries, such as
Germany, the UK and France as well as the United States
(~70% of total portfolio). We maintain a balance of
investments in corporate debt instruments from more
defensive industries and real estate and portfolio lending
where cash flow and collateral coverage are strong. We
continued to improve our overall results in 2014,
demonstrated by an increase in gross asset margins and
net interest margins in each of our business lines
compared to 2013. Very low levels of impairments
supported the successful execution of our strategy.
At the same time, we have further managed down non-core
legacy loan assets from CEE countries as well as
underperforming assets within Austria, which were
characterized by low return and riskier geographic
exposures or were in business lines in which BAWAG P.S.K.
had limited competitive advantage. We achieved a further
asset reduction of EUR 0.9 billion (after EUR 1.0 billion in
2013) without material negative impact. The remaining
corporate loan exposure to CEE countries is below 0.5% of
the balance sheet total. Non-performing loans to CEE are
below EUR 20 million with strong collateral coverage.
Based on current appraisals, the NPLs are nearly fully
covered.
Less than 4% (~EUR 550 million) of the total assets of the
segment are denominated in CHF, mainly with Austrian
clients and thereof approximately 60% with Austrian
municipalities. We are working closely with our customers

Overall corporate and public sector loan demand in Austria
was muted in 2014 resulting from several factors including
flat domestic output, lower corporate investment due to
concerns arising from Eastern Europe and Russia as well
as other macro risks across Europe. However, positive
developments in credit performance in the market and our
portfolio continued as companies prudently managed debt
levels and liquidity despite operating headwinds. During the
year, our business solution teams in Austria continued to
elevate our strong client relationships across financing
products as well as payments and cash management
services, while striving to maintain and increase strong risk
adjusted pricing for the Bank.
New business volume of EUR 700 million was deployed for
large Austrian corporates in 2014 (up from EUR 600
million in 2013) despite the flat to slight decline in overall
market loan volumes. Overall market share decreased
slightly due to the proactive refinancing of customers who
could not meet minimum profitability requirements as well
as redemptions of low-earning public sector transactions.
Despite the competitive market, we were able to slightly
increase blended asset margins across the Austrian
corporate portfolio as a result of non-core deleveraging and
repricing activities. Further, blended margins on new loans
were higher in 2014 than in 2013.
Total commission income was lower by EUR 9 million,
arising from lower payments volumes from non-core
customers, certain one-off items in 2013 and overall
competition. However, payment transactions with our core
client base were basically unchanged year over year.
International Business
We continued to focus on our loan origination and
investment opportunities predominantly in select developed
Western countries.
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Our international corporate business reported an
investment volume of EUR 2.0 billion compared to
redemptions of EUR 0.8 billion in 2014, leading to a total
portfolio volume of EUR 3.6 billion at year-end 2014.
Repricing and refinancing continued as companies took
advantage of the low interest rates and strong market
conditions. Our new business volume primarily reflects an
increase in investment grade loans (combined with
selective security purchases) with a general focus on more
defensive industries. Overall blended net leverage of the
companies in our corporate portfolio was <4.0x and for the
tranches BAWAG P.S.K. invested in <3.0x at year-end
2014.

professionals with greater proximity to key relationships for
sourcing additional corporate, real estate and portfolio
financing opportunities.
We believe the results of the Asset Quality Review provided
strong validation to the conservative nature of our
international lending activities. 100% of the portfolio data
was delivered to the ECB, and no single transaction was
flagged with an issue during the review. Further, we had no
impairments in the portfolio and there are no critical “watch
list” exposures as of year-end 2014.

Outlook 2015
Our international real estate financing operations funded
new business of EUR 1.6 billion in 2014, leading to a
portfolio increase to EUR 2.2 billion. Transaction
diversification continues across our commercial real estate
lending business on a geographic, asset and industry basis.
These transactions continue to be focused primarily on
traditional real estate financing transactions with attractive
LTVs, strong cash flow, shorter weighted expected
maturities and solid covenant characteristics. Overall
portfolio performance and credit trends remain solid with
some shortening of duration as loan amortizations increase
ahead of original projections. We have also been active in
portfolio financing transactions where low loan-to-value
(LTV) / low loan-to-cost (LTC) positions against a more
diversified portfolio of cash generating real estate assets.
The portfolio has strong collateral coverage characteristics
(average LTV of 60%), provides strong cash flows (average
debt yield of >10%) and is structured to perform well even
in stressed market conditions, offset by short average
durations.
In October, BAWAG P.S.K opened a branch office in
London (operational from November) in order to locate
many of our international loan and bond origination
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We plan for an Austrian market that will remain quite
competitive with continued low loan demand and
compressed margins. However, we expect that recent
volatility and lower profitability in the CEE region for other
Austrian banks may actually result in greater pricing
discipline in Austria over an intermediate timeframe as well
as opportunities for us to capture new client relationships.
Further, we will continue our strategy of deleveraging our
non-core exposures while supporting our core customers
with more simplified products, services and advice.
In the international business, we see a solid pipeline of
diversified transactions for 2015 and expect selective
growth for both international corporate and real estate
portfolios. We expect slightly lower overall margins during
2015, with competition across Europe increasing for more
defensive, high quality corporate and real estate
transactions. Our international business will benefit from
our new London office and will continue to provide both
stable earnings and geographic diversification focused on
Western countries with stable economies and governments
as well as solid growth prospects.
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Financial Results
Income metrics
(in EUR million)
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Core revenues
Gains and losses on financial instruments
Other operating income and expenses
Operating income
Operating expenses
Total risk costs
Profit before tax (= net profit)

Key ratios
Return on equity
Return on risk-weighted assets
Net interest margin
Cost-income ratio
Risk costs / loans and receivables
NPL ratio
Business volumes
(in EUR million)
Assets
Risk-weighted assets
Customer deposits (incl. other refinancing)

2014

2013

212.6
42.4
255.0
3.4
0.0
258.4
(80.9)
(34.5)
143.0

200.6
51.5
252.1
10.1
0.0
262.3
(91.9)
(53.9)
116.5

2014

2013

14.4%
1.95%
1.59%
31.3%
0.28%
1.15%

13.6%
1.47%
1.43%
35.0%
0.43%
2.86%

2014

2013

13,885
7,643
3,230

12,938
6,993
3,289

Core revenues in 2014 amounted to EUR 255.0 million
compared to EUR 252.1 million in 2013, representing
stable performance in the segment. Deleveraging of noncore assets and reallocation of capital to more profitable
and capital-efficient assets resulted in an increase of net
interest income by 6.0% compared to the previous year.
Net fee and commission income fell from EUR 51.5 million
to EUR 42.4 million. Improved operating efficiency resulted
in a 12.0% decrease in the cost base.

Change
(%)
6.0
(17.7)
1.2
(66.3)
–
(1.5)
(12.0)
(36.0)
22.7

Q4
2014
60.9
10.8
71.7
0.2
0.0
71.9
(22.7)
(13.6)
35.6

Q4
2013
50.7
12.8
63.5
2.2
(0.1)
65.6
(22.9)
(11.6)
31.2

Change
(%)
20.1
(15.6)
12.9
(90.9)
100
9.6
(0.9)
17.2
14.1

Change
(pts)
0.8
0.48
0.16
(3.7)
(0.15)
(1.71)

Q4
2014
12.9%
1.82%
1.74%
31.6%
0.41%
1.15%

Q4
2013
14.2%
1.70%
1.51%
34.9%
0.38%
2.86%

Change
(pts)
(1.3)
0.12
0.23
(3.3)
0.03
(1.71)

Change
(%)
7.3
9.3
(1.8)

Risk costs were EUR 34.5 million, a decrease of 36% from
2013. An NPL ratio of 1.15% reflected positive impacts
from our de-risking actions. The segment contributed EUR
143.0 million to the Bank’s net profit compared to EUR
116.5 million in 2013.
Continued growth in core business areas is reflected in an
increase in assets of more than EUR 900 million versus
year-end 2013.
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TREASURY SERVICES AND MARKETS
2014 Business Review

continued portfolio rebalancing between long-term
investment in high-quality securities while still maintaining
our available-for-sale portfolio to preserve the flexibility of
redeployment in other customer loans or receivables, or
other balance sheet management activities.

Treasury Services and Markets acts as a service center for
the Bank’s customers, subsidiaries and partners through
market execution as well as selective investment activities.
Among the key responsibilities of Treasury Services and
Markets is the management of the Bank’s liquidity from the
core funding franchise in its available-for-sale and held-tomaturity portfolios as well as certain hedging positions. The
investment strategy continues to focus on investment grade
securities predominantly representing unsecured and
secured bonds of financial institutions in core Europe and
the United States, select sovereign bond exposures and
high-quality CLOs (rated AA or higher) in order to maintain
solid diversification.
During 2014, Treasury Services and Markets increased
investment and designation in held-to-maturity securities to
EUR 1.9 billion as of 31 December 2014, while at the same
time available-for-sale securities and fair value positions were
reduced to EUR 2.6 billion. This resulted from our

As of 31 December 2014, Treasury Services and Markets
managed a total investment portfolio of EUR 5.5 billion.
The portfolio’s average maturity was 3.7 years, comprised
100% of investment grade-rated securities, of which 85%
were rated in the single A category or higher. Exposure to
CEE represented less than 5% of the portfolio and was
limited to selected bonds, with 95% rated in the single A
equivalent category or better. The portfolio had no direct
exposure to Russia, Hungary or South-Eastern Europe as of
31 December 2014. Exposure in the European periphery
continues to be moderate and comprises shorter dated,
liquid bonds of well-known issuers. This overall
composition reflects the Bank’s strategy to maintain a high
credit quality, shorter duration and strong liquidity in the
securities portfolio in order to balance the goals of
generating incremental net interest income while also
minimizing fair value volatility.

Financial Results
Income metrics
(in EUR million)
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Core revenues
Gains and losses on financial instruments
Other operating income and expenses
Operating income
Operating expenses
Total risk costs
Profit before tax (= net profit)

Key ratios
Return on equity
Return on risk-weighted assets
Net interest margin
Cost-income ratio
Business volumes
(in EUR million)
Assets
Risk-weighted assets
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2014

2013

52.6
0.0
52.6
24.8
0.0
77.4
(21.6)
0.0
55.8

49.6
0.0
49.6
38.8
0.0
88.4
(35.6)
0.0
52.8

2014

2013

22.7%
3.12%
0.97%
27.9%

31.8%
3.46%
0.95%
40.3%

2014

2013

5,755
2,172

5,124
1,407

Change
(%)
6.0
–
6.0
(36.1)
–
(12.4)
(39.3)
–
5.7

Q4
2014
13.1
0.0
13.1
3.5
0.0
16.6
(5.4)
0.0
11.2

Q4
2013
11.3
(0.5)
10.8
28.5
0.0
39.3
(8.3)
0.0
31.1

Change
(%)
15.9
100
21.3
(87.7)
–
(57.8)
(34.9)
–
(64.0)

Change
(pts)
(9.1)
(0.34)
0.02
(12.4)

Q4
2014
15.4%
2.17%
0.90%
32.5%

Q4
2013
72.7%
8.74%
0.86%
21.1%

Change
(pts)
(57.3)
(6.57)
0.04
11.4

Change
(%)
12.3
54.4
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weightings of financials and selective asset deployments.
Higher operating efficiency had a positive effect of EUR
14.0 million on the cost base and the total net profit of the
segment increased by 5.7% compared to last year.

Core revenues increased to EUR 52.6 million in 2014, up
from EUR 49.6 million in 2013. Selective new investments
and strategic sales supported the segment’s strong
performance. Risk-weighted assets have increased since
year-end 2013, driven by the CRR impact on the risk

CORPORATE CENTER
2014 Review
The Corporate Center contains central functions such as Risk,
Legal and the Group Asset-Liability Management activities.
The liquidity reserve of the Bank and positive market values

from derivatives represent the largest portion of total assets,
while own issues represent the majority of the liabilities. In
addition to the bank levy, all restructuring expenses, taxrelated expenses and other one-off items are included in this
segment.

Financial Results
Income metrics
(in EUR million)
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Core revenues
Gains and losses on financial instruments
Other operating income and expenses
Operating income
Operating expenses
Total risk costs
Bank levy
Share of the profit or loss of associates accounted for
using the equity method
Profit/loss before tax
Net profit/loss
Volumes
(in EUR million)
Liquidity reserve and other assets
Risk-weighted assets
Own issues, equity and other liabilities
The segment shows a balanced performance with EUR
24.3 million of core revenues in 2014 compared to minus
EUR 24.2 million in 2013. Further deleveraging and
reduction of the Corporate Center has led to a 38.4%
reduction of assets since year-end primarily related to

2014

2013

28.8
(4.5)
24.3
6.8
11.0
42.1
(33.2)
1.6
(24.6)

(13.7)
(10.5)
(24.2)
132.2
47.0
155.0
(125.7)
(20.9)
(25.3)

0.9

(0.9)

(13.2)
(22.7)

(17.7)
(17.4)

2014

2013

5,432
3,557
12,675

8,815
4,499
13,106

Change
(%)
–
57.1
–
(94.9)
(76.6)
(72.8)
(73.6)
–
(2.8)
–
25.4
(30.5)

Q4
2014
9.5
(1.2)
8.3
(16.5)
0.7
(7.5)
0.4
0.8
(6.2)
0.5
(12.0)
(10.0)

Q4
2013
9.4
2.3
11.7
33.5
44.3
89.5
(71.2)
(20.6)
(6.3)

Change
(%)
1.1
–
(29.1)
–
(98.4)
–
–
–
(1.6)

1.0

50.0

(7.6)
(3.8)

(57.9)
>(100)

Change
(%)
(38.4)
(20.9)
(3.3)

excess liquidity invested in money market positions. In
terms of risk-weighted assets, about 45% (EUR 1.6 billion)
of the total EUR 3.6 billion relate to operational risk
captured in the Corporate Center.
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With respect to the explanations on financial and legal risks
at BAWAG P.S.K. as well as the goals and methods of risk

management, please refer to the information in the Notes
section.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
INTRODUCTION
The designation “internal control system” refers to all
processes designed by management and executed within
the Bank to facilitate the monitoring and control of
 the effectiveness and efficiency of its operating activities
(including protecting assets against losses resulting from
damages or misconduct);
 the reliability of the financial reports; and
 the Bank’s compliance with material legal regulations to
which it is subject.
The risk management system covers all processes that
serve to identify, analyze and measure risks and that serve
to determine and implement appropriate measures that will
ensure that the Bank can still reach its objectives when
risks are incurred.

According to the internationally recognized COSO framework for the design of risk management systems, the
internal control system is one part of an organization-wide
risk management system. Other aspects include the
management and monitoring of risks that can affect the
correctness and reliability of the accounting records.
The Bank’s management is responsible for the
fundamental design, implementation and ongoing
adaptation and refinement of the internal control and risk
management system as well as for the alignment of these
systems and processes with the existing requirements in a
way that takes account of the Bank’s strategy, the scope of
its business and other relevant economic and
organizational aspects.

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Control Environment
The Code of Conduct that has been adopted by the Bank
and the fundamental values described in it apply to every
employee of the Group. The Code of Conduct creates a
climate rooted in focus on the customer, achievement,
mutual respect, teamwork and trust.
The Accounting division is responsible for maintaining the
Bank’s accounting records. Material subsidiaries also
operate their own accounting departments, which work in
close cooperation with the Accounting division. The primary
responsibilities of the Accounting division are preparing the
annual and Group annual and interim financial statements
as well as the annual financial statements of certain
42

subsidiaries, maintaining the financial and consolidated
accounts, managing taxes and regulatory reporting.
The Accounting division is responsible for setting directives
on all matters of accounting and exercises the authority to
ensure the application of uniform standards across the
entire Group. To support the operational implementation,
corporate guidelines were drawn up. This policy applies to
all consolidated subsidiaries. For all other holdings, the
adherence to these principles and standards is enforced
and implemented as far as possible.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Risk Assessment and Control Measures

access permission, and automatic and obligatory manual
control steps provided for in the process.

Our internal control and risk management systems contain
instructions and processes for the accounting workflows

Information and Communication
 to ensure the correct and appropriate documentation of
business activities, including the use of Group assets;
 to record all information required for the preparation of
the period-end financial statements; and
 to prevent unauthorized purchases or sales that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
The Accounting division is integrated into the Bank’s entire
organizational, structural and operational workflows.
Customer and transaction data is generally collected in the
market and operating units, and supplementary information
is entered by the risk units. The elements of this
information that are needed for the accounting records are
usually transferred automatically into the Bank’s electronic
accounting systems. In this, the Accounting division fulfills
a control and monitoring function to ensure that the
automatically transmitted data is handled properly in
accordance with the applicable accounting rules, and also
completes the various booking entry and other steps
needed to prepare the financial statements.
The accounting of BAWAG P.S.K. AG and the significant
domestic subsidiaries of the Company are contained in
SAP New GL. The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements under IFRS is done in SAP-ECCS, which
receives the values of the individual financial statements of
consolidated companies through interfaces. The
accounting and all upstream systems are protected by

A comprehensive report about the Statement of Financial
Position, the Profit or Loss Statement and other controlling
and risk data is submitted to the Supervisory Board at least
every quarter. Highly detailed reports about this information
are also submitted to the Managing Board on a regular
(monthly or more frequent) basis.

Monitoring
In order to limit or eliminate operational risks and control
deficiencies, risk identification is performed annually
through Risk Control Self Assessments (RCSA). If measures
to minimize risk are agreed upon, they are tracked
proactively by the Operational Risk department in regard to
implementation. Damage incidents are documented
separately, and are also used to identify necessary
improvements in the systems and in the monitoring and
control measures.
The Group’s Internal Audit division conducts regular
accounting system audits. The findings of these audits are
also used to make ongoing improvements to the internal
control and risk management systems as they pertain to
the accounting process.
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TRAINING
In order to emphasize the attractiveness of the bank clerk
apprenticeship training, the training program underwent a
“facelift” in 2014. As a result of the clearly structured and
attractive program, coupled with the youngsters’ eagerness
to learn, several apprentices graduated with excellent
results in 2014. The Tyrolean BAWAG P.S.K. branches were
again awarded “Bester Lehrbetrieb” (best teaching
operations).
Within the framework of the training and development offer
for all retail employees, the “Retail Academy,” the focus
was particularly on function-specific courses, the

establishment of “schooling branches” for practical training
supported by specially qualified retail colleagues as well as
the use of the first training branch in the training center of
BAWAG P.S.K. Here, client advisors can receive practical
training in a protected environment without customers.
The e-learning program was enhanced. Since 2014, these
new learning media have been helping the retail employees
to lean about financing as well as consulting and sales
topics. The e-learning course for GATE, the new sales
consulting program, obtained the prestigious Comenius
Award in the category “Vocational education and training.”

MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT
Particular emphasis in management development activities
in 2014 was put on the implementation of a modern and
sustainable management training program for managers in
the retail sales division. In addition to a quarterly employee
survey, the basis for the development and promotion of
managers is an externally supported “Potential Check” to
identify the strengths and areas for development. BAWAG
P.S.K provides a modular training program that accurately
addresses those competencies required in everyday
management. The program focuses on high practical
orientation, targeted development of social and leadership

skills, increased self-reflection and the use of alternative
learning methods.
In the central divisions of the Bank, the management
development program “LEAD – New Leaders” was
conducted twice in 2014. It supports new leaders in their
first year of fulfilling a management role.
Other managers and also teams of managers were
supported in the form of individual management coaching
or targeted (mainly change) management programs.

TALENT DEVELOPMENT AND SUCCESSION AND CAREER PLANNING
The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board approved
an overall concept for Talent and Succession Management
in the fourth quarter of 2014. The process focuses on the
identification and development of potential successors for
key functions and will reveal potential succession risks and
ways to address them. The rollout of talent identification
processes on all hierarchical levels is already ongoing.
The third round of the Bank’s Talent Program for the
central divisions, “forTalents,” started in September 2014.
A considerable number of former and current participants
were already promoted into responsible management or
expert functions during 2014.
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As a visible investment in the future of the Bank, the fourth
round of the trainee program “Start&Move” started in
September 2014. Young university graduates support
relevant business units and are broadly trained to be
prepared for taking over functions with high responsibility
within the next years.
“Top Team Vertrieb,” the talent development program for
potential branch managers in the retail sales division, was
conducted for the fifth time in 2014. It has turned out to be
the main and most promising source for staffing branch
manager positions.
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MBO PROCESS
The MbO (Management by Objectives) process has
established itself as a main management tool since its
implementation a few years ago.

During the rollout of the 2015 MbO process in December
2014, an adapted competence profile (so-called “BAWAG
P.S.K. Success Factors”) was introduced. It serves as the
basis for the assessment of behavior and is designed to
support the execution of BAWAG P.S.K.’s business strategy.

CAREER AND FAMILY AUDIT
In November 2013, the Federal Ministry of Science,
Research and Economy certified BAWAG P.S.K. as familyfriendly company. BAWAG P.S.K. is committed to promoting
a good balance between family and career. With this
certificate, BAWAG P.S.K. intends to sustainably create
awareness and commitment for family-friendly policies
among leaders and employees.
In December 2014, Human Resources facilitated a
meeting with leaders and employees of the Bank to

evaluate the current status of measures. Several of the
eighteen measures in five fields of action which need to be
implemented by 2016 were already successfully
implemented in 2014.
These measures include the improvement of flexible
working hours, the implementation of a framework for parttime leadership, the offer of free child care on bridging
days or two additional holidays for fathers following the
birth of a child (so-called daddy days).
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At BAWAG P.S.K., we strive to live up to our corporate social
responsibility (CSR). It is important for companies to strike
the right balance between economic, ecological and social
objectives. With examples such as the “New Chance”

Account, the continuation of the volunteer days and
measures for promoting women, BAWAG P.S.K. again
showed that sustainability is a cornerstone of the Bank’s
activities.

BAWAG P.S.K. IN THE COMMUNITY
Sponsoring is an essential part of BAWAG P.S.K.’s public
relations efforts. These activities also allow the Bank to
fulfill its social responsibility as a good corporate citizen.
BAWAG P.S.K. is not only a “part of life,” its initiatives also
show that “it's possible” to combine the financial needs of
our customers and a commitment to civic participation.
The focus on the areas of culture, education, social
services and crowdfunding (www.crowdfunding.at)

sharpens the Bank's image and positively differentiates it
from its competitors.
Additionally, every employee is eligible to spend up to two
working days per year volunteering for charitable
organizations and projects without having to use any of
their entitlement to paid holiday leave. This actively
promotes and rewards our employees’ personal
commitment and demonstrates its high value.

NEW CHANCE ACCOUNT
With the “New Chance” Account, the Bank has been
actively combating social exclusion since April 2009. It is
an account without an overdraft facility and corresponds to
the least expensive account package from BAWAG P.S.K.

As of December 2014, almost 28,000 customers were
already using this account – which has featured a debit
card since September 2012 that allows customers to use
cash dispensers and POS terminals.

PROMOTING WOMEN
With the women’s promotion program introduced in 2012,
BAWAG P.S.K. has taken another important step towards
ensuring equality between women and men.

information for employees before, during and after
parental leave

Fe-male Future Day
The program focuses on fostering awareness of the
importance of equality of opportunity – combined with
concrete goals:
 Financial equality between women and men for equal
performance
 Increasing the number of women in leadership and
expert positions
 Promoting a better balance between career and family
for women and men, especially the provision of targeted
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The BAWAG P.S.K. Women's Initiative hosts the "fe-male
Future Day" with a varied and worthwhile program for
employees, executives and external guests.
The day was dedicated to raising awareness about gender
equality and the question of women positioning in today's
society and how women can shape the future. The
participants were invited to exchange ideas on the
controversial topics.
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BAWAG P.S.K. Women’s Prize
The EUR 3,000 BAWAG P.S.K. Women’s Prize is awarded
annually in cooperation with a public or charitable
organization to recognize outstanding achievements by
women or special commitment to furthering women in
society. BAWAG P.S.K. aims to motivate women and
organizations to tackle challenging and innovative projects
with this award.

science, journalism and art,
social commitment,
intercultural understanding,
promoting equality of opportunity between women and
men, and
 creating awareness for the role of women in the
professional world.





In 2014, the prize was awarded to Andrea Brem, Managing
Director of “Wiener Frauenhäuser.”

The prize is awarded to women who set an outstanding
example for women on the basis of their achievements and
commitment, especially in the areas of:
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As BAWAG P.S.K. does not conduct any independent
research on a regular basis to discover new scientific or
technological findings, the Bank does not engage in any

research and development activities pursuant to section
243 UGB.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Please see the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements for information on key events after the end of
the reporting period.

OUTLOOK
2014 was a successful year for BAWAG P.S.K. We delivered
strong, record-breaking results and exceeded all our stated
goals.
We expect the Bank to continue this strength in 2015. We
do anticipate certain headwinds in 2015 that we have
planned for:

We are confident that we have positioned BAWAG P.S.K. to
successfully tackle these challenges in order to continue to
grow while maintaining a low risk focus based on our strong
capital ratios and funding base.
Our 2015 operating targets are as follows:
 Net profit >EUR 400 million and return on equity >14%

 Muted economic growth across Europe and Austria
translates into low loan demand and elevated risk costs
 Highly competitive banking landscape in combination
with new entrants to the market

 Net cost-out of 5-10% and cost-income ratio <50%
 NPL ratio of <2.5%
 Fully loaded CET1 ratio >12% and total capital >16%

 Increased regulatory and operational requirements for
banks
 A sustained low-interest rate environment putting
pressure on net interest margins
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 Fully loaded leverage ratio >6%
 Liquidity coverage ratio >100%
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DEFINITIONS

Business net interest margin
Common Equity Tier 1 capital
(CET1)
Common Equity Tier 1
capital ratio
Core revenues
Cost-income ratio
IFRS equity
IFRS tangible equity
Leverage ratio
Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR)
Net interest margin
Net profit
NPL ratio
Operating income
Operating profit
Return on equity
Return on risk-weighted assets
Return on tangible equity
Return on total assets
Risk-weighted assets

Risk costs / loans and
receivables
Total capital

Total capital ratio

Net interest income (excl. Corporate Center) / average total assets (excl. Corporate Center)
Based on IFRS CRR regulatory figures (BAWAG P.S.K. Group), excluding any
transitional capital (fully loaded), as of the current reporting date; for prior reporting
dates, please refer to the definitions in the respective annual and quarterly reports
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) / risk-weighted assets; the 2013 figure is a proxy
for fully loaded as CRR rules were not in place at year-end 2013
The total of net interest income and net fee and commission income
Operating expenses / operating income
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent; excl. participation capital and minorities
IFRS equity reduced by the carrying amount of intangible assets
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) / total exposure (calculation according to CRR)
Liquid assets / net liquidity outflows according to CRR
Net interest income / average total assets
Profit after tax attributable to owners of the parent
Non-performing loans / loans and receivables (including provisions)
The total of core revenues, gains and losses on financial instruments and other
operating income and expenses
Operating income less operating expenses and bank levy
Net profit / average IFRS equity
Net profit / average risk-weighted assets
Net profit / average IFRS tangible equity
Net profit / average total assets
Based on IFRS CRR regulatory figures (BAWAG P.S.K. Group) as of the current
reporting date; for prior reporting dates please refer to the definitions in the respective
annual and quarterly reports
Provisions and loan-loss provisions as well as impairment losses (total risk costs) /
average loans and receivables (including provisions)
Based on IFRS CRR regulatory figures (BAWAG P.S.K. Group), excluding any
transitional capital (fully loaded), as of the current reporting date; for prior reporting
dates please refer to the definitions in the respective annual and quarterly reports
Total capital / risk-weighted assets; the 2013 figure is a proxy for fully loaded as CRR
rules were not in place at year-end 2013
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CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
PROFIT OR LOSS STATEMENT
in EUR million
Interest income
Interest expense
Dividend income
Net interest income
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income
Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities
Other operating income and expenses
Operating expenses
Provisions and impairment losses
Share of the profit or loss of associates accounted for using the
equity method
Profit before tax
Income taxes
Profit after tax
Thereof attributable to non-controlling interests
Thereof attributable to owners of the parent
In accordance with IFRS, the item Other operating income
and expenses also includes the bank levy in the amount of
EUR 24.6 million. However, the Bank’s management sees
the bank levy as a non-operating expense. Accordingly, it is
shown in a separate expense line in the Group
Management Report.
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[Notes]

[2]

[3]
[4]
[5]
[6], [7]
[8]
[9]
[10]

2014
1,089.9
(407.9)
9.8
691.8
302.0
(104.2)
197.8
38.7
(10.4)
(499.2)
(74.4)
0.9
345.2
(8.8)
336.4
3.3
333.1

2013
1,112.4
(541.6)
9.4
580.2
288.8
(100.8)
188.0
207.4
24.4
(680.8)
(98.2)
(0.9)
220.1
1.7
221.8
(7.3)
229.1

Operating expenses include administrative expenses and
depreciation and amortization on tangible and intangible
non-current assets, which were shown in separate lines in
the previous year.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
in EUR million
Profit after tax
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign exchange differences
Available-for-sale reserve
Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity
method
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Total comprehensive income, net of tax
Thereof attributable to non-controlling interests
Thereof attributable to owners of the parent

2014
336.4

(66.8)
16.7
(50.1)

2013
221.8

(13.1)
3.3
(9.8)

0.0
9.4

(0.5)
(89.3)

1.5

(0.7)

(2.7)
8.2
294.5
3.3
291.2

27.7
(62.8)
149.2
3.2
146.0

The increase of the Available for sale reserve is mainly due
to positive market value changes of securities.

used to calculate social capital from 3.50% in the previous
year to 2.05% in the current year.

The actuarial losses in 2014 in the amount of EUR 66.8
million are largely due to the adjustment of the interest rate

For further details, please refer to Note 34 Equity.

55

BAWAG P.S.K. CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2014

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets
in EUR million
Cash reserves
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Financial assets held for trading
Loans and receivables
Customers
Securities
Credit institutions
Hedging derivatives
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Software and other intangible assets
Tax assets for current taxes
Tax assets for deferred taxes
Associates recognized at equity
Other assets
Assets in disposal groups
Total assets
The line item Property, plant and equipment was renamed
compared to the consolidated financial statements as of 31
December 2013 (Tangible non-current assets). The line
items Goodwill and Software and other intangible assets
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[Notes]
[11]
[12]
[13]
[14]
[15]
[16]

[33]
[19]
[20]
[20]
[21]
[51]
[22]
[32]

31.12.2014
684
450
3,833
2,042
1,163
25,280
21,779
1,983
1,518
546
84
1
102
7
243
37
111
68
34,651

31.12.2013
481
753
5,126
773
1,081
27,256
20,980
2,485
3,791
164
85
59
83
5
245
18
273
–
36,402

were shown under the line item Intangible non-current
assets in the consolidated financial statements as of 31
December 2013 and are also included in this item in Note
35 of this Consolidated Report.
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Total liabilities and equity
in EUR million
Total liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Customers
Issued bonds, subordinated and supplementary capital
Credit institutions
Valuation adjustment on interest rate risk hedged portfolios
Hedging derivatives
Provisions
Tax liabilities for current taxes
Tax liabilities for deferred taxes
Other obligations
Obligations in disposal groups
Total equity
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
Participation capital
Non-controlling interests
Total liabilities and equity

[Notes]

31.12.2014

31.12.2013

[23]
[24]
[25]

1,675
1,174
27,993
21,135
4,438
2,420
196
160
522
0
3
517
6
2,405
2,405
–
–
34,651

2,968
1,298
28,222
22,013
4,563
1,646
(2)
126
504
1
10
477
–
2,798
2,053
350
395
36,402

[33]
[29]
[30]
[31]
[32]
[34]
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

in EUR million
Balance as of 01.01.2013
Transactions with owners
Dividends non-controlling
interests
Owner's contribution
Redemption of participation
capital
Dividends
Total comprehensive income
Balance as of 31.12.2013 =
01.01.2014
Transactions with owners
Owner's contribution
Redemption of participation
capital
Dividends
Total comprehensive income
Balance as of 31.12.2014

AFS reserve
net of tax

Equity
Foreign
Actuarial attributable
exchange gains/losses
to the
differences net of tax
owners of
the parent

1,447.4
–

50.1
–

171.6
–

0.5
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

63.3

–

–

–

–

63.3

–

63.3

–

–

–

–

–

(200.0)

–

(200.0)

(51.2)
146.0

–
3.2

(51.2)
149.2

(200.0)

–
–

–
–

–
–

250.0

350.0

–
–

–
–

–
–
–
250.0

–
–
0.0

393.4 2,838.4
(1.3)
(1.3)
(1.3)

(1.3)

(51.2)
229.1

–
(72.8)

–
(0.5)

1,510.7

228.0

98.8

0.0

125.6
125.6

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

125.6
125.6

–

–

–

–

–

(350.0)

–

(350.0)

–
8.2
107.0

–
–
0.0

(64.6)
291.2
2,405.3

–
3.3
0.0

(64.6)
294.5
2,405.3

(350.0)

–
–
1,636.3

For further details, please refer to Note 34 Equity.

(64.6)
333.1
496.5

–
(9.8)

2,445.0
–

Equity
including
noncontrolling
interests

550.0
–

–

(24.6)
–

Noncontrolling
interests

250.0
–

1) Participation capital according to section 26b BWG.
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Retained
earnings
reserve

Capital
reserves

Subscribed Participation
capital
capital1)

(34.4)

–
(50.1)
(84.5)

2,403.1

395.3
(398.6)
–

2,798.4
(273.0)
125.6
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
in EUR million
I. Profit (after tax, before non-controlling interests)
Non-cash items included in the profit (loss) and reconciliation to net cash from
operating activities
Depreciation, amortization, impairment losses, write-ups
Changes in provisions
Changes in other non-cash items
Proceeds from the sale of financial investments, tangible non-current assets,
intangible non-current assets and subsidiaries
Other adjustments
Subtotal
Change in assets and liabilities arising from operating activities after corrections for
non-cash items
Loans and advances to customers and credit institutions
Other financial assets (not including investing activities)
Other assets
Deposits from customers and banks
Other financial liabilities (not including financing activities)
Other obligations
Interest receipts
Dividend receipts
Interest paid
II. Net cash from operating activities
Cash receipts from sales of
Financial investments
Tangible and intangible non-current assets
Cash paid for
Financial investments
Tangible and intangible non-current assets
Cash receipts from sales of subsidiaries
Other changes
III.Net cash used in investing activities
Capital contributions
Redemption of participation capital
Dividends paid
Issuance of subordinated liabilities (including those designated at fair value
through profit or loss)
Redemption of subordinated liabilities (including those designated at fair value
through profit or loss)
IV. Net cash from financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents at end of previous period
Net cash from operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash from financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

2014
336

2013
222

66
(39)
(127)

124
(2)
27

(11)

(187)

(582)
(357)

(408)
(224)

1,861
(291)
17
(35)
(1,119)
43
1,196
10
(590)
735

2,324
1,523
63
(1,931)
(2,920)
(28)
1,037
9
(651)
(798)

2,260
154

2,768
25

(2,556)
(47)
–
16
(173)
125
(350)
(65)

(1,906)
(47)
12
–
852
–
(200)
(53)

4

340

(73)

(141)

(359)
481
735
(173)
(359)
684

(54)
481
(798)
852
(54)
481
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The Cash Flow Statement provides information about the
current state and development of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents as of the reporting date. It shows inflows
and outflows of cash broken down by operational activities,
investing activities and financing activities. The amount of
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cash and cash equivalents reported comprises cash on
hand and balances at central banks. The Cash Flow
Statement is of low significance for BAWAG P.S.K. Group. It
is not a substitute for liquidity or financial planning and is
not used as a management tool.
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NOTES
KEY EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Asset Quality Review
The European Central Bank (ECB) conducted a
comprehensive assessment of the Euro area banking
system together with national competent authorities. The
comprehensive assessment consisted of an Asset Quality
Review (AQR) and a stress test to test the resilience of the
Bank’s balance sheets. The AQR, which started in
February 2014, was a detailed analysis of the Bank’s
portfolio. The objective of the AQR was to assess the
adequacy of provisioning, the appropriateness of collateral
valuations for credit exposures and to challenge the

valuations of complex instruments and high-risk assets on
the balance sheet. Our Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio
at year-end 2013 was 14.5%. The adjustment from our
AQR assessment was 21 basis points compared to the
Austrian average of 95 basis points and the European
average of 66 basis points. The AQR did not result in any
material impacts on the financial statements or the level of
regulatory capital required.
You can find further information on the results of the
Comprehensive Assessment of BAWAG P.S.K. on the
website of the ECB.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 | Accounting policies
BAWAG P.S.K. Bank für Arbeit und Wirtschaft und
Österreichische Postsparkasse Aktiengesellschaft (BAWAG
P.S.K. AG) is an Austrian bank, operating predominantly in
Austria with additional activities in selected international
markets. The registered office of the Bank is located at
Georg-Coch-Platz 2, 1018 Vienna.
The consolidated financial statements were prepared
applying section 59a BWG, according to Regulation (EC)
No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 19 July 2002, and in accordance with the
provisions of the standards (IFRS/IAS) published by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the
interpretations by the IFRS Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC/SIC) as applicable on the reporting date. All
standards contained in the International Financial
Reporting Standards published by the IASB and adopted
by the EU and therefore mandatory with respect to the
consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2014
were applied.
These consolidated financial statements for BAWAG P.S.K.
according to IFRS are based on the individual annual
financial statements for all fully consolidated Group
companies according to IFRS as of 31 December 2014. All
material associates are accounted for using the equity
method.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
according to IFRS requires that assumptions and estimates
are made about factors that have a material influence on
the Bank’s business operations. These assumptions are
regularly reviewed and adjusted whenever needed. Such
adjustments are taken into account in the current period
and also for future periods when the adjustment has longterm effects.
The recognition and measurement principles described
below have been applied uniformly with respect to all of the
financial years stated in these consolidated financial
statements.
We have maintained the accounting and valuation methods
that were applied in the consolidated financial statements
as of 31 December 2013.
The reporting currency is Euro. Unless indicated otherwise,
all figures are rounded to millions of Euros. The tables in
this report may contain rounding differences.
All monetary figures in foreign currencies are translated at
the middle exchange rate on the reporting date.
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Scope of Consolidation and Consolidation Principles
The scope of consolidation includes all direct and indirect
material equity investments of BAWAG P.S.K.
As of 31 December 2014, the consolidated financial
statements included 30 (2013: 43) fully consolidated
companies and 2 (2013: 1) companies that are accounted
for using the equity method. In the interest of materiality,
the criteria for inclusion are both the amount of an entity’s
assets and its relative contribution to the Group’s
consolidated profit. All non-consolidated subsidiaries had
only a minor influence on the Group’s assets, financial
position and the results of its operations. Note 49 List of
consolidated subsidiaries contains a list of all fully
consolidated subsidiaries and associates accounted for
using the equity method.
The carrying amount of the associates that are not
accounted for using the equity method totaled EUR 32 million (2013: EUR 47 million) on 31 December 2014.
Controlled companies with a carrying amount of EUR 18
million (2013: EUR 23 million) were not consolidated
because they did not have a material effect on the Group’s
assets, financial position or the results of its operations.
Further details on the scope of consolidation and major
changes in the Group’s holdings can be found in Note 49
and 50.
The acquisition method according to IFRS 3 is used for
capital consolidation. Under this method, the acquisition
costs for the entity in question must be compared with the
value of the net assets at the time of acquisition. The value
of the net assets is the fair value of all identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the time of
acquisition.
All intragroup receivables and payables, expenses, and
income and interim profits are eliminated unless they are
insignificant.
Capitalized goodwill in the amount of EUR 1 million (2013:
EUR 59 million) is recognized under Goodwill on the
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Statement of Financial Position. In accordance with IFRS 3
in conjunction with IAS 36 and IAS 38, the recognized
goodwill of all cash generating units (CGUs) is subject to
annual impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36.
Also, all equity investments were tested for indicators for a
sustained or material impairment. Impairment tests were
carried out if necessary due to the indicators.
All non-consolidated equity instruments are measured
according to IAS 39 and categorized as available-for-sale
financial assets.
Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognized on the date of
transaction. The assessment of an “active market” of a
given security is derived from a set of defined criteria.
Additionally, minimum requirements (e.g. issuance size,
exchange listing etc.), BAWAG P.S.K. uses market data
(e.g. quoted volumes, frequency of quotes) to determine
the liquidity and market depth of securities.
a) Held-to-Maturity Investments
This category includes all financial instruments with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity that are
intended to be held to maturity. If securities are assigned to
this category, BAWAG P.S.K. has the positive intention and
the ability to hold the instruments to maturity.
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost.
The recoverable amount of the asset is determined at the
end of every reporting period, and an impairment is
recognized if this amount is lower than the carrying
amount. The recoverable amount is calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows with the original
effective interest rate of the financial instrument. If this
impairment decreases in subsequent periods, a write-up is
recognized up to the amortized cost valid at that time.
Premiums and discounts on securities classified as held-tomaturity investments are recognized pro rata temporis via
the effective interest rate. Expenses and revenues were set
off against interest income from the same securities.
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b) Financial Assets and Liabilities Recognized at Fair Value
through Profit or Loss
Held for trading
This category covers financial assets and liabilities held for
trading purposes. These financial instruments are
recognized at their fair value. All derivatives in the trading
and banking book that are not part of a hedging transaction
are assigned to this category. Financial liabilities include
liabilities from derivative transactions, short positions and
repurchase agreements.
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Certain financial assets and liabilities that do not meet the
definition of trading assets and liabilities are designated at
fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option.
BAWAG P.S.K. exercised the fair value option in the
following cases:
 To avoid an accounting mismatch
- For fixed-income own issues, securities and loans
whose fair value on the date of acquisition has been
hedged with interest rate derivatives;
- Investment products whose fair value changes have
been hedged with derivatives
 Management on a fair value basis
- Certain securities and loans are managed on a fair
value basis by the Strategic Asset Liability Committee,
which also prepares decisions on the extent of the
open interest rate risk exposures. The Managing Board
is informed about these positions regularly.
 Presence of embedded derivatives
- Structured financial instruments with embedded
derivatives
c) Loans and Receivables
Receivables are measured on the Statement of Financial
Position at amortized cost inclusive of deferred interest
following deduction of impairment allowances.
Premiums and discounts are recognized pro rata temporis
via the effective interest rate. Expenses and revenues were
set off against interest income from the same loan.

BAWAG P.S.K. charges a processing fee when awarding a
loan to a customer. Processing fees are deferred over the
term of the loan and recognized in the net interest income
after deducting the directly attributable costs.
Please see the Loan Loss Provisions section for information
about the formation of provisions.
d) Available-for-Sale Financial Assets
This category covers financial assets which are not
classified as
 Loans and receivables;
 Held-to-maturity investments; or
 Financial assets recognized at fair value through profit or
loss.
In addition to the securities that BAWAG P.S.K. has
assigned to the category Available-for-sale financial assets,
this item also includes shares in non-consolidated
subsidiaries.
The Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value. Changes in fair value are recognized in other
comprehensive income (AFS reserve) until the asset is
sold, repaid or impaired. Impairments are recognized in the
Profit or Loss Statement under Provisions and impairment
losses – Impairment provisions for financial assets. BAWAG
P.S.K. continuously compares the nominal amount with the
carrying amount of the available for sale financial assets to
detect any possible impairments. Potential impairments are
reviewed and – in case of materiality – approved by the
responsible Risk Division. When the reasons for the
impairment of a debt instrument no longer apply, these
impairments are reversed through profit or loss up to the
amount of amortized cost. Any reversal of impairment for
equity instruments recognized at fair value is recognized
directly in other comprehensive income.
If a fair value for unlisted equity instruments cannot be
measured reliably, it is measured at cost less necessary
impairments. Impairments are not reversed.
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Debt instruments are reviewed individually for impairment if
objective indications of a loss (such as delayed payment)
are incurred after the date of initial recognition that would
lead to a reduction in the cash flow arising from them. An
impairment exists when the net present value of the
expected cash flows is lower than the carrying value of the
financial instrument concerned.
Equity instruments are written down if their fair value is
either significantly lower than their historic cost (more than
20%) or has been below historic cost for a considerable
period (at least nine months). All not publicly traded equity
investments are tested for impairment according to IAS
39.66, provided that a preliminary examination has not
ruled out impairment indicators.
Premiums and discounts are recognized pro rata temporis
via the effective interest rate. Expenses and revenues were
set off against interest income from the same securities.
e) Financial Liabilities
In accordance with IAS 39, financial liabilities
 not held for trading or
 designated as Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
are measured at amortized cost.

instrument on the reclassification date is the new amortized
cost of the instrument. The expected cash flows of the
financial instrument are estimated on the reclassification
date, and these estimates are used to calculate the new
effective interest rate of the instrument. If the expected
future cash flows of the reclassified instrument increase at
a later date as a result of a value improvement, the effect of
this increase is accounted for by adjusting the effective
interest rate and not by adjusting the carrying amount of
the instrument at the time that the estimates change. In the
event of a subsequent decrease in the expected future
cash flows, the instrument is subjected to an impairment
test and measured in accordance with the measurement
rules for the category loans and receivables.
When available-for-sale assets are reclassified into loans
and receivables, the unrealized profit or loss that has been
recognized in Other comprehensive income is distributed
over the remaining term of the instrument and recognized
as interest income or interest expense. Should the
instrument be discovered to be impaired at a later date, the
unrealized loss of the instrument that is recognized in Other
comprehensive income as of that date is recognized
immediately in the Profit or Loss Statement under
Provisions and impairment losses – Impairment provisions
for financial assets.
Details are presented in Note 16.

Reclassifications
Reclassification of Financial Assets into the Category
Loans and Receivables
Financial assets can be reclassified from the category
available-for-sale to the category of loans and receivables
when
 the financial asset meets the requirements for inclusion
in the category loans and receivables according to IAS
39 on the date of reclassification; and
 the entity has the ability and the management has the
intention on the reclassification date to hold the
reclassified assets for the foreseeable future.
Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value on the
reclassification date. The fair value of the financial
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Reclassification of Financial Assets into the Category Held-tomaturity Investments
Financial assets can be reclassified from the category
available-for-sale to the category of held-to-maturity
investments when the entity has the ability and the
management has the intention on the reclassification date
to hold the reclassified assets until maturity.
In addition, available-for-sale financial assets may be
reclassified to held-to-maturity investments after the twoyear retention period that is required if more than an
insignificant portion of the held-to-maturity investments is
sold or reclassified, has expired.
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Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value on the
reclassification date. The fair value of the financial
instrument on the reclassification date is the new amortized
cost of the instrument. The expected cash flows of the
financial instrument are estimated on the reclassification
date, and these estimates are used to calculate the new
effective interest rate of the instrument. If the expected
future cash flows of the reclassified instrument increase at
a later date as a result of a value improvement, the effect of
this increase is accounted for by adjusting the effective
interest rate and not by adjusting the carrying amount of
the instrument at the time that the estimates change. In the
event of a subsequent decrease in the expected future
cash flows, the instrument is subjected to an impairment
test and measured in accordance with the measurement
rules for the category held-to-maturity investments.

When an asset is reclassified as available-for-sale, it must
be remeasured at its fair value, and any difference between
its carrying amount and its fair value must be recognized in
Other comprehensive income (AFS reserve).

When available-for-sale assets are reclassified into held-tomaturity investments, the unrealized profit or loss that has
been recognized in Other comprehensive income is
distributed over the remaining term of the instrument and
recognized as interest income or interest expense. Should
the instrument be discovered to be impaired at a later date,
the unrealized loss of the instrument that is recognized in
Other comprehensive income as of that date is recognized
immediately in the Profit or Loss Statement under
Provisions and impairment losses – Impairment provisions
for financial assets.

At inception of the hedge relationship, the relationship
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, the
risk management objectives and the method used for
assessing hedge effectiveness are documented. Furthermore, BAWAG P.S.K. documents at the inception of the
hedge and on each reporting date whether the hedge is
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of the
hedged item and the hedging instrument attributable to the
hedged risk.

Hedge Accounting
In line with general regulations, derivatives are classified as
assets held for trading purposes or liabilities from trading
activities and are recognized at fair value. The valuation
result is shown in the line item Gains and losses on
financial assets and liabilities as gains (losses) on financial
assets and liabilities held for trading. If derivatives are used
to hedge risks of non-trading transactions, BAWAG P.S.K.
applies hedge accounting if the conditions according to IAS
39 are met.

BAWAG P.S.K. uses fair value hedge accounting for
effective hedging relationships that reduce market risk.

Details are presented in Note 14.
Micro Fair Value Hedge
Reclassification of Financial Assets into the Category
Available-for-Sale
IAS 39 and its interpretations state that financial
instruments that are classified as loans and receivables can
be reclassified as available-for-sale assets when the
financial instrument subsequent to its initial classification
becomes traded in an active market and therefore the
definition of loans and receivables is no longer met.

In a micro fair value hedge, a financial asset or financial
liability or a group of similar financial assets or financial
liabilities is hedged against changes in its fair value.
Changes in the value of the hedged item and the hedging
instrument are recognized in the Profit or Loss Statement in
the line item Gains and losses on financial assets and
liabilities in the same period.
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As soon as the hedging instrument is sold, exercised or
comes due, or when the eligibility requirements for hedge
accounting are no longer met, the hedging relationship is
no longer recognized on the Statement of Financial
Position.
Any accumulated changes in the value of the former
hedged item during the existence of the hedge relationship
are recognized through profit or loss distributed over the
remainder of the term.
For other types of fair value adjustments and whenever a
fair value hedged asset or liability is sold or otherwise
derecognized, any basis adjustments are included in the
calculation of the gain or loss on derecognition.
Portfolio Fair Value Hedge
BAWAG P.S.K. applies fair value hedge accounting for a
portfolio hedge of interest rate risk. In its accounts, the
Bank has identified sight deposits in Euros as a portfolio
that is to be protected against interest rate risks. These are
divided into time buckets in accordance with the expected
withdrawal and interest rate adjustment dates. BAWAG
P.S.K. determines an amount of liabilities from the
identified portfolio that corresponds to the amount to be
hedged as the underlying for the portfolio fair value hedge.
Additions and withdrawals are initially allocated to the nondesignated portion of the identified portfolio using the
bottom layer approach. For this, BAWAG P.S.K. applies the
EU carve-out for IAS 39, which allows sight deposits and
similar instruments to be designated as part of a hedging
relationship on the basis of the expected withdrawal and
due dates. The EU carve-out for IAS 39 also allows the
application of the bottom layer approach.
On the balance sheet, the changes in the value of the
underlying transactions that can be attributed to the
hedged risk are reported under the separate line item
Valuation adjustment on interest rate risk hedged portfolios.
Changes in the value of the underlying and the hedging
transaction are reported on the income statement in the
same period under Gains and losses on financial assets
and liabilities.
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Loan Loss Provisions
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred if:
 there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of a
loss event that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset and up to the reporting date (“a loss event”);
 the loss event had an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial
assets and
 a reliable estimate of the loss amount can be made.
The loan loss provisions cover provisions for loan defaults
or counterparty risks and are formed as individual and
general provisions on the basis of past experience. The
loan loss provisions from lending are netted off against the
corresponding receivables on the Statement of Financial
Position. Provisions for off-balance-sheet loans are reported
as provisions.
To allow management to determine whether a loss event
has occurred on an individual basis, all significant counterparty relationships are reviewed periodically. This
evaluation considers current information and events related
to the counterparty, such as the counterparty experiencing
significant financial difficulty or a breach of contract, for
example, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments.
The loan loss provision for significant individual counterparty risks is based on expected future recoveries in
accordance with the risk analysts’ estimates. Provisions for
counterparty risks that were not individually significant were
accounted for generally, on a percentage basis, with regard
to the amounts overdue and based on our historical loss
experience.
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The approval procedures for impairments and debt waivers
are described in the handbook on competencies and
authorizations. Receivables are derecognized in
coordination with the respective divisions when all attempts
to collect the debt have failed or when there is no intention
to actively continue the collection process.
A loan loss provision was accounted for on a portfolio basis
in accordance with IAS 39.AG89 for losses incurred but not
reported as of the reporting date. The portfolio loan loss
provision is recognized for on- and off-balance-sheet
receivables of the Group’s loan portfolio including securities
but excluding items recognized at fair value. The amount of
this provision is calculated on the basis of the regulatory
Expected Loss Model. The actual loss that has been
incurred is extrapolated from the expected loss, taking into
account the duration from occurrence to detection of the
loss (the loss identification period – LIP). For this reason,
financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit
risk characteristics (IAS 39.AG87). The classification is
based on the categories of claims against Banks,
Corporates, Sovereigns and Retail. LIP is calculated for
each segment and is based on the average time until
identification of the 90 days overdue status based on
expected cash inflows according to the repayment plans.
LIP is calculated as the exposure-weighted average in
months. Depending on the risk monitoring process, a
shorter LIP than calculated based on expected cash flows
is anticipated.

the financial guarantee contract is reviewed in order to
determine whether a provision according to IAS 37 is
required.
If BAWAG P.S.K. is a guarantee holder, the financial
guarantee is not recorded in the balance sheet but is taken
into consideration as collateral when determining
impairment of the guaranteed asset.
Methods for Determining the Fair Value of Financial
Instruments
Derivatives
To measure exchange-traded instruments such as futures
and options on futures, exchange prices are used. Details
are presented in Note 35. Some basic information is
presented here:
The basic valuation model used for plain vanilla OTC options
was the Black-Scholes option price model, which varies
according to the underlying instruments and hedged items.
Currency options were measured using the GarmanKohlhagen model, and interest rate options using the Black
or Hull-White model.
For positions in the trading book, the closing costs of the
positions (bid/ask spreads) on a net basis are calculated on
a regular basis.

Financial Guarantees

The total value of an interest rate swap is derived from the
present values of its fixed and variable rate legs. Similarly,
the total value of a cross currency swap is derived from the
present values of the two cash flows expressed in terms of
the functional currency of the Group entity.

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

In the case of foreign currency forwards and futures, the
agreed forward rate, which depends on movements in
exchange and interest rates for both currencies, is
compared with the forward rate on the reporting date and
the result is used to calculate the instrument’s value.

In the ordinary course of business, BAWAG P.S.K. provides
financial guarantees, consisting of various types of letters of
credit and guarantees. Financial guarantees are initially
measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition,

Credit default swaps (CDS) are calculated with the DuffieSingleton model. Based on the credit spread curve the
default probability curve (hazard rate) is calculated, which is
used to generate the protection leg. Hence, the total value of
a CDS is the sum of the protection and premium leg.

For loans backed by a repayment vehicle, which mainly
include loans in foreign currencies, a provision based on
funding gaps is considered as well.
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BAWAG P.S.K. determines a credit (CVA) or debt value
adjustment (DVA) for the credit risk of OTC derivatives. If
available, liquid credit default swap (CDS) spreads are
generally used to determine the probability of default (PD)
and the recovery rate (REC). If this is not possible,
equivalent segments of the CDS market are used.

Before the contract is terminated, the asset is a derivative,
while after the contract is closed out, the asset is a
contractual claim whose value no longer changes
depending on market parameters. For this reason, the
claim no longer satisfies the definition of a derivative
according to IAS 39.9.

For the counterparties, a market value + add-on model is
used to determine the EPE/ENE (Expected
Positive/Negative Exposure). The add-on is calculated
separately for each transaction type and currency and is
generally derived from observable parameters on the
market.

In the event of the early termination of a derivative
transaction, the variability of the payment flows in terms of
amount and time of occurrence are materially changed by
the close-out, and the original derivative is replaced with a
new asset. This new asset is recognized at its fair value
according to IAS 39.43. The fair value corresponds to the
carrying amount of the derivative at the time that the
agreement is terminated, including any valuation
adjustments applied up to the time of termination. A claim
arising from the termination of the agreement meets the
criteria in IAS 39.9 for categorization under loans and
receivables.

If a netting agreement is in force, netting effects at the
customer level within transactions of the same kind and
currency are also taken into account.
The CVA is determined from the discount rates, the
counterparty PD and loss rate (1-REC) and the EPE, and
the DVA from BAWAG P.S.K.’s PD and loss rate and the
ENE.
If the risk discount cannot be derived from market
transactions, it is estimated by the management. This
applies especially to non-payment risks arising from legal
uncertainty that cannot be derived from the customer’s
general credit spread. Provided that BAWAG P.S.K. believes
that the transaction is legally enforceable, the Bank still
reports an asset in the amount of the positive fair value of
the transaction with the counterparty even if objections
have been lodged.

This approach was chosen following IAS 39.40 and IAS
39.21, since IAS 39 contains no explicit rules for when a
financial instrument first fulfills the characteristics of a
derivative and then no longer exhibits these characteristics
at a later time. According to IAS 8.10 to 8.12, such gaps in
the standards must be closed by applying a similar
provision in the IFRS and taking the framework into
account.
The method described above was especially important in
the transaction with the City of Linz in 2011.
Credit-Linked Notes

To value financial assets whose parameters cannot be
derived from market transactions, the expected cash flow
(including interest on arrears, if contractually agreed) is
discounted on the day of valuation and weighted according
to the probability of its occurrence. If the legal validity or
enforceability of the claim is contested on the basis of
possible grounds for annulment or an appeal, these legal
considerations are taken into account in the valuation.
In the case of the close-out of a derivative transaction with
a customer, the type of claim changes for BAWAG P.S.K.
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For credit-linked notes where no active markets exist, fair
values are determined by applying a valuation model.
Credit-linked notes (CLNs) are bonds with an embedded
credit default swap (CDS) allowing the issuer to transfer a
specific credit risk to investors. The valuation model for
CLNs uses bond or CDS spreads of the issuer and the
reference entity, as well as coupon and maturity.
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Valuations by outside experts are also used when
measuring complex structures. Appropriate tests and
verifications are carried out.
Measurement for Asset-Based Investments
BAWAG P.S.K. uses internal valuation models to determine
the fair values of CLOs for which there is no active market.
BAWAG P.S.K.’s CLO model is calibrated to actively traded
loans and uses available market data (such as yield curves,
CDS spreads, loan prices, etc.) as inputs. The implied
probabilities of default (default intensities) and loss rates
(severities, LGD) are determined on the basis of the fair
values of the loans taking a discount margin (liquidity
costs) into account. Working from this, default scenarios
that are consistent with the market are generated (Monte
Carlo simulation) for each CLO transaction and used to
project the expected CLO cash flows. The fair value of the
CLO transactions is derived by discounting the expected
cash flows with the corresponding reference interest rate
plus the discount margin, which is determined by
calibrating the prices of currently traded CLOs.
Transfers of Financial Instruments
Financial assets are derecognized as soon as the Group is
no longer entitled to receive the financial rewards from the
instruments. As a rule, this occurs when the rights and
obligations of the financial instruments pass to a third party
by exercise, sale or assignment or if the Group has lost its
right of disposal or the rights have lapsed.
When financial assets are transferred and BAWAG P.S.K.
has significant continuing rights and obligations under
them, such assets are still reported on the consolidated
Statement of Financial Position.
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled.
Repurchase agreements, also known as “repos” or “sale
and repurchase agreements,” are contracts under which
financial assets are transferred to a transferee (lender) in
return for a cash payment while also specifying that the
financial assets must later be transferred back to the
transferor (borrower) for an amount of money agreed in
advance. The financial assets transferred out by BAWAG

P.S.K. Group under repurchase agreements remain on the
Group’s Statement of Financial Position and are measured
according to the rules applicable to the respective
Statement of Financial Position item. The liabilities resulting
from cash received under repo arrangements are recorded,
depending on the purpose of the contract, within liabilities
held for trading or financial liabilities associated with
transferred assets.
Conversely, under agreements to resell, known as “reverse
repos,” financial assets are acquired for a consideration
while at the same time committing to their future resale.
Cash outflows under reverse repos are recorded within
trading assets.
In securities lending transactions, the lender transfers
ownership of securities to the borrower on the condition
that the borrower will retransfer, at the end of the agreed
loan term, ownership of instruments of the same type,
quality and quantity and will pay a fee determined by the
duration of the loan. Securities lent to counterparties are
accounted for in the same way as repos: They are retained
in the Group’s financial statements and are measured in
accordance with IAS 39. Securities lending and borrowing
transactions are generally collateralized. Collateral
furnished by the securities borrower continues to be
recorded in the borrower’s financial statements.
Intangible Non-Current Assets, Property, Plant and
Equipment
Intangible non-current assets consist mainly of acquired
goodwill and other acquired and self-developed intangible
assets (in particular software) and projects recognized in
accordance with IAS 38.
Intangible non-current assets with an infinite useful life are
recognized at cost less impairments. Intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment with limited useful lives are
recognized at cost less straight-line amortization or
depreciation and impairments. Buildings are depreciated at
an annual rate of between 2.5% and 4%, while other
furniture and equipment are depreciated at annual rates
between 5% and 33.3%. Purchased and self-produced
software, and other intangible assets and rights (other than
goodwill) are amortized at annual rates of 10%, 20% and
33.3%.
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When circumstances change, the useful life is adjusted
considering the remaining economic life.

calculated by using the risk-weighted after-tax discount rate
in the market applicable to the single entity in question.

Investment Properties

As a rule, the planning horizon used for valuation purposes
is five years. The long-term growth rates used in the
calculation are 1.0%, applying the going concern principle.

Investment properties include the real estate that meets the
criteria for designation as investment property within the
meaning of IAS 40.5. These properties are primarily held to
earn rentals. To a limited degree, the Bank also uses some
of these properties itself. However, because these portions
cannot be sold separately and are insignificant for the
purposes of IAS 40.10, the entirety of such properties is
included in Investment properties.
Land and buildings held for investment purposes
(investment property) are measured at cost less straightline depreciation for buildings and less impairments (IAS
40). Depreciation ranges between 2.5% and 4% per year.
In addition to reviewing the method of depreciation and
useful lives, impairment tests are also performed as of each
reporting date.
Impairment Testing
In accordance with IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36 and
IAS 38, the recognized goodwill of all cash generating units
(CGUs) is subject to annual impairment testing in
accordance with IAS 36. All not publicly traded equity
investments were tested for impairment according to IAS
39.66, provided that a preliminary examination has not
ruled out impairment indicators.
To determine the value in use of the CGU, the present
value of the projected pre-tax profits reduced by the
nominal tax rate was calculated by using the risk-weighted
pre-tax discount rate in the market applicable to the CGU
in question. The pre-tax discount rate was derived from the
planned pre-tax profits and the above-mentioned valuation
result, and served as a target value.
To determine the value in use of the single entity, the
present value of the projected after-tax profits was
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The pre-tax discount rate is composed of the risk-free rate,
the local market risk premium and the beta factor. As of 31
December 2014, the following parameters are used:

 The risk-free rate (1.96%) is the 30-year spot rate
calculated in accordance with the Svensson method,
based on the parameters published by Deutsche
Bundesbank.
 The source for the country-specific market risk premium
(5.00% for Austria) is the website Damodaran in
conjunction with the recommendation of the Austrian
Chamber of Chartered Public Accountants and Tax
Consultants, whose working group “Business Valuation”
sets a range from 5.5% to 7%. A market risk premium
of 6.25% was chosen for Austria.
 The applied beta factor for banks and financial service
companies (1.02) is the two-year average beta of
thirteen banks listed on European stock exchanges with
retail as their core business. Bloomberg serves as the
relevant source. Banks with an R² (coefficient of
determination) of at least 0.15 qualify for the peer
group. The applied beta factor for non-banks is 1.0,
which represents a specific parameter and no general
market risk.
Based on the aforementioned assumptions, the value in
use of the CGU or equity investment was calculated for the
year under review in accordance with IAS 36. Value in use
represents the present value of the estimated future cash
flows expected from a cash generating unit or a single
entity.
The sales price according to the signed sales agreement
reduced by the transaction costs was used for the valuation
of the CGU BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH.
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The Bank’s interest in BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung
Aktiengesellschaft is assessed using the embedded value
and an estimation of the future value.
In addition, intangible and tangible assets are tested at the
reporting date to determine whether or not there is
evidence that they are impaired. If there is evidence for
impairment, the recoverable amount is calculated for the
asset. This is the higher of the value in use or the net
selling price. If the recoverable amount is lower than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss in the amount of the
difference is recognized according to IAS 36. As of 31
December 2014, no impairments of intangible and tangible
assets were accounted for.
In the case of real estate companies and own real estate,
current estimated market values of the properties are taken
into account. External appraisals are renewed every three
years at the latest.
Leasing
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it substantially
transfers all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
to the lessee. By contrast, leases that do not substantially
transfer all of the risks and rewards to the lessee are
classified as operating leases.
BAWAG P.S.K. as Lessor
For finance leases, the rights of claims against the lessee
are recognized in the amount of the present value of the
contractually agreed payments, taking any residual value
into account.
By contrast, operating leases in which BAWAG P.S.K. Group
retains all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
leased asset are reported under tangible non-current
assets. Each leased asset is depreciated as appropriate.
Lease payments received for operating leases and interest
payments for finance leases are recognized in the Profit or
Loss Statement.

BAWAG P.S.K. as Lessee
Expenditure on operating leases is recorded on a straightline basis over the life of the lease agreement and reported
under operating expenses.
Finance leases where BAWAG P.S.K. Group is a lessee are
of minor significance.
Income Taxes and Deferred Taxes
According to IAS 12, income taxes must be computed and
reported using the liability method. The computation is
based on the local tax rates that are legally binding at the
time the consolidated financial statements are prepared.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from different
methods used to measure assets and obligations on the
Statement of Financial Position under IFRS and the
respective tax code. This generally leads to positive or
negative differences in the income tax to be paid for future
periods (temporary differences). A deferred tax asset is
recognized for the carryforward of unused tax losses when
it is probable that future taxable profit will be generated by
the same taxable unit. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.
Tax expenses allocable to the taxable profit were recognized
in the Profit or Loss Statement under Income taxes and
broken down into current and deferred income taxes. Other
taxes that are not attributable to profit are recognized under
Other operating income and expenses.
According to IAS 12.34, a deferred tax asset is recognized
for tax loss carryforwards if it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses
can be utilized. As of 31 December 2014, unused tax
losses amounted to EUR 1,205 million (2013: EUR 1,337
million) at the level of BAWAG P.S.K., EUR 91 million
(2013: EUR 65 million) at the level of members of the tax
group included in the consolidated financial statements
and EUR 67 million (2013: EUR 75 million) at the level of
other companies included in the consolidated financial
statements, hence a total of EUR 1,363 million (2013: EUR
1,477 million). For the tax group, another EUR 1,485
million are available on the level of BAWAG Holding GmbH
(2013: EUR 1,495 million). BAWAG Holding GmbH is the
head of the tax group but is not included in the BAWAG
P.S.K. Group presented in this Consolidated Annual Report.
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The utilizability of unused tax losses and deferred tax
assets by BAWAG P.S.K. was tested on the basis of the
Group’s long-term plan (planning period: five years). The
expected utilization of unused tax losses is projected to
amount to EUR 1,013 million (2013: 976 million). In total,
deferred tax assets for tax loss carryforwards in the amount
of approximately EUR 253 million (2013: EUR 242 million)
are recognized within BAWAG P.S.K. Group. If the forecasted taxable results varied by 10% compared to
management estimations, deferred tax assets would
increase by EUR 24 million (2013: increase by 23 million)
if results improve or decrease by EUR 24 million (2013:
decrease by 23 million) if forecasted results turn out to be
lower than expected.
A tax group pursuant to section 9 KStG was parented by
BAWAG Holding GmbH in the financial year. On 31
December 2014, the tax group consisted of the group
parent and 19 domestic members (previous year: 27
members). A tax collection agreement was concluded. The
allocation method was chosen for determining the tax
allocations. This method is based on the tax result of the
group as a whole. The payable tax is allocated to each
group member with a positive tax result on the basis of its
proportionate share of the group’s tax result. An internal tax
loss carryforward is taken into account for tax losses
allocated to the group parent. If the head of the tax group
has to pay a minimum corporate tax, the head of the tax
group is able to burden the members of the tax group with
a proportion of the minimum corporate tax following the
principle of tax causation.
During the financial year, a settlement agreement to the
group and tax compensation agreement was concluded
between the group parent and each tax group member.
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This agreement stipulates that an interim settlement of the
tax equalization is to be made for the financial years 2010
to 2014, with all tax contributions of these financial years
being regarded as offset.
A final settlement for uncredited tax losses must be
effected upon dissolution of the tax group or when a
member entity leaves the group. As of 31 December 2014,
the exit of BAWAG P.S.K. from the tax group and the exit of
all other group members, with the exception of the new
members in 2013 and 2014, would not result in a
corporate income tax back payment as of 31 December
2014 because the minimum period of three years as
required by section 9 paragraph 10 KStG was already
fulfilled. The new group members who entered the tax
group in 2013 and 2014 would incur a marginal corporate
income tax back payment.
Provisions
According to IAS 19, provisions for post-employment and
termination benefits and for jubilee benefits are calculated
using the projected unit credit method.
The present values of obligations outstanding as of the
measurement date are calculated on the basis of actuarial
assumptions applying an appropriate discount rate and
taking into account the expected rates of increase in
salaries and post-employment benefits. They are
recognized as a provision in the consolidated Statement of
Financial Position. Actuarial gains and losses relating to
provisions for post-employment and termination benefits
are recognized in full in the year in which they are incurred
in other comprehensive income.
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The principal parameters underlying the actuarial calculations are:

Parameters for post-employment pension obligations

Interest rate
Wage growth
Fluctuation discount

2014
2.05% p.a.
1.90% p.a.
0%−3.22% p.a.

2013
3.50% p.a.
2.00% p.a.
0%−3.22% p.a.

Parameters for severance payments and anniversary bonuses

Interest rate
Wage growth severance payments
Wage growth anniversary bonuses
Fluctuation discount severance payments
Fluctuation discount anniversary bonuses
Retirement age

2014
2.05% p.a.
3.10% p.a.
2.80% p.a.
0%−1.75% p.a.
0%−5.07% p.a.
57–65 years1)

2013
3.50% p.a.
4.00% p.a.
4.00% p.a.
0%−1.75% p.a.
0%−5.07% p.a.
57–65 years1)

1) The earliest possible individual retirement age as per ASVG was assumed.

The interest rate used has been changed from 3.50% in
the previous year to 2.05% in 2014.

recognized as expenses in the current period; there are no
further obligations.

The generation mortality tables AVÖ 2008-P-Angestellte
were used when calculating the long-term employee benefit
provisions.

Other provisions for uncertain obligations to third parties
are formed in accordance with the expected amount of the
obligation.

The existing post-employment benefit plans in BAWAG
P.S.K. Group that are financed entirely through provisions
because they are defined benefit obligations pertain
primarily to post-employment benefit rights and future
rights of employees of the parent company, BAWAG P.S.K.
AG. The allocated assets disclosed by the pension fund set
up for certain beneficiaries are set off against the
determined amounts of provisions for post-employment
benefits.

Contingent Liabilities and Unused Lines of Credit
For the most part, contingent liabilities are guarantees and
unused lines of credit. Guarantees are used when BAWAG
P.S.K. guarantees payment to the creditor to fulfill the
obligation of a third party. Unused lines of credit are
commitments from which a credit risk may occur. Loan loss
provisions for contingent liabilities and unused lines of
credit are reported under provisions for anticipated losses
on pending business.

These defined benefit plans expose BAWAG P.S.K. to
actuarial risks such as interest rate risk and longevity risk.

Assets and Obligations in Disposal Groups

The post-employment benefit rights of the majority of
employees are covered by BONUS Pensionskassen AG and
Bundespensionskasse AG (defined contribution plans). The
contributions that are made to these pension funds are

Non-current assets (or disposal groups consisting of assets
and liabilities) must be classified as held for sale when the
corresponding carrying amount is primarily the result of a
sale transaction and not of continued use.
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Immediately before the first-time classification as held for
sale, the assets (or disposal groups) are measured
according to the Group’s accounting policies. Then, the
non-current assets (or disposal groups) are recognized at
the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less selling
costs.
Impairments of assets (or disposal groups) are first offset
against goodwill and then against the remaining assets and
liabilities on a proportionate basis if the impairment does
not pertain to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax
assets or staff benefits. These must still be recognized in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. First-time
and subsequent impairment losses and reversals are
recognized directly in income. Reversals of impairments
may only be completed up to the amount of the cumulative
recognized impairment losses. The reversal of the
impairment of a goodwill is not permitted. No impairments
were recognized in 2014.

Interest expense consists mainly of interest for liabilities to
credit institutions and customers, issued bonds,
subordinated capital and supplementary capital. Interest
income and interest expense are recognized on an accrual
basis.
Fee and Commission Income and Expense
This item consists mainly of income from and expenses for
payment transfers, the securities and custody business,
lending and payments to Österreichische Post AG for the
use of its distribution network. Income and expenses are
recognized on an accrual basis.

Equity

Gains and Losses on Financial Assets and Liabilities

Equity is the capital provided by the Bank’s owners (issued
capital and capital reserves) and the capital generated by
the Bank (retained earnings, reserves from currency
translation, AFS reserve, actuarial gains and losses, profit
brought forward and the profit for the period).

This item consists mainly of the valuations and sales gains
or losses of our investments and issued securities and the
result from trading in securities and derivatives. Moreover,
hedging inefficiencies and foreign exchange differences are
shown within this position.

Revenue Recognition

Other Operating Income and Expenses

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the
revenue can be reliably measured.

The other operating result reflects all other income and
expenses not directly attributable to ordinary activities,
such as results on the sale of property. In addition, the
other operating result encompasses expenses for other
taxes, income from the release of other provisions and the
reimbursement of expenses to customers.

Interest Income and Interest Expense
Interest income consists primarily of interest income from
loans and receivables, fixed income securities, variable rate
securities and assets held for trading. Furthermore, regular
income from equity investments, shares as well as fees and
commissions similar to interest income are shown in this
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item. Interest income and interest expense also include
premiums on securities and loans using the effective
interest rate method. Also, the interest proportion of
interest-bearing derivatives, separated into income and
expenses, is recognized in interest income and expense.

Administrative Expenses
General administrative expenses represent personnel and
other administrative expenses accrued in the reporting
period.
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Provisions and Impairment Losses
This item includes allocations to and releases of specific
and portfolio risk provisions for loans and advances and for
contingent liabilities bearing credit risk. Also reported in
this item are direct write-offs of loans and advances as well
as recoveries on written-off loans removed from the
balance sheet.
In addition, this line item includes impairment losses or
reversals of impairment losses of property and equipment
and other intangible assets.
Net Gains or Losses on Financial Instruments
Net gains or losses on financial instruments include fair
value measurements recognized in the income statement,
impairments, impairment reversals, gains realized on
disposal and subsequent recoveries on written-down
financial instruments classified in the respective IAS 39
categories. The components are detailed for each IAS 39
category in the notes on net interest income, gains and
losses on financial assets and liabilities, and provisions and
impairment losses.
Latitude of Judgment and Uncertainty of Estimates
The consolidated financial statements include values which
are determined, as permitted, on the basis of estimates and
judgments. The estimates and judgments used are based
on past experience and other factors, such as planning and
expectations or forecasts of future events that are
considered likely as far as we know today. The estimates
and judgments themselves and the underlying estimation
methods and judgment factors are reviewed regularly and
compared with actual results.
The measurement of financial instruments and the related
estimates in respect of measurement parameters, in
particular the future development of interest rates, have a
material effect on the results of operations. The parameter
values applied by the Bank are derived largely from market
conditions prevailing as of the reporting date.

The determination of fair value for financial assets and
liabilities for which there is no observable market price
requires the use of valuation techniques. For financial
instruments that trade infrequently, calculation of fair value
requires varying degrees of judgment depending on
liquidity, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions
and other risks affecting the specific instrument. Details
regarding valuation techniques and uncertainty of
estimates regarding unobservable input factors are
described in Note 1 Accounting policies and in Note 35
Fair value.
Assessments as to whether or not cash generating units
(CGUs) were unimpaired are based on planning
calculations. These naturally reflect the management’s
evaluations, which are in turn subject to a degree of
predictive uncertainty. Details on the impairment test and
the analysis of uncertainties surrounding the estimation of
goodwill are set out in Note 1 Accounting policies and Note
20 Goodwill, Software and other intangible assets.
In determining the amount of deferred tax assets, the
Group uses historical utilization possibilities of tax-loss
carryforwards and profitability information and, if relevant,
forecasted operating results based upon approved business
plans, including tax planning opportunities. The Group
regularly reevaluates its estimates related to deferred tax
assets, including its assumptions about future profitability.
Details regarding deferred taxes are set out in Note 1
Accounting policies as well as in Note 21 Tax assets and
Note 30 Tax liabilities.
Pension obligations are measured based on the projected
unit credit method for defined benefit pension plans. In
measuring such obligations, assumptions have to be made
regarding long-term trends for salaries, pensions and future
mortality in particular. Changes in the underlying
assumptions from year to year and divergences from the
actual effects each year are reported under actuarial gains
and losses (see Note 1 Accounting policies).
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The following items are also subject to the judgment of
management:
 assessments of the recoverability of long-term loans are
based on assumptions regarding the borrower’s future
cash flows, and, hence, possible impairments of loans
and the recognition of provisions for off-balance-sheet
commitments in relation to the lending business
 recognition of provisions for uncertain liabilities.
Latitude of Judgment and Uncertainty of Estimates
– City of Linz
Uncertainties in estimations also apply to the claim of
BAWAG P.S.K. against the City of Linz. On 12 February
2007, the City of Linz and BAWAG P.S.K. concluded a
forward financial transaction. This transaction was intended
by the City of Linz to optimize a CHF loan it had taken out
with another bank.
Because of the development of the Swiss franc exchange
rate starting in the autumn of 2009, the City of Linz was
obligated to make increased contractual payments to
BAWAG P.S.K. On 13 October 2011, the Linz City Council
decided that it would make no more payments in
connection with the derivative transaction. Consequently,
BAWAG P.S.K. exercised its right to close out the derivative
transaction.
The City of Linz filed a lawsuit against BAWAG P.S.K. at the
Commercial Court of Vienna at the beginning of November
2011 seeking payment of CHF 30.6 million (equaling EUR
24.2 million at the exchange rate at that time). BAWAG
P.S.K. filed a (counter) suit against the City of Linz for the
fulfillment of its contractual entitlements from the same
transaction in the amount of EUR 417.7 million. The court
combined the two suits. The first verbal hearings were held
in the spring of 2013. BAWAG P.S.K.’s strong legal position
remains unchanged and the Bank is well prepared for the
ongoing court hearings. The court has recently appointed
an expert. It is difficult to assess how much longer the
lawsuit is going to continue. However, based on experience
it was assumed that the further legal proceedings will take
approximately three years.
The Bank has valued the derivative transaction until
termination according to the general principles (see Note 1
Recognition and Measurement Principles), and has
adequately accounted for the risks associated with the
claim arising from this derivative. In particular,
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management had to estimate the risks that are associated
with the transaction, such as non-payment, legal, process
and other operational risks and had to make judgments as
part of the continuous valuation process; this resulted in
the respective valuation adjustments.
After the termination of the transaction, the derivative was
derecognized and a receivable was recognized under
Receivables from customers (classified under Loans and
advances). We base our assessment of the carrying
amount of the claim on corresponding legal and other
opinions, which support the amount of the claim.
No amounts are being disclosed in application of IAS 37.92
(protective provisions for information in the notes).
Effects of Adopting Amended and New Standards
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards were mandatory for the first time for the
2014 consolidated financial statements:
The amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets:
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
lead to a reduction of disclosure requirements. The
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit
only has to be disclosed if an impairment or a reversal of an
impairment has been recognized in the current accounting
period. Furthermore, new disclosure requirements are
introduced. These disclosures have to be made if an
impairment or a reversal of an impairment of an asset or a
cash generating unit has been recognized and the
recoverable amount was calculated based on fair value less
costs of disposal. The amended IAS 36 had no major effect
on the consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
The amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement – Novation of Derivatives
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting allow hedge
accounting to continue in situations where a derivative that
has been designated as a hedging instrument is novated to
effect clearing with a central counterparty as a result of
legal or regulatory requirements. The amended IAS 39 had
no effect on the consolidated financial statements of
BAWAG P.S.K.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements establishes
principles for the presentation and preparation of
consolidated financial statements when an entity is in
control of one or more other entities. IFRS 10 sets out how
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to apply the principle of control to identify whether an
investor controls an investee and therefore must
consolidate the investee and sets out the accounting
requirements for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements. IFRS 10 had no major effect on the
consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements defines that a party to a joint
arrangement must determine the type of joint arrangement
in which it is involved by assessing its rights and
obligations. The party must account for those rights and
obligations in accordance with the determined type of joint
arrangement. IFRS 11 had no major effect on the
consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities requires
the disclosure of information that enables users of financial
statements to evaluate the natures of, and risks associated
with, its interests in other entities and the effects of those
interests on its financial position, financial performance and
cash flows. IFRS 12 has led to additional disclosures for
participations and structured entities in the consolidated
financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
has been amended and reissued as IAS 27 Separate
Financial Statements. Consolidation requirements
previously included in IAS 27 have been revised and are
now contained in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements. IAS 27 is not applicable to the consolidated
financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
includes the requirements for associates, as well as joint
ventures, in order to be accounted for using the equity
method following the issue of IFRS 11. IAS 28 had no
major effect on the consolidated financial statements of
BAWAG P.S.K.
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards were approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the EU
but are not yet mandatory for the preparation of IFRS

financial statements for the period ended 31 December
2014:
The amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Defined
Benefit Plans – Employee Contributions clarify the
requirements that relate to how contributions from
employees or third parties that are linked to services should
be attributed to periods of service. They also permit an
expedient if the amount of the contributions is independent
of the number of years in service. The amended IAS 19 is
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2014 and will have no major impact on the
consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
Already in December 2013, the IASB issued in the context
of its annual improvement project Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle and clarified the following existing
standards: IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, IFRS 8 Operating
Segments, IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 24
Related Party Disclosures and IAS 38 Intangible Assets.
The clarifications are applicable to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2014 and will have no impact
on the consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
In December 2014, the EU endorsed Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle, which clarifies
the following existing standards: IFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 3
Business Combinations, IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
and IAS 40 Investment Property. The clarifications are
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2014 and will have no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
IFRIC 21 Levies is an interpretation applicable to levies that
are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and those
where the timing and the amount of the levy is certain.
IFRIC 21 clarifies that liabilities for levies can be recognized
only when the activity that triggers the payment, as defined
by the relevant legislation, occurs. In the EU, IFRIC 21 is
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2014 and will have no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.

77

BAWAG P.S.K. CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2014

The following standards and amendments approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have not
yet been endorsed by the European Union:
In July 2014, the IASB published the final version of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments. IFRS 9 establishes three primary
measurement categories for financial assets: amortized
cost, fair value and fair value through other comprehensive
income.
The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset. A financial asset is measured at amortized
cost only if the object of the entity’s business model is to
hold the financial asset and the contractual cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding (simple loan feature). A financial asset is
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income if the asset is held in a business model in which
assets are managed both in order to collect contractual
cash flows and for sale and the contractual cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding (simple loan feature). Financial assets that do
not meet these criteria are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Furthermore, embedded derivatives will no
longer be separated from the financial host asset. The
financial instrument is assessed in its entirety and
measured at fair value through profit or loss. There are a
few exceptions, e.g. for put, call, prepayment and extension
options, and for interest rate caps or floors.
The classification and measurement requirements for
financial liabilities are only slightly changed compared to
IAS 39, with fair value changes related to changes in the
entity’s own credit risk recognized in other comprehensive
income. There is an exception for the case when this
practice would lead to inconsistencies in the measurement
of assets and liabilities. The assessment must be
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performed at the initial recognition. A retrospective
recognition of other comprehensive income from changes
in the entity’s own credit risk in the Profit or Loss Statement
is not permitted.
IFRS 9 fundamentally changes the accounting model for
impairments. Now, not only losses already sustained but
not yet recognized ("incurred loss model") have to be
accounted for, but also expected losses for future cash
flows ("expected loss model").
IFRS 9 also contains a new general hedge accounting
model. This model aligns hedge accounting more closely
with operational risk management and allows hedging
strategies that are used for the purposes of risk
management. The effectiveness test as a requirement for
the use of hedge accounting was revised: Instead of the
quantitative criterion (bandwidth of 80% to 125%),
qualitative and quantitative criteria for a forward-looking
effectiveness assessment were introduced. Furthermore,
voluntary terminations of hedge relationships are no longer
allowed in general, but only if certain requirements are met.
Rules for rebalancing were introduced for hedging
relationships in which the hedged risk and the risk covered
by hedging instruments are not identical. These rules state
that the hedge ratio can be adjusted in the event of
correlation changes without having to terminate the hedge
relationship.
IFRS 9 will become mandatory for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
IFRS 9 is expected to have a material impact on the
processes and financial accounts of BAWAG P.S.K., but
from a present-day perspective a reliable statement
regarding the influence on future consolidated financial
statements of BAWAG P.S.K. cannot be made.
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In December 2014, the IASB issued Disclosure Initiative
(Amendments to IAS 1). The amendments are designed to
further illustrate the concept of materiality and therefore
reduce immaterial information in IFRS financial statements,
while encouraging the communication of relevant
information. It is clarified that the materiality concept is
applicable to all parts of an IFRS financial statement,
especially the notes. Immaterial information should not be
presented, even if a standard explicitly requires a specific
disclosure. Furthermore, material information should not be
aggregated with immaterial information. Additional
subtotals can be added to the Statement of Financial
Position and the Statement of Comprehensive Income if
this is relevant for a better understanding of the net assets,
financial position and earnings situation. Moreover, it is
clarified that the share of other comprehensive income of
associated or joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method should be presented in aggregate as a single line
item based on whether it will subsequently be reclassified
to profit or loss or not. In order to emphasize that the notes
need not be presented in the order so far listed in IAS
1.114, additional examples of possible ways of ordering the
notes are added, to make clear that understandability and
comparability should be considered when determining the
order of the notes. The IASB also removed guidance and
examples with regard to the identification of significant
accounting policies that were perceived as being potentially
unhelpful. The amendments are applicable to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and
will lead to an amended presentation of other
comprehensive income of BAWAG P.S.K.
In May 2014, the IASB issued Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to
IAS 16 and IAS 38). The amendments provide additional
guidance on the methods permitted when calculating
depreciation or amortization of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. The amendments are
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016 and will have no major impact on the
consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
In June 2014, the IASB issued Agriculture: Bearer Plants
(Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41). The amendments
bring bearer plants into the scope of IAS 16, are applicable
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016 and will not be applicable to the consolidated
financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.

The amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements reinstate the equity method as an
accounting option in separate financial statements and are
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016. IAS 27 is not applicable to the
consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
In September 2014, the IASB issued Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28), which
clarifies that in a transaction involving an associate or joint
venture the extent of gain or loss recognition depends on
whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a
business. The amendments are mandatory for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and
will have no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of BAWAG P.S.K. from a current perspective.
In December 2014, the IASB issued Investment Entities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28). Issues which have arisen in
the context of applying the consolidation exception for
investment entities are addressed. The amendments are
mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016 and are not applicable to the
consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
The amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations clarify the accounting for
acquisitions of an interest in a joint operation when the
activity constitutes a business. The amended IFRS 11 is
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016 and will have no impact on the
consolidated financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K. from a
current perspective.
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts permits an entity
which is a first-time adopter of the International Financial
Reporting Standards to continue to account, with some
limited changes, for regulatory deferral account balances in
accordance with its previous GAAP. IFRS 14 is applicable
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016 and will have no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
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In May 2014, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers was issued by the IASB. IFRS 15 specifies when
and how revenue from contracts with customers is to be
recognized. IFRS 15 replaces the standards IAS 11
Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue, as well as
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18
Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue –
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. IFRS 15
will become mandatory for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017. BAWAG P.S.K. will
analyze the potential effects of IFRS 15 in the coming
months.

80

In September 2014, the IASB issued in the context of its
annual improvement project Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle and clarified the following existing
standards: IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, IAS 19 Employee Benefits and IAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting. The clarifications are applicable to
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016 and will have no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of BAWAG P.S.K.
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DETAILS OF THE CONSOLIDATED PROFIT OR LOSS STATEMENT
2 | Net interest income
in EUR million
Interest income
Cash reserves
Financial assets held for trading
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Held-to-maturity investments
Interest expense
Financial liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Dividend income
Available-for-sale financial assets
Net interest income
Interest income and similar income are recognized on an
accrual basis. Interest income also includes premiums on
securities classified as financial investments which are

2014
1,089.9
0.3
262.5
23.8
122.6
643.4
37.3
(407.9)
(91.8)
(81.3)
(234.8)
9.8
9.8
691.8

2013
1,112.4
1.2
239.8
43.7
176.6
637.3
13.8
(541.6)
(143.2)
(142.7)
(255.7)
9.4
9.4
580.2

allocated in accordance with the accruals concept. Interest
income on impaired receivables during 2014 amounted to
EUR 3.5 million (2013: EUR 2.8 million).

3 | Net fee and commission income
Net fee and commission income can be broken down by BAWAG P.S.K.’s operations as follows:
in EUR million
Fee and commission income
Payment transfers
Lending
Securities and custody business
Other services
Fee and commission expense
Payment transfers
Lending
Securities and custody business
Others
Net fee and commission income

2014
302.0
178.4
27.8
62.7
33.1
(104.2)
(39.5)
(2.2)
(11.5)
(51.0)
197.8

2013
288.8
171.7
28.9
58.1
30.1
(100.8)
(32.4)
(0.1)
(12.3)
(56.0)
188.0
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4 | Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities
in EUR million
Realized gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair
value through profit or loss, net
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Gain from the sale of subsidiaries and associates and other result
Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net
Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
net
Gains (losses) from fair value hedge accounting
Fair value adjustment of hedged item
Fair value adjustment of hedging instrument
Exchange differences, net
Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities
The item gains and losses on financial assets and
liabilities was influenced primarily by the valuation and

2013

64.3

192.2

57.1
14.0
(10.9)
4.1
(10.6)

115.6
56.9
0.1
19.6
(135.4)

(25.4)

122.9

3.6
(328.7)
332.2
6.8
38.7

16.5
35.8
(19.3)
11.2
207.4

sales of our investments, issued securities and derivative
transactions for customers.

in EUR million
Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities excluding non-controlling interests
Gains and losses on financial assets attributable to non-controlling interests
Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities according to Consolidated Profit
or Loss Statement
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2014

2014
35.9
2.7

2013
216.1
(8.7)

38.7

207.4
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5 | Other operating income and expenses
in EUR million
Net income from investment properties
Income from investment properties
Expenses relating to investment properties
Gains from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Losses from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Bank levy
Other income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses
Rental income from investment properties amounted to
EUR 0.5 million in 2014 (2013: EUR 1.0 million); expenses
amounted to EUR 1.0 million in 2014 (2013: EUR 0.8
million). Vacancy costs amounted to EUR 0.2 million
(2013: EUR 0.2 million).

2014
(0.8)
0.4
(1.2)
3.1
(0.5)
(24.6)
12.4
(10.4)

2013
0.2
1.2
(1.0)
62.8
(4.6)
(25.3)
(8.7)
24.4

In 2013, income from the sale of property, plant and
equipment included EUR 61 million from the sale of the
Company building located at Georg-Coch-Platz 2, 1018
Vienna. A long-term lease contract for this property was
concluded with the new owner.

6 | Administrative expenses
in EUR million
Staff costs
Wages and salaries
Statutory social security contributions
Staff benefit costs
Increase of pension provision
Decrease of provision for severance payments
Decrease of provision for jubilee benefits
Other administrative expenses
IT, data, communication
Real estate, utility, maintenance expenses
Advertising
Other general expenses
Other third party fees – legal, outsourcing, etc.
Postage fees
Regulatory projects and audit fees
Restructuring and other one-off expenses
Administrative expenses
The line item Restructuring and other one-off expenses
mainly includes expenses for restructuring costs in 2014,

2014
(282.3)
(207.7)
(59.9)
(11.2)
(11.0)
5.9
1.6
(182.6)
(53.7)
(48.5)
(34.7)
(17.9)
(11.8)
(10.2)
(5.8)
(3.5)
(468.4)

2013
(320.9)
(242.3)
(63.5)
(10.8)
(11.4)
6.1
1.0
(198.5)
(56.0)
(43.2)
(38.7)
(22.7)
(10.9)
(11.7)
(15.3)
(106.9)
(626.3)

partially offset by the release of a provision for legal costs
and for vacation pay, therefore totaling EUR 3.5 million.
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7 | Depreciation and amortization on tangible and intangible non-current assets
in EUR million
Depreciation and amortization
Software and other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Depreciation and amortization

2014

2013

(18.4)
(12.3)
(30.7)

(35.5)
(19.0)
(54.5)

2014
(79.8)
7.2
(1.8)
–
(74.4)

2013
(70.9)
(14.1)
(11.4)
(1.8)
(98.2)

2014
(1.8)
–
–
(1.8)

2013
(10.3)
(0.8)
(0.3)
(11.4)

8 | Provisions and impairment losses
in EUR million
Loan loss provisions of Loans & receivables
Changes in provisions for off-balance credit risk
Impairment losses on financial assets
Impairment losses on non-financial assets
Provisions and impairment losses

Impairment losses on financial assets
in EUR million
Available-for-sale financial assets – equity investments
Available-for-sale financial assets – debt instruments
Held-to-maturity investments
Impairment losses on financial assets

Impairment losses on non-financial assets
The following table depicts the impairments and reversal of impairments made on individual non-financial assets.
in EUR million
Property, plant and equipment
Software and other intangible assets
thereof Goodwill
thereof Software and other intangible assets
Impairment losses on non-financial assets
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2014
–
–
–
–
–

2013
(0.1)
(1.7)
(0.2)
(1.5)
(1.8)
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9 | Share of the profit or loss of associates accounted for using the equity method
The profit reported for the current year of EUR 0.9 million
(2013: minus EUR 0.9 million) contains the proportionate
share in BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung AG.
The unrecognized share of the losses of entities that were
accounted for using the equity method as provided by IFRS

12.22 (c) came to EUR 0.0 million (2013: EUR 0.0
million).
The following table shows key financial indicators for the
Bank’s associates:

Associates accounted for using the equity method
in EUR million
Cumulated assets
Cumulated liabilities
Cumulated equity
Earned premiums (gross)
Fee and commission income
Cumulated net profit
The associates accounted for using the equity method are
BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung Aktiengesellschaft (stake of
25.00%) and PSA Payment Services Austria GmbH (stake

2014
2,396
2,278
118
314
179
22

2013
2,062
2,008
54
219
–
9

of 20.82%), which was consolidated for the first time as of
December 2014. For further details, please refer to Note 37
Related parties.

10 | Income taxes

in EUR million
Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense/income
Income taxes

2014
(0.5)
(8.3)
(8.8)

2013
(0.4)
2.1
1.7
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The following reconciliation shows the relationship between computed tax expenses and reported tax expenses:
in EUR million
Profit before tax
Tax rate
Computed tax expenses
Reductions in tax
Due to tax-exempt income from equity investments
Due to gains and losses from the valuation of equity investments
Due to the sale of equity investments
Due to other tax-exempt income
Due to differing foreign tax rates
Due to use of tax loss carryforwards without recognition of deferred taxes
Due to other tax effects
Increases in tax
Due to gains and losses from the valuation of equity investments
Due to non tax deductible expenses
Due to other tax effects
Income tax in the period
Out-of-period income tax
Reported income tax (expense)
The Group’s assets included deferred tax assets accounted
for on the grounds of the recognized benefits arising from
as yet unused tax losses in the amount of EUR 253 million
(2013: EUR 242 million). The majority of the tax losses
could be carried forward for an unlimited period. The
untaxed portion of the liability reserve was EUR 372.9 million (2013: EUR 372.9 million).
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2014
345.2
25%
(86.3)

2013
220.1
25%
(55.0)

6.3
11.5
0.5
2.2
1.7
51.1
6.8

2.4
10.2
–
0.2
1.6
53.8
0.3

(0.2)
(0.1)
(2.0)
(8.6)
(0.2)
(8.8)

(7.9)
(4.1)
(1.1)
0.4
1.3
1.7

As of 31 December 2014, unused tax losses amounted to
EUR 1,205 million (2013: EUR 1,337 million) at the level of
BAWAG P.S.K., EUR 91 million (2013: EUR 65 million) at
the level of members of the tax group included in the
consolidated financial statements and EUR 67 million
(2013: EUR 75 million) at the level of other companies
included in the consolidated financial statements, for a total
of EUR 1,363 million (2013: EUR 1,477 million). For the
tax group, another EUR 1,485 million are available on the
level of BAWAG Holding GmbH (2013: EUR 1,495 million).
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DETAILS OF THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
11 | Cash reserves
in EUR million
Cash on hand
Balances at central banks
Cash reserves

31.12.2014
335
349
684

31.12.2013
281
200
481

31.12.2014
264
7
179
450

31.12.2013
316
40
397
753

12 | Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
in EUR million
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Shares and other variable rate securities
Loans and advances to customers
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
The category Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss contains all financial instruments that
are carried at their fair value through profit or loss because
the fair value option defined in IAS 39 has been exercised

for them. Further information on the fair value option can
be found in Note 1.
The maximum credit risk of loans and advances to
customers equals book value.

13 | Available-for-sale financial assets
in EUR million
Debt instruments
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Public sector debt instruments
Bonds of other issuers
Equity investments
Recognized at cost
Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries
Interests in associates
Other shareholdings
Available-for-sale financial assets

31.12.2014
3,757
3,757
623
3,134
76

31.12.2013
5,028
5,028
806
4,222
98

18
32
26
3,833

23
47
28
5,126
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The following table shows key financial indicators for the Bank’s associates:

Associates not accounted for using the equity method due to immateriality
in EUR million
Cumulated assets
Cumulated equity
Cumulated net profit
The amounts presented in the table above are based on
the latest available financial statements of the respective
companies that have been prepared in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards. At the time the annual
financial statements of BAWAG P.S.K. as of 31 December
2014 were being prepared, financial statements as of 31
December 2013 were available for the majority of the
respective entities (prior year: 31 December 2012).

31.12.2014
551
80
15

31.12.2013
833
124
27

From an economic point of view, we would like to note that
the table above does not take the economic share invested
into consideration. The average economic share is 33%.
For further details, please refer to Note 37 Related parties.

14 | Held-to-maturity financial investments
in EUR million
Debt instruments
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Public sector debt instruments
Bonds of other issuers
Held-to-maturity financial investments
The increase of held-to-maturity financial assets is mainly
driven by new business. Additionally, during the first
quarter of 2014, BAWAG P.S.K. reclassified a portion of its
available-for-sale financial assets (carrying amount
decreased by EUR 323 million, fair value decreased by

31.12.2014
2,042
2,042
565
1,477
2,042

31.12.2013
773
773
373
400
773

EUR 323 million) as held-to-maturity investments (carrying
amount increased by EUR 323 million, fair value increased
by EUR 323 million) due to a change in its intention to hold
the securities.

15 | Financial assets held for trading
in EUR million
Derivatives in trading book
Foreign currency derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Derivatives in banking book
Foreign currency derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Credit related derivatives
Financial assets held for trading
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31.12.2014
404
41
363
759
58
698
3
1,163

31.12.2013
378
65
313
703
68
630
5
1,081
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16 | Loans and receivables
The following breakdown depicts the composition of the
item Loans and receivables. The financial assets in this
category are recognized at amortized cost.

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Securities
Public sector debt
instruments
Debt instruments of other
issuers
Receivables from credit
institutions
Receivables from customers
Corporates and other
customers
Retail
Central governments
IBNR portfolio provision1)
Total

Unimpaired
assets
1,983

Allowances for
Allowances for
Impaired assets
individually
collectively
(total gross
impaired financial impaired financial
carrying amount)
assets
assets
–
–
–

Total
net carrying
amount
1,983

97

–

–

–

97

1,886

–

–

–

1,886

1,518

–

–

–

1,518

21,441

616

(236)

14,044

358

(63)

7,319
78
–
24,942

258
–
–
616

(173)
–
–
(236)

(42)
–
(11)
–
(31)
(42)

21,779
14,339
7,393
78
(31)
25,280

1) Allowance for incurred but not reported losses.

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Securities
Public sector debt
instruments
Debt instruments of other
issuers
Receivables from credit
institutions
Receivables from customers
Corporates and other
customers
Retail
Central governments
IBNR portfolio provision1)
Total

Unimpaired
assets
2,485

Allowances for
Allowances for
Impaired assets
individually
collectively
(total gross
impaired financial impaired financial
carrying amount)
assets
assets
–
–
–

Total
net carrying
amount
2,485

99

–

–

–

99

2,386

–

–

–

2,386

3,790

6

(5)

–

3,791

20,580

754

(270)

(84)

20,980

13,549

495

(155)

(1)

13,888

6,943
88
–
26,855

259
–
–
760

(115)
–
–
(275)

(50)
–
(33)
(84)

7,037
88
(33)
27,256

1) Allowance for incurred but not reported losses.
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The Receivables from customers are broken down into the
following receivables classes.
The category Central governments includes receivables
from central governments, primarily from the Republic of
Austria in the case of BAWAG P.S.K.
The Corporates category includes larger enterprises with an
exposure in excess of EUR 1 million or revenue of over
EUR 50 million, and special financing agreements (project
finance). Other customers cover public sector entities,
churches and religious groups, political parties,
associations and securities trading houses without a
banking license.

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Retail Banking and Small Business
Corporate Lending and Investments
Treasury Services and Markets
Corporate Center
Total

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Retail Banking and Small Business
Corporate Lending and Investments
Treasury Services and Markets
Corporate Center
Total

Unimpaired
assets
9,240
13,089
959
1,654
24,942

Unimpaired
assets
9,090
11,742
775
5,248
26,855

The IBNR portfolio provision represents a provision for
losses incurred but not detected yet.
The following breakdown depicts the composition of the
item Loans and receivables according to the Group’s
segments.

Impaired assets Allowances for Allowances for
collectively
individually
(total gross
impaired
carrying
impaired
financial assets financial assets
amount)
237
(158)
(11)
93
(67)
0
0
0
0
286
(11)
(31)
616
(236)
(42)

Impaired assets Allowances for Allowances for
(total gross
individually
collectively
carrying
impaired
impaired
amount)
financial assets financial assets
234
(103)
(31)
229
(163)
0
2
(2)
0
295
(7)
(53)
760
(275)
(84)

Reclassifications
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The Retail category covers receivables from retail banking.
This segment comprises employees and small and
medium-sized enterprises with an exposure of less than
EUR 1 million or revenue of less than EUR 50 million.

Total
net carrying
amount
9,308
13,115
959
1,898
25,280

Total
net carrying
amount
9,190
11,807
775
5,484
27,256

BAWAG P.S.K. transferred available-for-sale financial assets
to the Statement of Financial Position item Loans and
receivables at their fair values in the amount of EUR 1,897
million as of 1 June 2010.

As of 31 December 2014, the carrying amount of these
reclassified assets amounted to EUR 68 million (2013:
EUR 909 million). Their fair value amounted to EUR 68
million (2013: EUR 904 million). The decline in
comparison to the previous year results primarily from
redemptions.

These reclassified assets are private placements and credit
surrogates without derivative components. BAWAG P.S.K. is
of the opinion that the amortized cost of the reclassified
assets offers relevant information for readers of the
financial report.

As of 31 December 2014, an AFS reserve in the amount of
EUR 1 million (2013: plus EUR 1 million) was recognized
for reclassified financial assets. If the assets had not been
reclassified, unrealized fair value changes in the amount of
EUR 0 million (2013: minus EUR 5 million) would have
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been recognized in Other comprehensive income (in the
AFS reserve) for available-for-sale financial assets.

After reclassification, the financial assets in question
continued to make the following contribution to the pre-tax
profit of the respective year:
2014
2.5
6.1
–

in EUR million
Interest income
Profits from disposals
Impairments

2013
11.9
7.0
–

Changes in loan loss provisions

in EUR million
Balance as of 01.01.2014
Additions
Provisions created through
profit or loss
Disposals
Changes in scope of
consolidation
Used as intended
Provisions released
through profit or loss
Reclassification
Balance as of 31.12.2014

in EUR million
Balance as of 01.01.2013
Additions
Provisions created through
profit or loss
Disposals
Changes in scope of
consolidation
Used as intended
Provisions released
through profit or loss
Reclassification
Balance as of 31.12.2013

Individual and collective loan loss Loan loss provisions for incurred but
provisions
not reported losses
Receivables from Receivables from Receivables from Receivables from
credit institutions
customers
credit institutions
customers
5
321
–
33

Total
359

–

85

–

–

85

–

–

–

–

–

(3)

(134)

–

–

(137)

(2)

(25)

–

(2)

(29)

–
–

–
247

–
–

–
31

Individual and collective loan loss Loan loss provisions for incurred but
provisions
not reported losses
Receivables from Receivables from Receivables from Receivables from
credit institutions
customers
credit institutions
customers
17
618
–
31

–
278

Total
666

–

93

–

2

95

–

–

–

–

–

(329)

–

–

(341)

(61)

–

–

(61)

–
–

–
33

(12)
–
–
5

–
321

–
359
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The loan loss provisions break down by region as follows:
31.12.2014
257
21
16
5
278

in EUR million
Austria
Abroad
Western Europe
Central and Eastern Europe
Loan loss provisions

31.12.2013
274
85
29
56
359

17 | Receivables from credit institutions and customers
The following table depicts the breakdown of receivables from credit institutions and customers by credit type.

Receivables from credit institutions – Breakdown by credit type

in EUR million
Demand deposits
Time deposits
Loans
Receivables from credit
institutions

Designated at fair value
through profit or loss
31.12.2014 31.12.2013
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–

At amortized cost

Total

31.12.2014
163
1,199
156

31.12.2013
105
3,506
180

31.12.2014
163
1,199
156

31.12.2013
105
3,506
180

1,518

3,791

1,518

3,791

Receivables from customers – Breakdown by credit type

in EUR million
Current accounts
Cash advances
Loans
One-off loans
Other
Finance leases
Receivables from customers
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Designated at fair value
through profit or loss
31.12.2014 31.12.2013
–
–
–
–
179
397
179
397
–
–
–
–
179
397

At amortized cost
31.12.2014
1,423
151
19,533
19,460
73
672
21,779

31.12.2013
1,504
708
17,976
17,881
95
792
20,980

Total
31.12.2014
1,423
151
19,712
19,639
73
672
21,958

31.12.2013
1,504
708
18,373
18,278
95
792
21,377
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18 | Asset maturities
The following table contains a breakdown of financial
assets (excl. equity investments) by remaining period to

maturity. Assets without a defined maturity are classified as
“Up to 3 months.”

Financial assets – Breakdown by remaining period to maturity 2014
31.12.2014
in EUR million
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Receivables from customers
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Available-for-sale financial assets
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Held-to-maturity investments
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Loans and receivables
Receivables from customers
Receivables from credit institutions
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Total

Up to
3 months

3 months
up to 1 year

1–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

4
21

68
50

46
147

61
46

179
264

176

366

2,310

905

3,757

–

79

1,046

917

2,042

2,007
1,306
–
3,514

1,449
72
153
2,237

8,168
8
1,317
13,042

10,155
132
513
12,729

21,779
1,518
1,983
31,522

3 months
up to 1 year

1–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

Financial assets – Breakdown by remaining period to maturity 2013
31.12.2013
in EUR million
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Receivables from customers
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Available-for-sale financial assets
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Held-to-maturity investments
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Loans and receivables
Receivables from customers
Receivables from credit institutions
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Total

Up to
3 months

–
5

231
46

63
247

103
18

397
316

274

871

3,067

816

5,028

58

27

302

387

774

2,746
3,642
–
6,725

1,546
5
264
2,990

7,075
23
1,247
12,024

9,613
121
974
12,032

20,980
3,791
2,485
33,771
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19 | Property, plant and equipment
Changes in property, plant and equipment 2014
Change in Change in
Change in
Carrying Acquisition scope of
scope of
foreign
amount
cost
consolidation consolidation
exchange
31.12.2013 01.01.2014 Acquisition Cumulative
differences
cost
depreciation

in EUR million
Property, plant and
equipment
Land and buildings used by
the enterprise for its own
operations
Investment properties
Office furniture and
equipment
Plant under construction

Additions

Depreciation
(-),
impairments
Carrying
Write-downs
(-) and
amount
Disposals Reallocations
cumulative
reversal of
31.12.2014
impairments
(+) Financial
year

85

507

–

–

–

14

(78)

23

74

–

–

–

–

(21)

4

31

–

–

–

–

(6)

57

400

–

–

–

14

(51)

1

2

–

–

–

–

–

(150)

(209)

84

(12)

–

(31)

22

(1)

–

(22)

3

–

(156)

58

(149)
(1)

–

(11)

1

–

Changes in property, plant and equipment 2013
Change in Change in
Change in
Carrying Acquisition scope of
scope of
foreign
amount
cost
consolidation consolidation
exchange
31.12.2012 01.01.2013 Acquisition Cumulative
differences
cost
depreciation

in EUR million
Property, plant and
equipment
Land and buildings used by
the enterprise for its own
operations
Investment properties
Office furniture and
equipment
Plant under construction

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation
(-),
impairments
WriteCarrying
(-) and
Reallocations
downs
amount
reversal of
cumulative 31.12.2013
impairments
(+) Financial
year

181

698

(2)

2

–

19

(208)

–

(422)

85

(19)

117

215

–

–

–

–

(141)

–

(51)

23

(3)

6

36

–

–

–

–

(5)

–

(27)

4

–

58

446

(2)

2

–

18

(62)

–

(343)

57

–

1

–

–

–

1

–

(1)

1

–

No impairments have been recognized in profit or loss in
the current financial year (2013: EUR 0.1 million).

20 | Goodwill, Software and other intangible assets
The core banking system Allegro is one of the Bank’s most
important intangible assets. Of the total carrying amount for
all intangible non-current assets, EUR 30 million (2013:

94

EUR 34 million) can be attributed to Allegro projects
carried out in this context. Allegro’s remaining average
useful life is 9 years.

(16)
–
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Changes in Goodwill, Software and other intangible assets 2014

Change in
Change in
Carrying Acquisition
scope of
scope of
amount
cost
consolidation Additions
consolidation
31.12.2013 01.01.2014
Cumulative
Acquisition cost
amortization

in EUR million
Goodwill
Software and other
intangible assets
Software and other intangible
non-current assets
Thereof purchased
Thereof internally
generated
Intangible non-current assets
in development
Thereof purchased
Thereof internally
generated
Rights and redemption
payments

59

89

–

–

–

83

445

–

–

35

66

410

–

–

66

288

–

–

122

6

Disposals

Amortization
Reclassifica
(-),
tion to nonimpairments
current
Carrying
(+) and
Write-downs assets and
Reallocations
amount
reversal of
cumulative disposal
31.12.2014 impairments
groups
(+)
classified as
Financial
held for sale
year

–

–

(30)

(138)

150

(390)

–

102

(18)

31

(136)

156

(373)

–

88

(17)

–

27

(14)

156

(373)

–

84

(17)

–

–

4

(122)

–

–

–

4

–

6

–

–

3

–

(6)

–

–

3

–

6

6

–

–

2

–

(6)

–

–

2

–

–

–

–

–

1

–

–

–

–

1

–

11

29

–

–

1

(2)

–

–

11

(1)

(17)

(58)

1

–

Changes in Goodwill, Software and other intangible assets 2013

Change in
Change in
Carrying Acquisition
scope of
scope of
amount
cost
consolidation Additions
consolidation
31.12.2012 01.01.2013
Cumulative
Acquisition cost
amortization

in EUR million
Goodwill
Software and other
intangible assets
Software and other intangible
non-current assets
Thereof purchased
Thereof internally
generated
Intangible non-current assets
in development
Thereof purchased
Rights and redemption
payments

60

115

(26)

–

–

113

446

(2)

2

27

105

419

(2)

2

78

279

(2)

27

140

2

Disposals

–

(30)

–

59

(26)

–

(362)

–

83

(36)

16

(25)

2

(344)

–

66

(35)

2

16

(7)

2

(222)

–

66

(26)

–

–

–

(18)

–

(122)

–

–

(9)

2

–

–

6

–

(2)

–

–

6

–

2

2

–

–

6

–

(2)

–

–

6

–

6

25

–

–

5

(1)

–

–

11

(1)

No impairments have been recognized in profit or loss in
the current financial year (2013: EUR 2 million). No

–

Amortization
Reclassifica
(-),
tion to nonimpairments
current
Carrying
(+) and
Write-downs assets and
amount
reversal of
Reallocations
cumulative disposal
31.12.2013 impairments
groups
(+)
classified as
Financial
held for sale
year

(18)

–

reversals of impairments have been recognized in the
current financial year and in the prior year.
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Impairment testing for cash generating units with goodwill
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is assigned to the following cash generating units (CGUs) as follows:
in EUR million
BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH
easybank AG
Goodwill
Since BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH is classified as held for
sale according to IFRS 5 as of 31 December 2014, the
impairment test for its goodwill was based on the sale price
less disposal costs. In the previous year, the recoverable
amount for the CGU BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH was
based on the value in use, which was estimated using
discounted cash flows.
in %
Discount rate
Sustainable growth rate
Planned profit growth rate (average for the next five years)
The discount rate is before taxes and was estimated based
on average equity returns in the sector. This discount rate
was calculated based on the pre-tax interest rate required
in IAS 36, taking into account the substantial tax loss
carryforwards of BAWAG P.S.K. Group. The risk-free
interest rate used is the yield on government bonds with a
remaining term to maturity of 30 years published by the
German central bank. This discount rate is adjusted by
applying a risk premium that reflects the higher general risk
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31.12.2014
1
1

31.12.2013
58
1
59

The material assumptions made in estimating the
recoverable amount of easybank AG are explained below.
Material assumptions are based on assessments of future
developments in the relevant sectors and are based on
information obtained from external and internal sources.

2014
10.7%
1.0%
5.3%

2013
11.1%
1.0%
20.2%

associated with an equity investment and the specific risk
of the individual cash generating unit.
The cash flow projections are based on the annual profits
planned by the management of the company for the next
five years and a perpetual growth rate thereafter. The
sustainable growth rate was determined on the basis of the
estimated long-term annual profit growth rate, which
matches the assumption that a market participant would
make.
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Sensitivity Analysis as of 31.12.2014
A sensitivity analysis was used to test the robustness of the
impairment test for goodwill, which was based on the
assumptions outlined above. A change in the discount rate
and a change in growth were chosen as the relevant
parameters. The table below shows to what extent an

easybank AG, Vienna

increase in the discount rate or a decline in growth after
2015 could occur without the fair value of the cash
generating units sinking below the carrying value (equity
plus goodwill).
Change in discount
rate (in pts)
66

Change in growth
after 2015 (in %)
<(100)%

Change in discount
rate (in pts)
389
5,304

Change in growth
after 2015 (in %)
(66.15)%
<(100)%

Sensitivity Analysis as of 31.12.2013
BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH
easybank AG, Vienna

21 | Tax assets
The deferred tax assets reported on the Statement of
Financial Position are the result of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts pursuant to IFRS and the

valuations of the following items according to the tax
requirements:

Net deferred tax assets on Statement of Financial Position
in EUR million
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and receivables
Provisions
Tax loss carryforwards
Other
Deferred tax assets
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Assets held for trading
Hedging derivatives
Internally generated intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets on Statement of Financial Position

31.12.2014
39
121
63
253
1
477
18
53
2
56
88
1
1
15
234
243

31.12.2013
28
32
48
242
1
351
12
47
–
43
3
–
1
–
106
245
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For each Group member, the deferred tax assets and
liabilities pertaining to the same local tax authority were
offset against each other and reported under Tax assets or
Tax liabilities.
The Group’s assets included deferred tax assets accounted
for on the grounds of the recognized benefits arising from
as yet unused tax losses in the amount of EUR 253 million
(2013: EUR 242 million). The majority of the tax losses
could be carried forward for an unlimited period. The
untaxed portion of the liability reserve was EUR 372.9
million (2013: EUR 372.9 million).

As of 31 December 2014, unused tax losses amounted to
EUR 1,205 million (2013: EUR 1,337 million) at the level of
BAWAG P.S.K., EUR 91 million (2013: EUR 65 million) at
the level of members of the tax group included in the
consolidated financial statements and EUR 67 million
(2013: EUR 75 million) at the level of other companies
included in the consolidated financial statements, for a total
of EUR 1,363 million (2013: EUR 1,477 million). For the
tax group, another EUR 1,485 million are available on the
level of BAWAG Holding GmbH (2013: EUR 1,495 million).

22 | Other assets
31.12.2014
28
11
72
111

in EUR million
Accruals
Leasing objects not in operation yet
Other items
Other assets
The other items include accounts relating to payment in the
amount of EUR 35 million (2013: EUR 56 million) and
miscellaneous other assets in the amount of EUR 37
million (2013: EUR 30 million). In 2013, the other items

31.12.2013
28
9
236
273

also included purchase price receivables from the sale of
the Company building located at Georg-Coch-Platz 2, 1018
Vienna, in the amount of EUR 150 million, which were
settled in January 2014.

23 | Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
in EUR million
Issued bonds, subordinated and supplementary capital
Issued bonds (own issues)
Subordinated capital
Supplementary capital
Short-term notes and non-listed private placements
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
The Issued bonds are listed issues. The decrease
compared to the previous year was driven by the
redemption of an own issue with a notional value of EUR
960 million in February 2014.
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss include issues of the former P.S.K. which are
guaranteed by the Republic of Austria.
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31.12.2014
1,675
158
361
25
1,131
1,675

31.12.2013
2,968
1,361
420
27
1,160
2,968

The carrying amount of the securities issued by BAWAG
P.S.K. and recognized at their fair value as of 31 December
2014 was EUR 132 million above their repayment amount
(2013: EUR 112 million above the repayment amount).
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24 | Financial liabilities held for trading
in EUR million
Derivatives trading book
Foreign currency derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Derivatives banking book
Foreign currency derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Credit related derivatives
Financial liabilities held for trading

31.12.2014
403
188
215
771
316
452
3
1,174

31.12.2013
342
251
91
956
498
452
6
1,298

31.12.2014
2,420
21,135
3,439
4,321
5,344
5,654
1,814
563
4,438
2,024
500
107
1,807
27,993

31.12.2013
1,646
22,013
5,301
4,132
5,147
4,912
1,972
549
4,563
2,070
489
118
1,886
28,222

25 | Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
in EUR million
Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers
Savings deposits – fixed interest rates
Savings deposits – variable interest rates
Deposit accounts – variable interest rates
Current accounts – Retail
Current accounts – Corporates
Other deposits1)
Issued bonds, subordinated and supplementary capital
Issued bonds
Subordinated capital
Supplementary capital
Short-term notes and unlisted private placements
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
1) Primarily time deposits.

The bonds issued by BAWAG P.S.K. were listed securities.
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26 | Issued bonds, subordinated and supplementary capital
Issued bonds, subordinated and supplementary capital are
shown in the category Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss and in the category Financial

in EUR million
Issued bonds (own issues)
Subordinated capital
Supplementary capital
Short-term notes and unlisted
private placements
Total

Recognized at fair value
2014
2013
158
1,361
361
420
25
27

liabilities measured at amortized cost. The total volume
amounts to (IFRS book values):

Recognized at amortized cost
2014
2013
2,024
2,070
500
489
107
118

Total
2014
2,182
861
132

2013
3,431
909
145

1,131

1,160

1,807

1,886

2,938

3,046

1,675

2,968

4,438

4,563

6,113

7,531

The following table shows the main conditions of issued bonds exceeding a nominal value of EUR 200 million:

Covered
Covered

EUR
EUR

Nominal value
in EUR million
500
500

XS0115996646

Senior Unsecured

EUR

350

Variable

XS0987169637
AT0000A0JR13
AT0000A0Y1R8
CH0011261168

Lower Tier II
Senior Unsecured
Residential building bond
Lower Tier II

EUR
EUR
EUR
CHF

300
246
244
208

Fixed
Fixed
Fixed
Fixed

ISIN
XS0562155902
XS0830444039

Type

Currency

Hybrid Capital
BAWAG Capital Finance (Jersey) Limited exercised its call
option in relation to Perpetual Non-Cumulative Non-Voting
Fixed/Floating Rate Preference Shares issued in 2000. After
the redemption of all preference shares in July 2014,
BAWAG Capital Finance (Jersey) Limited was deleted from
the companies register effective 24 September 2014. There
was no extraordinary result from this transaction recognized
in the consolidated annual financial statements.
As of the reporting date, BAWAG P.S.K. had issued one
hybrid capital issue (BCF II). The hybrid capital issue is
reported as a liability according to IFRS and is reported as

100

Type of interest
payment
Fixed
Fixed

Coupon
2.625%
1.875%
3M EURIBOR
-0.1%
8.125%
3.375%
2.625%
4.500%

Maturity date
26.11.2015
18.09.2019
25.08.2015
30.10.2023
09.08.2015
18.01.2028
16.10.2015

subordinated capital in the overview above. This issue is
included in the amount of 80% in Additional Tier I capital
and in the amount of 20% in Tier II for the calculation of the
Group own funds according to CRR in 2014.
No changes in the terms of BCF II are provided for during
their tenor. Only the issuer has an ordinary right of
redemption. The calling dates and current interest rates of
the note left after the buyback are as follows:
 BCF II: EUR 83 million nominal value (31 December
2013: EUR 83 million), callable quarterly (shown in
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost), fixed
interest rate 7.125%.
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27 | Deposits from customers
The following table depicts the breakdown of deposits from customers by product class and business sector.

Deposits from customers – Breakdown by product class and business sector

in EUR million
Savings deposits
Savings accounts
Fixed-term investment savings
accounts
Savings associations
Other deposits
Retail
Corporates
Non credit institutions
Central governments
Deposits from customers

Financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or
At amortized cost
loss
31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2013
–
–
7,760
9,433
–
–
4,099
3,863

Total
31.12.2014
7,760
4,099

31.12.2013
9,433
3,863

–

–

3,484

5,327

3,484

5,327

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

177
13,375
8,854
3,819
354
348
21,135

243
12,580
8,305
3,535
513
227
22,013

177
13,375
8,854
3,819
354
348
21,135

243
12,580
8,305
3,535
513
227
22,013
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28 | Liabilities maturities
The following tables depict a breakdown of the financial liabilities by legal maturity.

Financial liabilities – Breakdown by remaining period to maturity 2014
31.12.2014
in EUR million
Liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Bonds
Subordinated capital
Supplementary capital
Short-term notes and non-listed private
placements
Liabilities at amortized cost
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks
Bonds
Subordinated capital
Supplementary capital
Short-term notes and non-listed private
placements
Total

Up to
3 months

3 months
up to 1 year

1–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

–
–
–

5
230
–

120
14
25

33
117
–

158
361
25

22

85

436

588

1,131

15,836
738
44
–
11

3,697
129
1,192
–
89

1,411
1,114
736
–
7

191
439
52
500
–

21,135
2,420
2,024
500
107

5

51

294

1,457

1,807

16,656

5,478

4,157

3,377

29,668

3 months
up to 1 year

1–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

Financial liabilities – Breakdown by remaining period to maturity 2013
31.12.2013
in EUR million
Liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Bonds
Subordinated capital
Supplementary capital
Short-term notes and non-listed private
placements
Liabilities at amortized cost
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks
Bonds
Subordinated capital
Supplementary capital
Short-term notes and non-listed private
placements
Total

102

Up to
3 months

928
27
–

268
–
–

105
242
27

60
151
–

1,361
420
27

–

50

308

802

1,160

13,283
985
15
–
–

3,019
20
–
–
–

2,398
377
1,532
–
107

3,313
264
523
489
11

22,013
1,646
2,070
489
118

57

70

336

1,423

1,886

15,295

3,427

5,432

7,036

31,190
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29 | Provisions
31.12.2014
489
98
359
32
27
27
6
522

in EUR million
Provisions for social capital
Thereof for severance payments
Thereof for pension provisions
Thereof for jubilee benefits
Anticipated losses from pending business
Credit promises and guarantees
Other items including legal risks
Provisions

31.12.2013
435
98
303
34
32
32
37
504

for anticipated losses on pending business in the amount of
EUR 19 million and other risks including legal risks in the
amount of EUR 3 million are expected to be used after
more than twelve months.

In 2013, the line item Other items including legal risks
concerned primarily legal proceedings relating to Refco.
Provisions for social capital are long-term liabilities. The
increase of pension provisions is due to the negative impact
from the change of the interest rate to 2.05%. Provisions

Changes in social capital

in EUR million
Defined benefit obligation as of 01.01.2014
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gain/loss
from demographic assumptions
from financial assumptions
Return on plan assets excluding interest income
recognized in profit or loss
Other
Payments
Other
Defined benefit obligation as of 31.12.2014
Fair value of plan assets
Provision as of 31.12.2014

Provisions for
post-employment
benefits
315
1
11

Provisions for
severance
payments
98
5
3

Provisions for
jubilee benefits

Total social
capital

34
2
1

447
8
15

(4)
64

1
6

(3)
1

(6)
71

–

–

–

–

(9)
(6)
98
–
98

(3)
–
32
–
32

(15)
(1)
371
(12)
359

(27)
(7)
501
(12)
489
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in EUR million
Defined benefit obligation as of 01.01.2013
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gain/loss
from demographic assumptions
from financial assumptions
Return on plan assets excluding interest income
recognized in profit or loss
Other
Payments
Other
Defined benefit obligation as of 31.12.2013
Fair value of plan assets
Provision as of 31.12.2013

Provisions for
post-employment
benefits
306
1
11
2
10
–
(15)
–
315
(12)
303

At 31 December 2014, the weighted average duration was
15.26 years (2013: 13.95 years) for defined benefit
obligations relating to pension plans and 12.09 years

Provisions for
severance
payments
104
5
4

Provisions for
jubilee benefits

Total social
capital

34
3
1

444
9
16

(3)
3

(3)
1

(4)
14

–

–

–

(11)
(4)
98
–
98

(2)
–
34
–
34

(28)
(4)
447
(12)
435

(2013: 12.06 years) for obligations arising from severance
payments.

Assignable unit-linked pension fund assets
in EUR million
Pension fund assets as of 01.01.2014
Additions
Pension fund assets as of 31.12.2014
The fair value changes contain expected returns on plan
assets, actuarial gains and losses, contributions by the
employer, contributions by plan participants and benefits
paid.

in %
Bonds
Equities
Cash and cash equivalents
Other
Bonds issued by BAWAG P.S.K. amount to 0.05% of plan
assets.
All equity securities and fixed income bonds have quoted
prices in active markets. All fixed income investments are
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2014
12
–
12

2013
11
1
12

The Pension fund assets consist of:

2014
77%
14%
0%
9%

2013
81%
13%
1%
5%

mainly issued by European issuers and have an average
rating of A.
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The strategic investment policy of the pension fund can be
summarized as follows:
 a strategic asset mix comprising 57% government
bonds, 15% corporates, 14% equities and 14% other
investments;
 the weighting of the investment classes may vary from
the long-term strategic asset allocation within a defined
range: government bonds: 28%–86%, corporates: 0%–
25%, equities: 0%–20%, other investments: 0%–20%;

 interest rate risk is monitored and managed through
active duration risk management of all fixed income
assets;
 currency risk is managed with the objective of reducing
the risk to a maximum of 30%.
BAWAG P.S.K. expects that payments in the amount of
EUR 0.3 million will have to be made to the pension fund in
2015.

Sensitivity Analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one
of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other
assumptions constant, would have resulted in the following
defined benefit obligation for pension and severance

payments. The basis for the calculation is the present value
of the defined benefit obligations as of 31 December 2014
in the amount of EUR 469 million:

Sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2014

in EUR million
Discount rate – 1 percentage point movement
Future salary growth – 1 percentage point movement
Attrition – 1 percentage point movement
Future mortality – 1 percentage point movement (post-employment benefits only)

Provisions for post-employment
benefits and severance payments
Increase of
Decrease of
variable
variable
410
545
544
410
451
472
370
372

Sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2013

in EUR million
Discount rate – 1 percentage point movement
Future salary growth – 1 percentage point movement
Attrition – 1 percentage point movement
Future mortality – 1 percentage point movement (post-employment benefits only)

Provisions for post-employment
benefits and severance payments
Increase of
Decrease of
variable
variable
365
474
474
364
396
417
314
316
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Changes in other provisions
in EUR million
Other provisions
Anticipated losses from pending business
Other items

Balance
01.01.2014
69
32
37

in EUR million
Other provisions
Anticipated losses from pending business
Other items

Balance
01.01.2013
51
14
37

Added

Used

Released

2
1
1

(1)
–
(1)

(37)
(6)
(31)

Added

Used

Released

22
21
1

(3)
(3)
–

(1)
–
(1)

Balance
31.12.2014
33
27
6
Balance
31.12.2013
69
32
37

30 | Tax liabilities
Provisions for Deferred Taxes
The deferred tax liabilities reported on the Statement of
Financial Position are the result of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts pursuant to IFRS and the
in EUR million
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities on Statement of Financial Position
Temporary differences for which no deferred tax liabilities
were recognized, as permitted by IAS 12.39, came to EUR
96 million (2013: EUR 231 million). IAS 12.39 stipulates
that, in the case of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax liabilities do not

valuations of the following items according to the tax
requirements:

31.12.2014
1
–
2
3
3

31.12.2013
–
7
3
10
10

have to be recognized if the parent is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will be reversed in
the foreseeable future.

31 | Other obligations
in EUR million
Accounts relating to payment
Liabilities resulting from restructuring
Other liabilities
Accruals
Other obligations
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31.12.2014
228
120
163
6
517

31.12.2013
197
142
130
8
477
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32 | Disclosures in compliance with IFRS 5 – Assets in disposal groups and Obligations in disposal groups
According to IFRS 5, disposal groups consisting of assets
and liabilities are to be classified as held for sale when the
associated carrying amount stems primarily from a sale
transaction and not from continued usage, and the sale is
expected to be effected within twelve months. For this
reason, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of
BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH are reported on the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position under the
items Assets in disposal groups and Obligations in disposal

groups. The following table shows a breakdown of these
items.
The proceeds of sale exceed the carrying amount of the
related net assets and, accordingly, no impairment losses
were recognized on the reclassification as held for sale.
The segment “Retail Banking and Small Business”
includes BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH.
2014
68
58
7
3
6
2
4

in EUR million
Assets in disposal groups
Goodwill
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Other assets
Obligations in disposal groups
Provisions
Other obligations

33 | Hedging derivatives
in EUR million
Hedging derivatives in fair value hedges
Positive market values
Negative market values
BAWAG P.S.K. uses fair value hedge accounting to account
for hedges of interest rate risk inherent in fixed-rate
financial instruments. Hedging instruments are usually
interest rate swaps. The hedged items are securities in the

31.12.2014

31.12.2013

546
160

164
126

category Available-for-sale financial assets as well as the
Bank’s own issues, savings accounts and loans to
customers that are recognized at amortized cost.
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Notional of hedged items
in EUR million
31.12.2014
Available-for-sale financial
1,605
assets
Securities
1,605
Financial instruments
11,375
recognized at amortized cost
Securities
163
Own issues
3,224
Savings deposits of customers
3,592
Loans to customers
305
Liabilities to customers
4,091
Total
12,980

31.12.2013

Net result of hedged item
and hedging instrument recognized in the financial year
31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Net book value of
hedging instruments
31.12.2014

1,938

(89)

(69)

(2)

4

1,938

(89)

(69)

(2)

4

9,012
180
3,464
3,510
305
1,553
10,950

475
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6

12

(9)
284
30
(54)
224
386

(8)
117
10
(20)
8
38

–
5
1
(1)
1
4

–
11
–
–
1
16

The effects of changes in the value of the hedging
instrument and the hedged item are shown under Note 4
Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities.

34 | Equity
Share Capital
BAWAG P.S.K. has fully paid in share capital of EUR 250
million divided into 250,000,000 shares which remained
unchanged compared to the previous year.

Participation Capital
The Shareholder Meeting of BAWAG P.S.K. AG passed a
resolution on 12 March 2014 approving the full redemption
of the outstanding participation capital in the amount of
EUR 350 million effective 13 March 2014. The Austrian
Financial Market Authority (FMA) granted approval for the
redemption of the remaining participation capital.
In addition, BAWAG P.S.K. AG paid a dividend of EUR 47.7
million for 2013 to the holders of the participation capital as
well as a pro-rata dividend of EUR 6.8 million for the first
quarter of 2014.

Shareholder's Contribution and Movements in Own Funds
Effective 11 March 2014, a capital contribution of EUR 125
million was made to BAWAG P.S.K. AG in the form of a
grandparent capital contribution subscribed by existing
shareholders.
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By way of a resolution dated 31 July 2014, a prepayment
on the annual surplus (interim dividend) in the amount of
EUR 10 million was paid to the shareholders of BAWAG
P.S.K., BAWAG Holding GmbH and Pa-Zweiundsechzigste
WT Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH. The related amount of
dividends per share was 4 Cent.

Non Controlling Interests
BAWAG Malta Bank Ltd. dissolved an investment structure
(Rhein Limited, Bodensee Limited) with a minority
shareholder after redeeming all securities recognized in
Rhein Limited. Rhein Limited was liquidated with effect
from 5 December 2014. Bodensee Ltd. was put into
liquidation by way of a shareholder resolution dated 9
September 2014.

Liability Reserve (Haftrücklage)
Credit institutions are to allocate a liability reserve
(Haftrücklage) according to section 57 paragraph 5 BWG.
The liability reserve may be reversed only insofar as this is
required to meet obligations pursuant to section 93 or to
cover other losses to be reported in the annual financial
statements.
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Changes in other comprehensive income

in EUR million
Total comprehensive income 2014
Consolidated profit/loss
Income and expenses recognized directly in
equity
Changes in AFS reserves
Income and expenses recognized
directly in equity (before taxes)
Reclassified due to realized profit/loss
(before taxes)
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates accounted for using the equity
method
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit
pension plans
Income taxes

in EUR million
Total comprehensive income 2013
Consolidated profit/loss
Income and expenses recognized directly in
equity
Foreign exchange differences
Changes in AFS reserves
Income and expenses recognized
directly in equity (before taxes)
Reclassified due to realized profit/loss
(before taxes)
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates accounted for using the equity
method
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit
pension plans
Income taxes

AFS reserve

Foreign
exchange
differences

Actuarial
gains/
losses

Equity w/o
noncontrolling
interests

Noncontrolling
interests

Equity
including
noncontrolling
interests

333.1
333.1

8.2
–

–
–

(50.1)
–

291.2
333.1

3.3
3.3

294.5
336.4

–

8.2

–

(50.1)

(41.9)

–

9.4

–

–

9.4

–

9.4

–

9.4

–

–

9.4

–

9.4

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1.5

–

–

1.5

–

1.5

–

–

–

(66.8)

(66.8)

–

(66.8)

(2.7)

–

16.7

14.0

–

14.0

Retained
reserves

AFS reserve

Foreign
exchange
differences

Actuarial
gains/
losses

Equity w/o
noncontrolling
interests

229.1
229.1

(72.8)
–

(0.5)
–

(9.8)
–

146.0
229.1

–

(72.8)

(0.5)

(9.8)

(83.1)

10.5

(72.6)

–
–

–
(99.8)

(0.5)
–

–
–

(0.5)
(99.8)

–
10.5

(0.5)
(89.3)

–

(4.1)

–

–

(4.1)

10.5

6.4

–

(95.7)

–

–

(95.7)

–

(95.7)

–

(0.7)

–

–

(0.7)

–

(0.7)

(13.1)

–

(13.1)

31.0

–

31.0

Retained
reserves

–

–

–

–

–

27.7

–

(13.1)
3.3

–

Noncontrolling
interests

3.2
(7.3)

(41.9)

Equity
including
noncontrolling
interests

149.2
221.8
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Deferred income taxes recognized in Other comprehensive income
Before
taxes
in EUR million
AFS reserve
Actuarial gains (losses) on
defined benefit pension plans
Income and expenses recognized
directly in equity

110

Income taxes

After
taxes

Before
taxes

Income taxes

After
taxes

10.9

01.01.–31.12.2014
(2.7)

(66.8)

16.7

(50.1)

(13.1)

3.3

(9.8)

(55.9)

14.0

(41.9)

(113.6)

31.0

(82.6)

8.2

(100.5)

01.01.–31.12.2013
27.7
(72.8)
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SEGMENT REPORTING
This information is based on the Group structure as of 31
December 2014.

been adjusted accordingly. A summary of the major
changes and rationale are described below:

The segment reporting presents the results of the operating
business segments of BAWAG P.S.K. Group. The following
segment information is based on IFRS 8 Operating
Segments, which follows the management approach. In
this, the segment information is prepared on the basis of
the internal reports used by the Managing Board to assess
the performance of the segments and to make decisions on
allocating resources to the segments.

Since 1 January 2014, BAWAG P.S.K. has been managed
in accordance with the following four main business and
reporting segments, while the responsibilities for the
operational decisions remain unchanged.

The breakdown of the net interest income and its allocation
to the segments in the management report is based on the
principles of the market interest rate method, also taking
into account allocated liquidity costs and premiums.
According to this method, it is assumed that asset and
liability items are refinanced by means of money and
capital market transactions with corresponding maturities,
and that there is therefore no interest rate risk. This method
was refined in 2014, and funding costs are now more
accurately reflected in the internal funds transfer pricing.
The interest rate risk is managed actively through asset and
liability management, and the results of this are reported by
the Corporate Center. The remaining earnings components
and the directly allocable costs are assigned to the
respective units of the Company on the basis of where they
are incurred. The overhead costs are assigned to the
individual segments according to an allocation factor.
Furthermore, trading book derivatives – as non-core legacy
positions – were reallocated from Treasury Services and
Markets to Corporate Center/ALM.
As of January 2014, certain changes in the business
segment reporting were made to reflect the adjustments in
the overall strategy, developments and business
management at BAWAG P.S.K. The prior year’s figures have

 Retail Banking and Small Business – includes savings,
payment, card and lending activities for our private
customers, investment and insurance services, small
business lending and financial services including our
social housing activities, as well as leasing solutions and
products.
 Corporate Lending and Investments – includes our
Austrian corporate lending activities and other fee-driven
financial services as well as our international corporate
and real estate investment activities.
 Treasury Services and Markets – includes the activities
associated with providing trading and investment
services for our Group treasury activities including
certain asset-liability management activities and the
investment results of our portfolio of financial securities.
 Corporate Center – includes unallocated items related to
Group support functions for the entire Bank and certain
activities and results related to subsidiary and
participation holdings as well as the results of our liquidity
portfolio.
Our segments are aligned with our core business strategies
as well as our objective of providing transparent reporting of
our business unit and Bank-wide results, including
minimizing financial impacts and activities within the
Corporate Center.
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The segments in detail:
Retail Banking and Corporate Lending
Small Business
and Investments
in EUR million
2014
2013
2014
2013
Net interest income
398.0
343.6
212.6
200.6
Net fee and commission income
159.8
147.1
42.4
51.5
Core revenues
557.8
490.7
255.0
252.1
Gains and losses on financial
0.8
35.0
3.4
10.1
instruments
Other operating income and
3.3
2.6
0.0
0.0
expenses
Operating income
561.9
528.3
258.4
262.3
Operating expenses
(363.5) (427.6)
(80.9)
(91.9)
Bank levy
–
–
–
–
Total risk costs
(41.5)
(23.5)
(34.5)
(53.9)
Share of the profit or loss of
–
–
–
–
associates accounted for using
the equity method
Profit before tax
156.9
77.2
143.0
116.5
Income taxes
–
–
–
–
Profit after tax
156.9
77.2
143.0
116.5
Non-controlling interests
–
–
–
–
Net profit
156.9
77.2
143.0
116.5
Business volumes
Assets
9,579
9,525 13,885 12,938
Refinancing of business
18,746 19,559
3,230
3,289
Risk-weighted assets
3,420
3,102
7,643
6,993
Return on risk-weighted assets
4.81%
1.81%
1.95%
1.47%
Net interest margin
4.17%
3.56%
1.59%
1.43%
Cost-income ratio
64.7%
80.9%
31.3%
35.0%
Because the internal and external reporting of BAWAG
P.S.K. are fully harmonized, the total of reportable
segments’ measures of profit or loss do not differ from the
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Treasury Services
and Markets
2014
2013
52.6
49.6
0.0
0.0
52.6
49.6

Corporate Center
2014
28.8
(4.5)
24.3

2013
(13.7)
(10.5)
(24.2)

Total
2014
691.8
197.8
889.6

2013
580.2
188.0
768.2

24.8

38.8

6.8

132.2

35.9

216.1

0.0

0.0

11.0

47.0

14.3

49.7

77.4
(21.6)
–
0.0

88.4
(35.6)
–
0.0

–

–

55.8
–
55.8
–
55.8

52.8
–
52.8
–
52.8

5,755
0
2,172
3.12%
0.97%
27.9%

5,124
448
1,407
3.46%
0.95%
40.3%

42.1
(33.2)
(24.6)
1.6
0.9
(13.2)
(8.8)
(22.0)
(0.6)
(22.7)
5,432
12,675
3,557
n/a
n/a
n/a

155.0
(125.7)
(25.3)
(20.9)
(0.9)
(17.7)
1.7
(16.0)
(1.4)
(17.4)
8,815
13,106
4,499
n/a
n/a
n/a

939.8 1,034.0
(499.2) (680.8)
(24.6)
(25.3)
(74.4)
(98.2)
0.9
342.5
(8.8)
333.7
(0.6)
333.1
34,651
34,651
16,792
2.03%
1.95%
53.1%

Group’s profit or loss. Therefore, no separate reconciliation
column is shown in the segment table.

(0.9)
228.8
1.7
230.5
(1.4)
229.1
36,402
36,402
16,001
1.25%
1.49%
65.8%
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The segment result is reconciled with the Consolidated Profit or Loss Statement as follows:

in EUR million
Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities according to segment report
Gains and losses on financial assets attributable to non-controlling interests
Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities according to Consolidated Profit
or Loss Statement

2014
35.9
2.7

2013
216.1
(8.7)

38.7

207.4

in EUR million
Other operating income and expenses according to segment report
Bank levy
Other operating income and expenses according to Consolidated Profit or Loss
Statement

2014
14.2
(24.6)

2013
49.7
(25.3)

(10.4)

24.4

2014
342.5
2.7
345.2

2013
228.8
(8.7)
220.1

in EUR million
Profit before tax according to segment report
Gains and losses on financial assets attributable to non-controlling interests
Profit before tax according to Consolidated Profit or Loss Statement
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The capital management system employed by BAWAG
P.S.K. is based on own funds as defined by the CRR
(Capital Requirements Regulation) and the corresponding
national regulations and the economic capital management
approach related to the Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process (ICAAP).

BAWAG P.S.K. constantly monitors its compliance with the
warning levels and therefore at the same time with the
stipulated own funds ratios, i.e. total capital, on the basis of
the notifications sent to Oesterreichische Nationalbank (the
Austrian national bank) and on the basis of current
business developments.

The ICAAP of BAWAG P.S.K. is modeled taking into account
the Bank’s business and risk profile and is an integral part
of the planning and the control system. In the course of the
ICAAP, the risk-bearing capacity of the Bank is ensured
and the efficient use of capital for risk coverage monitored.
In addition, stress tests round out the steering process.

The budgeted business volumes are also compared with
the expected movements in the eligible own funds at the
beginning of every financial year. In addition to the riskweighted assets, the calculation also includes the own
funds requirement for the securities trading book (using an
internal value-at-risk model including stress) and the own
funds requirement to cover operational risk. Besides
regulatory capital management, economic capital limits
aligned with the business plan are assigned to the business
segments as part of the ICAAP process.

As part of the SREP (Supervisory Review and Evaluation
Process) within the JRAD (Joint Risk Assessment and
Decision) framework and in accordance with the
Comprehensive Bank Assessment of the ECB, the overall
bank risk management process of BAWAG P.S.K. Group
was reviewed in detail. As a result, it was concluded that
the level of own funds held within BAWAG P.S.K. Group
with respect to its financial situation and risk profile is
adequate. The official notification also includes the
specification of a SREP (Supervisory Review and Evaluation
Process) ratio, which requires the maintenance of a
minimum overall capital ratio in pillar 1 to meet the
requirements for pillar 2. In addition to the minimum
capital ratios required by the regulators, BAWAG P.S.K.
defines early warning levels in its recovery plan as well as
the recovery phase and corresponding processes. The
warning levels refer to liquidity and regulatory capital
figures. The recovery plan was prepared within the
framework of BSAG (Bundesgesetz über die Sanierung und
Abwicklung von Banken, “Austrian Banking Resolution and
Recovery Act”).
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The Bank employs a centralized capital management
system. The main responsibilities of this function are to
continuously monitor the development of the Bank’s
business, to analyze changes in its risk-weighted assets
and to reconcile those with the available regulatory own
funds or the ICAAP limit and utilizations for each segment.
BAWAG P.S.K. manages its capital position based on a fully
loaded CRR environment and therefore without the benefit
of any transitional capital components. The Capital
Management Team gives recommendations to the
Managing Board for increasing the own funds coverage
when necessary and reports to the Enterprise Risk Meeting
once a month.
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The following table shows the breakdown of the Group’s
own funds applying transitional rules and its own funds
requirement as per 31 December 2014 pursuant to CRR
applying IFRS figures and the CRR scope of consolidation
(BAWAG P.S.K. and Promontoria Sacher N.V. Group) and
as per 31 December 2013 pursuant to BWG based on
BAWAG P.S.K. Group. Since 2014, regulatory reporting has
been done on the level of BAWAG Holding and Promontoria
Sacher N.V. Group. BAWAG P.S.K. is therefore presented
for comparability reasons only. Own funds and capital

ratios do not differ significantly from those of BAWAG P.S.K.
Group. The main differences between the consolidation
groups result from the valuation of share based payments,
the revaluation of intangible assets and equity instruments
as well as dividend payments.
As own funds and capital ratios of BAWAG Holding Group
and Promontoria Sacher Group do not differ significantly,
the following table only depicts Promontoria Sacher Group.

in EUR million
Share capital
Participation capital
Reserves (including funds for general banking risk) after deduction
of intangible assets
Other comprehensive income
Less shareholdings held for investment purposes, IRB risk
provision shortfalls
Minorities
Hybrid capital1)
Prudent valuation, cumulative gains due to changes in own credit
risk on fair valued liabilities, prudential filter for unrealized gains
Excess of deduction from AT1 items over AT1 capital
Common Equity Tier I (CRR) / Core Tier I (BWG)
Hybrid capital1)
IRB risk provision shortfall
Deduction of intangible assets
Excess of deduction from AT1 items over AT1 capital
Additional Tier I (CRR)
Tier I (CRR/BWG)
Supplementary and subordinated debt capital
Hybrid capital1)
Excess IRB risk provisions2)
Less shareholdings held for investment purposes, IRB risk
provision shortfalls
Total Tier II (CRR/BWG)
Tier III3)
Own funds

Promontoria
31.12.2014
0
0

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2014
250
0

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2013
250
350

2,463

2,119

1,343

20

20

n/a

(11)

(11)

(45)

0
n/a

0
n/a

404
142

(148)

(148)

n/a

(235)
2,089
68
(21)
(282)
235
0
2,089
533
17
21

(86)
2,144
68
(21)
(133)
86
0
2,144
533
17
21

n/a
2,444
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
2,444
582
n/a
n/a

(43)

(43)

528
n/a
2,617

528
n/a
2,672

(45)
537
10
2,991

1) According to CRR, hybrid capital is partially eligible among Additional Tier I and Tier II.
2) According to BWG, eligible in Tier I as offsetting item under item IRB risk provision shortfalls.
3) According to CRR, Tier III capital is not included in own funds.

115

BAWAG P.S.K. CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2014

Capital requirements based on a transitional basis

in EUR million
Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk
Capital requirements

Promontoria
31.12.2014
1,195
8
129
1,332

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2014
1,193
8
129
1,330

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2013
1,141
10
129
1,280

Promontoria
31.12.2014
11.8%
15.4%

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2014
12.1%
15.8%

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2013
n/a
n/a

Promontoria
31.12.2014
12.5%
15.7%

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2014
12.9%
16.1%

BAWAG P.S.K.
31.12.2013
15.3%
18.7%

Supplemental information on a fully loaded basis

Common Equity Tier I capital ratio based on total risk
Total capital ratio based on total risk

Key figures according to CRR including its transitional rules

Common Equity Tier I capital ratio based on total risk
Total capital ratio based on total risk
During the financial year 2014, BAWAG P.S.K. always
complied with the imposed capital requirement of 4% for
Common Equity Tier I ratio and of 8% for Total capital ratio
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according to Article 1 of the Austrian CRR Supplementary
Regulation.
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FURTHER DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY IFRS
35 | Fair value
The following table depicts the fair values of the Statement
of Financial Position items. These are the prices that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants on the
measurement date. If market prices were available on a
stock exchange or other functioning market, they were
used.
If no current, liquid market values were available, generally
accepted, standard state-of-the-art methods of
measurement were used. This applies to the category
liabilities evidenced by paper (issued by BAWAG P.S.K.),
structured credit transactions for which there are no active
markets, and, in individual cases, other current financial
assets in the Bank’s trading portfolio where the valuation of
plain vanilla securities was performed on the basis of the
yield curve plus the current credit spread.
The measurement of fair value of customer business was
carried out by applying credit spreads for each customer
category. The blanket credit spreads are applied for the
following customer categories: credit institutions,
commercial customers, public sector and private
customers, for which mortgage loans and other loans are
considered separately. The credit spreads in customer
business are derived by analyzing both external data
(market developments and OeNB statistics) and internal
default statistics.
Linear derivative financial instruments containing no
optional components (such as interest rate swaps, currency
forwards and futures) were also measured using a present
value technique (discounting of future cash flows applying
the current swap curve, derivatives with counterparties with
a Credit Support Annex [CSA] agreement are discounted by
the OIS/EONIA-curve).
Optional instruments were measured using option price
models such as Black-Scholes (swaptions, caps, floors),
Garman-Kohlhagen (currency options) or the Hull-White
model (swaps with multiple cancellation rights), which were
implemented and applied consistently in the front office
systems.

The basic parameters on which the models are based
(yield curves, volatilities and exchange rates) are input into
the system by the Market Risk unit independently of the
Treasury division, which ensures the separation of front
office functions from back office processing and control.
For more complex derivatives that are held for hedging
purposes and that are concluded back to back, external
valuations are obtained by the Market Risk unit and input
into the systems for correct processing.
Standard providers such as Reuters are used to evaluate
the spreads of issued securities recognized at fair value
through profit or loss; for this, a BAWAG P.S.K. senior
unsecured spread curve is derived from a defined pool of
bank bonds, additionally taking into account a liquidity and
rating premium. For covered issues, the spread curve is
derived from the quotations of BAWAG P.S.K. benchmark
bonds. The securities prices for BAWAG P.S.K. issues are
then calculated by discounting the swap curve adapted by
the spread.
In 2014, the portion of change in fair values of securities
issued by BAWAG P.S.K. accounted for solely by changes in
our credit spreads was minus EUR 7.0 million (minus EUR
2.3 million as of 31 December 2013). As of 31 December
2014, the cumulative fair value change resulting from
changes in our credit rating amounted to EUR 33.1 million
(EUR 36.8 million as of 31 December 2013).
A one basis point narrowing of the credit spread is
expected to change their valuation by minus EUR 0.4
million (minus EUR 0.5 million as of 31 December 2013).
The cumulative fair value change of receivables recognized
at fair value through profit or loss that was recognized due
to changes in our credit rating amounted to plus EUR 2.8
million as of 31 December 2014. The respective annual fair
value change also amounted to plus EUR 2.8 million. (plus
EUR 0.6 million as of 31 December 2013).
A one basis point narrowing of the credit spread is
expected to change their valuation by plus EUR 0.12
million (plus EUR 0.12 million as of 31 December 2013).
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Fair values of selected items on the Statement of Financial Position
The following table depicts a comparison of the carrying amounts and fair values for selected items on the Statement of
Financial Position.

in EUR million
Assets
Cash reserves
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Recognized at fair value
Recognized at cost
Held-to-maturity investments
Assets held for trading
Loans and receivables
Hedging derivatives
Tangible non-current assets
Thereof investment properties
Intangible non-current assets
Other assets
Assets in disposal groups
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Valuation adjustment on interest rate risk hedged portfolios
Hedging derivatives
Provisions
Other obligations
Obligations in disposal groups
Equity
Non-controlling interests
Total liabilities and equity
The fair values of investment properties were determined
by external property valuers having appropriate recognized
professional qualifications and recent experience in the
location and category of property being valued. The
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Carrying
Fair value
amount
31.12.2014 31.12.2014

Carrying
amount
31.12.2013

Fair value
31.12.2013

684
450

684
450

481
753

481
753

3,756
77
2,042
1,163
25,280
546
84
3
103
398
68
34,651

3,756
n/a
2,150
1,163
25,629
546
n/a
6
n/a
n/a
n/a

5,029
97
773
1,081
27,256
164
85
4
142
541
–
36,402

5,029
n/a
774
1,081
27,394
164
n/a
8
n/a
n/a
n/a

1,675
1,174
27,993
196
160
522
520
6
2,405
–
34,651

1,675
1,174
28,312
196
160
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

2,968
1,298
28,222
(2)
126
504
488
–
2,403
395
36,402

2,968
1,298
28,475
(2)
126
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

carrying amount of other assets and other obligations is a
reasonable approximation of fair value. Therefore,
information on the fair value of these items is not shown
here.
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Fair value hierarchy
includes the majority of the OTC derivative contracts,
corporate bonds and other bonds for which no quoted
price is available, as well as the majority of the Group’s
own issues that are recognized at their fair values;
 Level 3: The measurement is based on unobservable
input factors that have a material influence on the
market value. This pertains primarily to illiquid
structured securitization instruments whose value is
determined by unobservable assumptions (the outcome
of litigation, investor decisions, trigger events, etc.) as
well as own issues of BAWAG P.S.K. Wohnbaubank.
Loans and receivables and financial liabilities classified
at amortized cost are valued using the discounted cash
flow method using a spread adjusted swap curve;
 Other: This pertains to stakes in non-consolidated
subsidiaries that are classified as available for sale.

The following table depicts an analysis of the financial
instruments recognized at their fair values on the basis of
the fair value hierarchy in IFRS 13. The breakdown
consists of the following groups:
 Level 1: The value of financial instruments is measured
using a quoted price without adjustment. This includes
government bonds, bonds with quoted prices and
exchange-traded derivatives;
 Level 2: The value is measured by using input factors
(default rates, costs, liquidity, volatility, interest rates,
etc.) to derive values from quoted prices (Level 1). This
pertains to prices that are calculated using internal
models or using valuation methods, as well as to
external price quotes for securities that are traded on
markets with limited liquidity and that are demonstrably
based on observable market prices. This category

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Assets
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Assets held for trading
Loans and receivables
Hedging derivatives
Total fair value assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Valuation adjustment on interest rate risk hedged
portfolios
Hedging derivatives
Total fair value liabilities

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Others1)

3

443

4

–

450

3,508
2,141
–
–
–
5,652

248
9
1,163
2,870
546
5,279

–
–
–
22,759
–
22,763

77
–
–
–
–
77

3,833
2,150
1,163
25,629
546
33,771

–

1,150

525

–

1,675

–
–

1,174
5,837

–
22,475

–
–

1,174
28,312

–

196

–

–

196

–
–

160
8,517

–
23,000

–
–

160
31,517

Total

1) Investments in equity that are measured at cost in accordance with IAS 39.AG80–81 because their fair value cannot be measured reliably.
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31.12.2013
in EUR million
Assets
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Assets held for trading
Loans and receivables
Hedging derivatives
Total fair value assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Valuation adjustment on interest rate risk hedged
portfolios
Hedging derivatives
Total fair value liabilities

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

75

671

7

–

753

5,026
774
–
–
–
5,875

3
–
1,081
5,693
164
7,612

–
–
–
21,701
–
21,708

97
–
–
–
–
97

5,126
774
1,081
27,394
164
35,292

51

2,377

540

–

2,968

–
–

1,298
3,731

–
24,744

–
–

1,298
28,475

–

–

–
25,284

–
–

–
–
51

(2)
126
7,530

Others1)

1) Investments in equity that are measured at cost in accordance with IAS 39.AG80–81 because their fair value cannot be measured reliably.

BAWAG P.S.K. recognizes transfers between levels as of the
end of the reporting period during which the transfer has
occurred.

Movements between Level 1 and Level 2
In 2014, a total of 19 available for sale securities were
moved from Level 1 to Level 2 due to subsequently illiquid
market prices.
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Total

(2)
126
32,865
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Movements in Level 3 Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value
The changes in financial instruments accounted for at fair value through profit or loss in the Level 3 category were as
follows:
Financial
Financial
in EUR million
assets
liabilities
Opening balance as of 01.01.2014
7
540
Valuation gains (losses) in line item gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities
in profit or loss
for assets held at the end of the period
(2)
15
for assets no longer held at the end of the period
2
–
Purchases
–
–
Redemptions
(3)
(30)
Sales
–
–
Foreign exchange differences
–
–
Transfers into or out of Level 3
–
–
Closing balance as of 31.12.2014
4
525

in EUR million
Opening balance as of 01.01.2013
Valuation gains (losses) in line item gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities
in profit or loss
for assets held at the end of the period
for assets no longer held at the end of the period
Purchases
Redemptions
Sales
Foreign exchange differences
Transfers into or out of Level 3
Closing balance as of 31.12.2013
Valuation (including the parameterization of observable
input factors) is performed by a market-independent back
office department within the Risk division on a monthly
basis. Changes that have occurred are verified, as far as
possible, by comparing them to references observable on
the market.
Holdings in the amount of EUR 3 million that were reported
as Level 3 financial instruments on 31 December 2013
were disposed of in the financial year 2014. Financial
liabilities in the amount of EUR 30 million that were
reported under Level 3 in 2013 were redeemed in the
current financial year.

Financial
assets
100

Financial
liabilities
621

2
–
7
–
(101)
(1)
–
7

(2)
–
–
(79)
–
–
–
540

Quantitative and Qualitative Information regarding the Valuation
of Level 3 Financial Instruments
The main unobservable input factor for own issues of
BAWAG P.S.K. Wohnbaubank is the spread premium on
the swap curve, which is used to determine the riskadjusted discount curve. Subsequently, the fair value is
calculated by discounting the future cash flows with the
risk-adjusted discount curve. The spread premium is
currently 65 basis points for all maturities (mid).
In general, the mentioned input parameter is dependent on
the general market development of credit spreads within
the banking sector; in detail on the credit rating
development of the housing banks, with spread increases
having positive effects.
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Sensitivity Analysis of Unobservable Parameters
If the value of financial instruments is dependent on
unobservable input parameters, the precise level for these
parameters can be drawn from a range of reasonably
possible alternatives. Financial liabilities in Level 3 that are
measured at fair value through profit or loss relate to own
issues of BAWAG P.S.K. Wohnbaubank; BAWAG P.S.K had
Level 3 financial assets recognized at their fair value in the
amount of EUR 4 million as of 31 December 2013. If the

credit spread used in calculating fair value of own issues of
BAWAG P.S.K. Wohnbaubank is increased by 20 basis
points, the accumulated valuation result as of 31
December 2014 would have increased by EUR 4 million
(prior year: EUR 5 million). If the fair value of financial
assets decreased by 30%, the accumulated valuation result
as of 31 December 2014 would have decreased by minus
EUR 1.2 million (prior year: minus EUR 2.1 million).

36 | Receivables from and payables to subsidiaries and associates
BAWAG P.S.K. Group’s receivables from and payables to
non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates were as

shown below. Business relationships with these entities
were subject to normal banking terms and conditions.

Receivables from and payables to subsidiaries
in EUR million
Receivables from customers
Receivables from subsidiaries
Deposits from customers
Payables to subsidiaries

31.12.2014
63
63
25
25

31.12.2013
96
96
17
17

31.12.2014
163
22
185
28
28

31.12.2013
175
19
194
51
51

Interest income from business with subsidiaries in 2014
totaled EUR 4 million (2013: EUR 5 million) and interest
expense EUR 1 million (2013: EUR 1 million).

Receivables from and payables to associates
in EUR million
Receivables from customers
Securities
Receivables from associates
Deposits from customers
Payables to associates
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37 | Related parties
Owners of BAWAG P.S.K.
99.62% BAWAG Holding GmbH
0.38% Pa-Zweiundsechzigste WT Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH
Pa-Zweiundsechzigste WT Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH
is a 100% subsidiary of BAWAG Holding GmbH. All shares
in Pa-Zweiundsechzigste WT Beteiligungsverwaltungs
GmbH are held for BAWAG Holding GmbH by a trustee. A
company that is controlled by Cerberus Capital
Management, L.P. (Cerberus), and a company that is
controlled by GoldenTree Asset Management LP (GoldenTree) each directly hold one share in the Bank, which
confers them the right to appoint six members (in the case
of Cerberus) and one member (in the case of GoldenTree)
to the Supervisory Board of the Bank.
BAWAG Holding GmbH is wholly owned by the Dutch
financial holding company Promontoria Sacher Holding
N.V. The shareholder structure of Promontoria Sacher
Holding N.V. is as follows: (i) 51.94% is held by various
funds that are connected with Cerberus, (ii) 39.58% is held
by various funds and customer accounts that are managed
by GoldenTree, and (iii) the remaining shares are held by
other entities, including Österreichische Post AG, Generali
Holding Vienna AG and Wüstenrot Wohnungswirtschaft
registrierte Genossenschaft mit beschränkter Haftung.

Major non-fully consolidated Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and
Equity Investments of BAWAG P.S.K.
BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung AG

this company is owned by Generali Group. BAWAG P.S.K.
Versicherung AG is accounted for using the equity method
in BAWAG P.S.K. Group’s accounts. The business dealings
between BAWAG P.S.K. and BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung
AG cover insurance products, all of which are offered at
standard market terms. The business relations between
BAWAG P.S.K. and Generali are governed by contracts with
standard market terms, including a cooperation agreement,
a license agreement, a commission agreement and others.
BAWAG Allianz Vorsorgekasse AG
Half of this company is owned by BAWAG P.S.K. Group and
half by Allianz Elementar Versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft.
The assets under management totaled approximately EUR
1,030 million at the end of 2014, and are managed in equal
parts by BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH and Allianz
Investmentbank Aktiengesellschaft at standard market
terms.
PSA Payment Services Austria GmbH
BAWAG P.S.K. Group directly holds 20.82%in PSA Payment
Services Austria GmbH. PSA Payment Services Austria is
owned by several Austrian banks and banking groups. PSA
is engaged in the service and the organization of the ATM
card business. PSA Payment Services Austria is accounted
for using the equity method in BAWAG P.S.K. Group’s
accounts for the first time as at 31 December 2014.
Other subsidiaries
Please refer to Note 50 for a list of all non consolidated
subsidiaries.

BAWAG P.S.K. indirectly holds 25% plus one share of
BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung AG, Vienna. The majority of
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Transactions with Related Parties
The following table shows transactions with related parties:

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Loans and receivables –
customers
Securities
Other assets (incl. derivatives)
Financial liabilities –
customers
Other liabilities (incl.
derivatives)
Guarantees provided
Interest income
Interest expense
Net fee and commission
income

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Loans and receivables –
customers
Securities
Other assets (incl. derivatives)
Financial liabilities –
customers
Other liabilities (incl.
derivatives)
Guarantees provided
Interest income
Interest expense
Net fee and commission
income

Parent
company

Entities with joint
control of, or
significant influence
over, the entity

Subsidiaries, not
consolidated

–

1,085

63

–

164

–
–

62
2

–
7

22
–

–
–

8

–

17
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16

–

–

–

7

–

–
–
–

–
25.7
–

–
2.2
–

–
0.4
2.8

2
3.4
–

–

–

–

22.0

1.1

At-equity associates

Other
companies

Other
companies

Parent
company

Entities with joint
control of, or
significant influence
over, the entity

Subsidiaries, not
consolidated

–

190

96

–

118

–
–

73
1

–
4

18
–

–
–

2

–

15

170

7

–

1

–

6

–

–
–
–

–
3.7
0.2

–
3.5
0.2

–
0.9
4.2

1
1.3
–

–

–

–

25.0

0.6

Consultancy fees to entities with joint control of, or
significant influence over, the entity amounted to EUR 0
million in 2014 (2013: EUR 0.3 million).
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At-equity associates

Regarding related party transactions, no write-offs or loan
loss provisions were required.
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Information regarding Natural Persons
Key Management
Key management refers to the members of the Managing
Board and the Supervisory Board of BAWAG P.S.K. Total
personnel expenses including share-based payments for
the key management amount to EUR 13.0 million.
Expenses for remuneration (including accrued and
deferred bonuses and benefits in kind) relating to active
members of the Managing Board during the financial year
amounted to EUR 9.8 million (2013: EUR 8.7 million).
Thereof EUR 1.5 million have been reimbursed by the
shareholder BAWAG Holding GmbH.
Expenditures for severance pay and post-employment
benefits for the Managing Board came to EUR 2.2 million
(2013: EUR 1.2 million).
At 31 December 2014, contractual agreements governing
the payment of contributions to pension funds were in force
for all Managing Board members.
Expenses for post-employment benefits for former
members of the Managing Board and their surviving
dependents came to EUR 2.1 million (2013: EUR 1.6
million).
As of the reporting date, there was no outstanding loan or
lease financing to a member of the Managing Board (2013:
EUR 0.1 million). Loans or leasing financing to members of
the Supervisory Board totaled EUR 0.2 million (2013: EUR
0.2 million). Repayments of loans granted to executives
and staff took place as contractually agreed.
Furthermore, Managing Board members did not make use
of current account limits as of the reporting date.
Supervisory Board members made use of current account
limits in the amount of EUR 0 million (2013: EUR 0
million). Turnovers of credit cards guaranteed to third
parties by the Bank that belong to Managing Board
members amounted to EUR 0 million in December 2014
(2013: EUR 0 million). Turnovers of guaranteed credit
cards that belong to members of the Supervisory Board
amounted to EUR 0 million in December 2014 (2013: EUR
0 million).
A list of the Bank’s Boards and Officers can be found in an
appendix to the Notes.

The remuneration scheme for Supervisory Board members
approved at the Annual General Meeting stipulates that the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board shall receive EUR
60,000 per calendar year, the Deputy Chairman shall
receive EUR 40,000 per calendar year and the members of
the Supervisory Board selected at the Annual General
Meeting shall each receive EUR 30,000 per calendar year.
The chairmen of the Risk and Credit and Audit and
Compliance Committees each receive EUR 20,000 and all
other members of the Risk and Credit and Audit and
Compliance Committees each receive EUR 10,000 (these
additional compensation measures do not apply for the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board). Remuneration of
members of the Supervisory Board came to EUR 0.4
million in 2014 (2013: EUR 0.4 million). Works Council
delegates to the Supervisory Board do not receive any
remuneration.
Promontoria Sacher Holding N.V. has entered into an
award agreement for the granting of share appreciation
rights (SARs) indexed to Promontoria stock to the
Managing Board members, select senior employees and
certain members of the Supervisory Board of the Bank in
the financial year 2013. The Bank is not a party to the
transaction agreement.
The vesting conditions for the SARs require the contract
parties to provide services to BAWAG P.S.K. within defined
periods. According to IFRS 2.43B the total value of these
SARs is treated as a shareholder contribution (equity
settled) with a corresponding increase in compensation
expense, as BAWAG P.S.K. has no obligation to settle the
share based payment transaction. The total value of SARs
was adjusted to EUR 24.4 million due to changes in
beneficiaries allocated during the financial year. The fair
value was calculated with a binomial option pricing model
which considers the specific requirements with respect to
the retention of the beneficiaries. Equal portions of the
grant are eligible to vest on each anniversary of the grant
during the vesting period, such that the award vests in
equal tranches over the vesting period. For the purpose of
the valuation, stock exchange quotes of comparable
financial institutions listed on stock exchanges in Austria,
the Netherlands, Finland, Sweden and Denmark are taken
into account. These financial institutions are present in
markets/economies that are comparable to the one BAWAG
P.S.K. is active in. The risk-free rate is based on the
interest rates of Dutch government zerobonds with
corresponding terms of maturity.
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The value included in the respective profit and loss line
items in the financial year 2014 is EUR 0.6 million. The
value shown under equity amounts to EUR 16.4 million.
Due to changed circumstances with regard to the time
period between the issue of the SARs and the anticipated
realization period was moved from 1.5 to 3 years resulting
in an allocation of the expense over a total period of three
years. The cumulative impact on the financial year 2014 is
EUR 0.0 million in operating expenses and EUR 0.0 million
in capital reserves. Without the extension of the period to
the trigger event, the impact in the financial year 2014

in EUR million
Current account deposits
Savings deposits
Loans
Leasing
Securities
Interest income
Interest expense

would have been minus EUR 7.9 million in operating
expenses and plus EUR 7.9 million in capital reserves. For
the reporting period 2015, the cumulative impact will be
minus EUR 7.9 million in operating expenses and plus
EUR 7.9 million in capital reserves.
Business Relations with Related Parties
The following breakdown depicts the business relations
with related individuals and their family members. All
business is conducted at standard industry and group
terms for employees or at standard market terms.

Key management of
Other
the entity or its parent
related parties
31.12.2014
3
2
1
2
0
2
0
0
0
1
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Not all managerial staff are entitled to post-employment
benefits from the Bank. The managerial employees who are
entitled to post-employment benefits from the Bank were
awarded these entitlements under the provisions of the
1961 pension reform or on the basis of individual

Key management of
Other
the entity or its parent
related parties
31.12.2013
4
1
1
3
0
2
0
0
1
1
0.0
0.0
0.1
0.0

commitments by the Bank. All employees are entitled to
pension benefits from a pension fund under the provisions
of the collective bargaining agreement for pension funds
(defined contribution plan).

38 | Major changes in the Group’s holdings
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BAWAG Malta

BAWAG Capital Finance (Jersey) Limited

As of 24 June 2014, BAWAG Malta Bank Ltd. reduced its
subscribed capital from EUR 500 million to EUR 100
million. Earlier this year, BAWAG Malta Bank Ltd. dissolved
an investment structure (via Rhein Limited and Bodensee
Limited) with a minority shareholder. Rhein Limited was
liquidated with effect from 5 December 2014, Bodensee
Ltd. was put into liquidation by way of a shareholder
resolution dated 9 September 2014.

BAWAG Capital Finance (Jersey) Limited has exercised its
call option in relation to Perpetual Non-Cumulative NonVoting Fixed/Floating Rate Preference Shares issued in
2000. BAWAG Capital Finance (Jersey) Limited redeemed
58,629 Preference Shares of EUR 1,000 each as of 31 July
2014. BAWAG Capital Finance (Jersey) Limited was
liquidated with effect from 24 September 2014.
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Navensis, E2E

Generali Leasing GmbH

In the course of the restructuring of the loan and payment
processing of BAWAG P.S.K. Group, Navensis
Zahlungsverkehrsabwicklungs GmbH was merged into
BAWAG P.S.K. effective 18 July 2014.

With effect from 13 June 2014, BAWAG P.S.K. LEASING
GmbH sold its 25% stake in Generali Leasing GmbH to the
majority shareholder Generali Versicherung AG.

PSA Payment Services Austria
E2E Service Center Holding GmbH was established in
August 2014 as a 100% BAWAG P.S.K. Group company
and forms, together with its 100% subsidiaries E2E
Kreditmanagement GmbH, established in November 2013,
and E2E Transaktionsmanagement GmbH, established in
August 2014, the competence center for payments and
loan processing in BAWAG P.S.K. Group.
Both companies were included in the scope of
consolidation for the first time as of August 2014.

BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH
On 23 October 2014, a share purchase agreement for all of
the shares in BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH was signed
between P.S.K. Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH as seller and
Amundi S.A. as buyer. As of 31 December, the closing was
inter alia dependent on the non-prohibition by the antitrust
authority and the approval by the Financial Market
Authority (FMA). The final closing of the sale of all shares to
Amundi S.A. took place on 9 February 2015.

Leasing CEE
Based on the Bank’s stronger focus on its activities in the
core markets of Austria and Western Europe, the decision
was made in 2011 to reduce the leasing activities in Central
and Eastern Europe. The Bank is pursuing this strategy
through the sale of company shareholdings as well as
through ongoing natural attrition. Corresponding provisions
were formed where necessary. The efforts to reduce
exposure in this segment are proceeding as planned. With
closing on 31 March 2014, the sale of the two Hungarian
Leasing subsidiaries BAWAG Leasing Zrt. and BAWAG
Leasing & Fleet Kft was finalized by way of a management
buyout. The Slovak Real Estate Leasing s.r.o. was merged
with the also Slovak BAWAG Leasing s.r.o. with effect from
10 April 2014.

As part of the simplification and the unbundling of the
legacy and complex shareholders structure of PSA, E-C-A
Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., E-C-B
Beteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H. and EBG Europay
Beteiligungs-GmbH were merged within the PSA structure
and stricken from the companies register. After completion
of the transaction, BAWAG P.S.K. Group’s direct share in
PSA is unchanged at 20.82%.
PSA Payment Services Austria GmbH was included in the
scope of consolidation for the first time as of 31 December
2014 using the equity method.

MKB Bank Zrt.
On 21 February 2014, P.S.K. Beteiligungsverwaltung
GmbH sold its stake in MKB Bank Zrt. to the then majority
shareholder Bayerische Landesbank.

BAWAG Allianz Vorsorgekasse AG
In the course of the realignment of the existing partnership,
BAWAG P.S.K. and Allianz Elementar Versicherungs-AG
agreed in principal on 19 December 2014 that Allianz
Elementar Versicherungs-AG would acquire the 50% stake
of BAWAG P.S.K. The transaction, still subject to contract, is
planned to be completed after having received the required
regulatory approvals, particularly the consent of the
Financial Market Authority (FMA).

Other Major Changes in the Group’s Holdings
On 30 October 2014, the liquidation of the A.U.S.
companies was completed. All companies were stricken
from the companies register and deconsolidated.
BAWAG CAPITAL FINANCE LIMITED and Rhein Limited
were stricken from the register of companies and
deconsolidated.
Bodensee Limited, RF sechs BAWAG P.S.K. LEASING
GmbH & Co.KG., RF BAWAG Leasing Gesellschaft m.b.H.
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and BAWAG P.S.K. Vermietungs- und Leasing GmbH were
deconsolidated during the reporting period because of
immateriality.

For further details, please refer to Notes 49 and 50.

39 | Assets pledged as collateral
in EUR million
Receivables and securities assigned to Oesterreichische Kontrollbank AG
Collateral pledged to the European Investment Bank
Cover pool for trust savings deposits
Cover pool for covered bonds
Collateral for tender facilities
Other collateral
Cash collateral for derivatives
Assets pledged as collateral
The Group pledges assets primarily for repurchase
agreements which are generally conducted under terms
that are usual and customary for standard securitized
borrowing contracts. In addition, the Group pledges
collateral against other borrowing arrangements and for
margining purposes on derivative liabilities.
Regarding export financing, receivables and securities
assigned to Oesterreichische Kontrollbank AG are pledged.

31.12.2014
533
581
32
2,737
1,001
27
320
5,231

31.12.2013
586
691
37
2,863
–
24
661
4,862

Pledges for trust savings deposits are conducted in
accordance with legal regulations (section 68 BWG).
The cover pool for covered bonds is subject to the law on
covered bank bonds (FBSchVG).
Additionally, relevant collateral was provided for refinancing
at the European Investment Bank.

40 | Total collateralized debt
The collateral listed in the table above corresponded to the following payables of BAWAG P.S.K.:
in EUR million
Liabilities to Oesterreichische Kontrollbank secured with assigned receivables
Payables arising due to refinancing by the European Investment Bank
Trust savings deposits
Payables secured by the cover pool for covered bonds
Tender facilities
Negative market values of derivatives
Total collateralized debt
The line item Tender facilities refers to the Bank’s
participation in the TLTRO in September 2014, in which
the Bank funded EUR 0.7 billion from the ECB in the first
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31.12.2014
534
437
21
1,388
711
320
3,411

31.12.2013
586
507
23
1,863
–
636
3,615

tranche. These tender facilities correspond to the line item
Collateral for tender facilities in the table above.
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41 | Genuine repurchase agreements
31.12.2014
59
59

in EUR million
Lender – receivables from credit institutions
Repurchase agreements

31.12.2013
1,127
1,127

42 | Collateral received that may be sold or repledged in the absence of default
The following table depicts the fair value of financial assets
accepted as collateral that may be sold or repledged in the

absence of default of the owner as well as the book value of
the related receivables.
31.12.2014
70
59

in EUR million
Collateral provided by borrower
Carrying amount of associated receivables

31.12.2013
1,103
1,127

Collateral received that may be sold or repledged in the
absence of default relates to reverse repurchase
agreements.

43 | Subordinated assets
Line items on the assets side of the Statement of Financial Position included the following subordinated assets:
in EUR million
Loans and receivables
Subordinated assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Subordinated assets

31.12.2014
114
7
121

31.12.2013
9
7
16

44 | Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
BAWAG P.S.K. enters into derivative transactions under
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA)
master netting agreements. In general, under such
agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty on a
single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in the
same currency are aggregated into a single net amount that is
payable by one party to the other. In certain circumstances –
e.g. when a credit event such as a default occurs – all
outstanding transactions under the agreement are

terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a
single net amount is payable in settlement of all transactions.
The ISDA agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting
in the Statement of Financial Position. This is because
BAWAG P.S.K. currently does not have any legally
enforceable right to offset recognized amounts, because
the right to offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of
future events such as a default on the bank loans or other
credit events.
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Repo and reverse repo transactions are covered by master
agreements with netting terms similar to those of ISDA
Master Netting Agreements.
The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial
assets and financial liabilities that:

 are offset in BAWAG P.S.K.’s Statement of Financial
Position; or
 are subject to an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of
whether they are offset in the Statement of Financial
Position.

Financial assets
Amounts not offset in the
Statement of Financial Position

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Reverse repo transactions
Loans to and receivables from
customers
Total

Gross amounts Net amounts of
financial assets
of financial
Gross amounts
liabilities offset presented in the
of recognized
in the Statement Statement of
financial assets
Financial
of Financial
Position
Position

Financial
instruments

Cash collateral
received

Net amount

1,163

–

1,163

545

333

285

546
59

–
–

546
59

362
59

128
–

56
–

1,463

179

1,284

–

–

1,284

3,231

179

3,052

966

461

1,625

Amounts not offset in the
Statement of Financial Position

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Reverse repo transactions
Loans to and receivables from
customers
Total
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Gross amounts Net amounts of
financial assets
of financial
Gross amounts
liabilities offset in presented in the
of recognized
the Statement of Statement of
financial assets
Financial
Financial
Position
Position

Financial
instruments

Cash collateral
received

Net amount

1,081

–

1,081

594

295

192

164
1,127

–
–

164
1,127

119
1,103

38
–

7
24

1,425

169

1,256

–

–

1,256

3,797

169

3,628

1,816

333

1,479
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Financial liabilities
Amounts not offset in the
Statement of Financial Position

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Customer deposits
Total

Net amounts of
Gross amounts
financial
of financial
Gross amounts
liabilities
of recognized assets offset in
presented in the
the Statement of
financial
Statement of
Financial
liabilities
Financial
Position
Position

Financial
instruments

Cash collateral
pledged

Net amount

1,174

–

1,174

1,091

83

–

160
179
1,513

–
179
179

160
–
1,334

160
–
1,251

–
–
83

–
–
–

Amounts not offset in the
Statement of Financial Position

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Customer deposits
Total

Net amounts of
Gross amounts
financial
of financial
Gross amounts
liabilities
of recognized assets offset in
presented in the
the Statement of
financial
Statement of
Financial
liabilities
Financial
Position
Position

Financial
instruments

Cash collateral
pledged

Net amount

1,298

–

1,298

731

567

–

126
169
1,593

–
169
169

126
–
1,424

92
–
823

34
–
601

–
–
–
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The following tables reconcile the net amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities presented in the Statement of
Financial Position to the respective line items in the Statement of Financial Position:

Financial assets
31.12.2014
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Reverse repo transactions

Line item in Statement of
Financial Position

Assets held for trading

Hedging derivatives
Loans to and receivables
from credit institutions
Loans to and receivables from Loans to and receivables
from customers
customers
Total

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Reverse repo transactions

Line item in Statement of
Financial Position

Assets held for trading

Hedging derivatives
Loans to and receivables
from credit institutions
Loans to and receivables from Loans to and receivables
from customers
customers
Total

Carrying amount of line
item in Statement of
Financial Position

Thereof without
offsetting agreement

Thereof with offsetting
agreement

1,163

–

1,163

546

–

546

1,518

1,459

59

21,779

20,495

1,284

25,006

21,954

3,052

Carrying amount of line
item in Statement of
Financial Position

Thereof without
offsetting agreement

Thereof with offsetting
agreement

1,081

–

1,081

164

–

164

3,791

2,664

1,127

20,971

19,715

1,256

26,007

22,379

3,628

Financial liabilities
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31.12.2014
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Customer deposits
Total

Line item in Statement of
Financial Position

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Derivatives
(excl. hedging derivatives)
Hedging derivatives
Customer deposits
Total

Line item in Statement of
Financial Position

Carrying amount of line
item in Statement of
Financial Position

Thereof without
offsetting agreement

Thereof with offsetting
agreement

Liabilities held for trading

1,174

–

1,174

Hedging derivatives
Deposits from customers

160
21,135
22,469

–
21,135
21,135

160
–
1,334

Carrying amount of line
item in statement of
financial position

Thereof without
offsetting agreement

Thereof with offsetting
agreement

Liabilities held for trading

1,298

–

1,298

Hedging derivatives
Deposits from customers

126
22,013
23,437

–
22,013
22,013

126
–
1,424
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45 | Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and unused lines of credit
in EUR million
Contingent assets
Contingent liabilities
Arising from guarantees
Unused customer credit lines
Thereof terminable at any time and without notice
Thereof not terminable at any time

31.12.2014
–
442
442
5,920
4,525
1,395

31.12.2013
–
658
658
5,674
4,116
1,558

31.12.2014
2,264
2,340
1,069
125
5,798
28,853
34,651
509
505
35
260
1,309
33,342
34,651

31.12.2013
1,277
2,565
670
223
4,735
31,667
36,402
613
536
289
284
1,722
34,680
36,402

46 | Foreign currency amounts
BAWAG P.S.K. Group had assets and liabilities in the following foreign currencies:
in EUR million
USD
CHF
GBP
Other
Foreign currency
EUR
Total assets
USD
CHF
GBP
Other
Foreign currency
EUR
Total liabilities
This table includes only Statement of Financial Position
items and does not provide information about open
currency positions due to off-balance hedging transactions.
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47 | Leasing
Finance Leasing from the View of BAWAG P.S.K. as Lessor
Finance lease receivables are included in the balance
sheet position Loans and advances to customers.
BAWAG P.S.K. leases both movable property and real estate
to other parties under finance lease arrangements.
31.12.2014
in EUR million
Total outstanding leasing installments (gross investment value)
As yet unrealized financial income
Receivables from finance leases (net investment value)

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Total outstanding leasing installments (gross investment value)
As yet unrealized financial income
Receivables from finance leases (net investment value)
As of 31 December 2014, the non-guaranteed residual
value amounts to EUR 41 million (2013: EUR 44 million).
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The following table shows the reconciliation between gross
investment value and present value, broken down
according to maturity for all ongoing leasing contracts
(without open items):

Up to 1 year

1–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

172
14
158

409
27
382

130
9
121

711
50
661

Up to 1 year

1–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

207
17
190

480
34
446

156
11
145

843
62
781

There were no impairments recognized in respect of
irrecoverable minimum lease installments (2013: EUR 0.0
million).
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Operating Leasing from the View of BAWAG P.S.K. as Lessee
Operating Leases
The Group leases the majority of its offices and branches
under various rental agreements. The lease contracts are
made under usual terms and conditions and include price
adjustment clauses in line with general office rental market
conditions. The lease agreements do not include any

clauses that impose any restriction on the Group’s ability to
pay dividends, engage in debt financing transactions or
enter into further lease agreements.
In 2013, BAWAG P.S.K. entered into a sale and lease back
transaction with a long-term rental agreement in place.

Future Minimum Lease Payments Required under Operating Leases
in EUR million
Future minimum rental payments
Not later than one year
Over one year and not later than five years
Over five years
Total future minimum rental payments
less: Future minimum rentals to be received
Net future minimum rental payments
Rental payments for lease agreements
Rental income from sublease contracts

31.12.2014

31.12.2013

24
69
117
210
2
208

24
69
133
227
2
225

(24)
2

(18)
2
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48 | Derivative financial transactions
Derivative financial transactions as of 31.12.2014

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Interest rate related business
interest rate swaps banking
Thereof
book
interest rate options banking
book
forward rate agreements
banking book
interest rate swaps trading book
interest rate options trading
book
forward rate agreements trading
book
Currency related business
Thereof
currency swaps banking book
foreign currency forward
transactions and options
banking book
currency swaps trading book
foreign currency forward
transactions and options trading
book

Nominal amount/maturity1)
Up to 1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years
9,098
16,588
12,850

banking book business
trading book business

11,280

10,221

28,431

1,184

(587)

47

241

305

593

19

(17)

–

–

–

–

–

1,269

3,732

1,755

6,756

268

(129)

852

1,335

569

2,756

95

(86)

–

–

–

–

–

6,758
247

6,377
1,957

974
841

14,109
3,045

131
2

(504)
(207)

3,894

1,142

133

5,169

88

(109)

–

1

–

1

–

2,617

3,277

–

5,894

41

(188)

289

652

55

996

12

(11)

289

652

55

996

12

(11)

16,145
11,407
4,738

23,617
15,272
8,345

13,879
11,555
2,324

53,641
38,234
15,407

1,709
1,305
404

(1,334)
(931)
(403)

1) Banking book derivatives include fair value hedging instruments.
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Negative
(819)

6,930

Securities related business
securities related business
Thereof
banking book
Total
Thereof

Total
38,536

Fair value1)
Positive
1,566

–

–

–

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT

Derivative financial transactions as of 31.12.2013
31.12.2013
in EUR million
Interest rate related business
interest rate swaps banking
Thereof
book
interest rate options banking
book
forward rate agreements
banking book

Nominal amount/maturity1)
Up to 1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years
16,749
24,395
13,096

currency swaps trading book
foreign currency forward
transactions and options trading
book

16,973

9,468

41,538

753

(556)

196

192

408

796

16

(15)

162

–

–

162

–

621

4,113

2,425

7,159

245

(37)

673

3,117

795

4,585

68

(54)

–

–

–

–

–

7,654
1,548

8,598
628

1,089
938

17,341
3,114

147
8

(752)
(426)

3,980

2,072

151

6,203

75

(74)

–

4

–

4

–

(1)

2,126

5,894

–

8,020

64

(251)

398

859

60

1,317

16

(10)

398

859

60

1,317

16

(10)

24,801
21,381
3,420

33,852
20,724
13,128

14,245
11,025
3,220

72,898
53,130
19,768

1,245
868
377

(1,424)
(1,081)
(343)

Securities related business
securities related business
Thereof
banking book
Total
Thereof

banking book business
trading book business

Negative
(662)

15,097

interest rate swaps trading book
interest rate options trading
book
forward rate agreements trading
book
Currency related business
Thereof
currency swaps banking book
foreign currency forward
transactions and options
banking book

Total
54,240

Fair value1)
Positive
1,082

–

–

1) Banking book derivatives include fair value hedging instruments.
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49 | List of consolidated subsidiaries
31.12.2014
Banks
BAWAG Malta Bank Limited, Sliema
BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH, Vienna
BAWAG P.S.K. Wohnbaubank Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna
easybank AG, Vienna
Real estate
BAWAG P.S.K. IMMOBILIEN GmbH, Vienna
BPI Holding GmbH & Co KEG., Vienna
R & B Leasinggesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
RVG Realitätenverwertungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
Leasing
BAWAG P.S.K. IMMOBILIENLEASING GmbH, Vienna
BAWAG P.S.K. Kommerzleasing GmbH, Vienna
BAWAG P.S.K. LEASING GmbH & Co. MOBILIENLEASING KG.,
Vienna
BAWAG P.S.K. LEASING GmbH, Vienna
BAWAG P.S.K. MOBILIENLEASING GmbH, Vienna
BAWAG P.S.K. Vermietungs- und Leasing GmbH, Vienna
CVG Immobilien GmbH, Vienna
HBV Holding und Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna
KLB Baulandentwicklung GmbH, Vienna
M. Sittikus Str. 10 Errichtungs GmbH, Vienna
P.S.K. IMMOBILIENLEASING GmbH, Vienna
RF BAWAG Leasing Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
RF 17 BAWAG Immobilienleasing GmbH, Vienna
RF fünfzehn BAWAG Mobilien-Leasing Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
RF sechs BAWAG P.S.K. LEASING GmbH & Co. KG., Vienna
RF zwölf BAWAG Leasing Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
START Immobilienleasing GmbH, Vienna
Other non credit institutions
A.U.S. Alpha Holding GmbH, Vienna
A.U.S. Alpha Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Vienna
A.U.S. Beta Holding GmbH, Vienna
A.U.S. Beta Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Vienna
A.U.S. Delta Holding GmbH, Vienna
A.U.S. Delta Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Vienna
A.U.S. Gamma Holding GmbH, Vienna
A.U.S. Gamma Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Vienna
BAWAG CAPITAL FINANCE II LIMITED, St. Helier
BAWAG CAPITAL FINANCE LIMITED, St. Helier
BAWAG Finance Malta Ltd., Sliema
BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna
BV Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Vienna
E2E Kreditmanagement GmbH, Vienna
E2E Service Center Holding GmbH, Vienna
E2E Transaktionsmanagement GmbH, Vienna
NAVENSIS Zahlungsverkehrsabwicklungs GmbH, Vienna
PSA Payment Services Austria GmbH, Vienna
P.S.K. Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna
Rhein Limited, Grand Cayman
F … Full consolidation, E… Equity method
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31.12.2013

F
F
F
F

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

F
F
F
F

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

F
F
F
F

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

F
F
F
F

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

F
F

100.00%
100.00%

F
F

100.00%
100.00%

F

100.00%

F

100.00%

F
F
–
F
F
F
F
F
–
F
F
–
F
F

100.00%
100.00%
–
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
–
100.00%
100.00%
–
100.00%
100.00%

F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
F
–
F
E
F
F
F
F
–
E
F
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
100.00%
–
100.00%
25.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
–
20.82%
100.00%
–

F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
F
E
F
F
–
–
F
–
F
F

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
25.00%
100.00%
100.00%
–
–
100.00%
–
100.00%
51.00%
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50 | List of subsidiaries and associates not consolidated due to immateriality
Banks
BAWAG Allianz Vorsorgekasse AG, Vienna
Real Estate
B.A.O. Immobilienvermietungs GmbH in Liqu., Vienna
IDG Immobilien Development Gesellschaft mbH & Co KG, Vienna
Plato Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH in Liqu., Vienna
Leasing
BAWAG Leasing & fleet Kft, Budapest
BAWAG Leasing & fleet s.r.o., Bratislava
BAWAG Leasing & fleet s.r.o., Prague
BAWAG Leasing s.r.o., Bratislava
BAWAG Leasing Zrt., Budapest
BAWAG Real Estate Leasing s.r.o., Prague
BPLCZ One s.r.o., Prague
Fides Leasing GmbH, Vienna
Gara RPK Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
Generali Leasing GmbH, Vienna
HFE alpha Handels-GmbH, Vienna
Kommunalleasing GmbH, Vienna
PT Immobilienleasing GmbH, Vienna
REAL ESTATE Leasing s.r.o., Bratislava
Realplan Beta Liegenschaftsverwaltung Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
RF sechs BAWAG P.S.K. LEASING GmbH & Co. KG., Vienna
Other non credit institutions
AI-ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS LTD., St. Helier
Athena Burgenland Beteiligungen AG, Eisenstadt
Athena Wien Beteiligungen AG, Vienna
Athena Zweite Beteiligungen GmbH, Vienna
AUSTOST ANSTALT, Balzers
AUSTWEST ANSTALT, Triesen
BAWAG Investments Ltd., St. Helier
BAWAG P.S.K. Datendienst Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
BAWAG P.S.K. Equity Finance Limited, St. Helier
Bodensee Limited in Liqu., Sliema
E-C-B Beteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
Einlagensicherung der Banken und Bankiers Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
LTB Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna
MAP Handels GmbH, Vienna
media.at GmbH, Vienna
MediaSelect GmbH, Vienna
mediastrategen GmbH, Vienna
MF BAWAG Blocker LLC, Wilmington
OmniMedia GmbH, Vienna
OMNITEC Informationstechnologie-Systemservice GmbH, Vienna
P.S.K. Handel und Vermietung GmbH. in Liqu., Vienna
PSA Payment Services Austria GmbH, Vienna
The Siesta Group Schlafanalyse GmbH, Vienna
uni venture Beteiligungs AG, Vienna
WBG Wohnen und Bauen Gesellschaft mbH Wien, Vienna

31.12.2014

31.12.2013

50.00%

50.00%

33.33%
0.00%
–

33.33%
100.00%
100.00%

–
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
–
100.00%
100.00%
50.00%
100.00%
–
50.00%
50.00%
100.00%
–
50.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
50.00%
100.00%
25.00%
50.00%
50.00%
100.00%
100.00%
50.00%
–

100.00%
38.30%
50.00%
–
100.00%
100.00%
–
100.00%
100.00%
51.00%
–
61.64%
25.10%
–
26.30%
26.30%
26.30%
100.00%
26.30%
50.00%
100.00%
–
24.60%
–
24.00%

100.00%
38.30%
50.00%
33.33%
100.00%
–
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
–
50.00%
61.68%
25.10%
95.84%
26.30%
26.30%
–
–
26.30%
50.00%
100.00%
20.82%
24.60%
100.00%
24.00%
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51 | Involvement with associated companies
Investments in associates disclosed in this note are
accounted for using the equity method. BAWAG P.S.K.
Group includes two companies that are accounted for
using the equity method: BAWAG P.S.K. Versicherung AG,

Vienna, and PSA Payment Services Austria GmbH, Vienna,
which was consolidated for the first time in 2014. In the
table below you will find aggregated financial information
on the Group’s share in associates, which are considered to
be immaterial compared to the Group’s total assets and
profit or loss.

in EUR million
Carrying amounts of all associates
Aggregated amount of the Group's share of profit or loss
Aggregated amount of the Group's share of other comprehensive income
Aggregated amount of the Group's share of total comprehensive income

31.12.2014
37
0.9
1.5
2.4

31.12.2013
18
(0.9)
(0.7)
(1.6)

52 | CLO book and other non-consolidated structured entities
BAWAG P.S.K. Group also engages in various business
activities with structured entities which are designed to
achieve a specific business purpose. A structured entity is
an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar
rights are not the dominant factor for the determination of
control over the entity. This is, for example, the case when
any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the
relevant activities are directed by means of contractual
arrangements. A structured entity often has some or all of
the following attributes:
 Restricted activities
 A narrow and well-defined objective

Nature
Securitisation Special Purpose Entities
Other structured entities
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 Insufficient equity
 Financing in the form of multiple contractually linked
instruments to investors that create concentrations of
credit or other risks (tranches)
The entities covered by this disclosure note are not
consolidated because the Group does not control them
through voting rights, contract, funding agreements or
other means.
The table below describes the types of structured entities of
the Group.

Purpose and activities
- Investing in high-quality tranches
- Financed through the issue of notes
- Special leasing
- Financed through loans

Type of income or expense
Interest income
Interest income

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT

The Group provides a different measure for the size of
structured entities depending on their nature. For
securitizations, this is the notional of notes in issue (EUR
752 million). Regarding other structured entities, the total
assets of these entities best measures their size (EUR 117
million).

The table below sets out an analysis of the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities of unconsolidated
structured entities recognized by the Group and income
from those structured entities. The maximum exposure to
loss is the carrying amount of the assets held.

in EUR million
Carrying amounts of assets in connection with investments in structured entities
on the balance sheet shown under Loans and receivables
Carrying amounts of liabilities in connection with investments in structured entities
Income
Interest income
Losses incurred during reporting period
Maximum exposure to loss
BAWAG P.S.K. neither provided any financial or other
support to an unconsolidated securitization vehicle during

2014
725
725
0
13.6
13.6
0
725

the financial year nor does it have any current intention to
do so.
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RISK REPORT
The Risk Management function within the Bank has the
responsibility to identify, measure, control, monitor and
manage all risks the Bank is exposed to. At all
organizational levels, Market and Risk functions are strictly
separated.
The Bank’s Managing Board defines the overall risk
appetite and risk strategy. The principles of risk
management, limits for all material risks and procedures for
monitoring these risks are documented in risk manuals and
guidelines. The Managing Board is continuously and
proactively updated on the overall risk management
situation – including ICAAP, clearly defined risk metrics,
monthly risk reporting, operational risk matters and specific
risk topics. Quarterly risk reports are submitted to the
Supervisory Board’s monitoring and control committees.
Risk management policies, procedures and systems are
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in both market
conditions and the products / services offered by the Bank.

The following divisions oversee the implementation and
execution of risk-related guidelines:





Commercial and Institutional Risk
Credit Risk Retail and Small Business
Market Risk
Strategic Risk

The material risks managed by the risk organization are the
following:





Credit risk
Market risk
Liquidity risk
Operational risk

The material risks of BAWAG P.S.K. Group are described in
the following pages.

53 | Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to a party in a financial
transaction failing to pay its obligation to the other party.
Operations in the divisions that are responsible for credit
risk are set up to include functional risk management
expertise for both the Commercial and Institutional and the
Retail and Small Business customer. The Strategic Risk
division oversees the aggregation of the individual risk
metrics, indicators and overall reporting.
In Retail and Small Business, the creditworthiness of
private and small business customers is assessed by
automated scorecards. The scorecards’ scoring is based on
mathematical and statistical models as well as behavioral
scoring based on the customer’s account usage. In
addition, external data (e.g. credit bureau information) is
also factored into the customer scoring. The individual
customer credit ratings are updated monthly.
In addition to the credit rating, the expected loss given
default (LGD) and the expected utilization of the off-
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balance-sheet exposure value at the time of default are also
estimated in Retail and Small Business. The estimate is
based on the historical empirical data of overall customer
behavior and is analyzed using various statistical methods
and models.
For each commercial loan application, the borrower’s credit
rating is assessed using an internal rating method unique
to each customer business segment. The rating methods
that have been developed are based on a broad spectrum
of quantitative and qualitative factors. Specific risk
categories are assigned to each customer and represent an
individual estimated probability of default. No external
ratings (i.e. rating agency data) are available for the
majority of commercial customers.
To manage overall concentration risk, exposure limits are
defined, monitored and reported to the Managing Board
and Supervisory Board on a regular basis.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT

As a bank that applies the Internal Rating-Based (IRB)
approach, high standards are set with regards to credit risk
methodologies and processes. The risk organization
continuously focuses on enhancements to both scorecards
and rating systems. Specific standards are in place for all
sub-portfolios that are monitored and validated on a regular
basis. Due to the centralized structure and coordination of

the Group, new risk regulations or changing market
situations are adopted real-time into the risk management
strategies. In the following sections, the credit quality of the
Retail Banking and Small Business segment is shown by
days past due and loan to value ratios and in the Corporate
Lending and Investments segment by investment grade
ratios.

Business segment development in 2014
The Bank’s risk and business strategy are aligned to focus
on maintaining a conservative low-risk balance sheet,
focusing on stable economies, maintaining strong capital
and low levels of leverage, and profitable / disciplined
growth defined on a risk-adjusted return basis.
Retail Banking and Small Business experienced growth in
core consumer loan and mortgage products. Significant
efforts have been put in place to enhance overall
underwriting standards drawing on the expansive customer
database. In terms of consumer loans, the focus is on
automated underwriting models that are continuously
enhanced within the core banking system. As for
mortgages, the focus has been on strong collateral
coverage. The Bank’s new mortgage originations have an
average LTV of less than 80% and an overall portfolio LTV
of 65%. The social housing portfolio remained stable yearover-year with limited new volume growth but characterized
by an overall low LTV on the portfolio of 51%. Small
business loans continue to be monitored proactively to
ensure the possible identification of weakening credits and
if required, the risk mitigation through the portfolio
management group.
Corporate Lending and Investments was characterized by
proactive risk management, disciplined growth in stable
international Western countries, continued exit of non-core
CEE assets and maintaining a disciplined approach on riskadjusted pricing. The Austrian Corporate business is
focused on managing specific credit risks based on
customer-specific financial profiles, industry limits and riskadjusted returns. A great deal of effort and resources have
been directed towards proactive risk management. This
entails separating customers with solid financial standing
and future growth prospects from those with a weakening
credit profile and / or not meeting acceptable profitability
metrics based on risk-adjusted returns. The growth in

international business has been characterized by highquality individual credits, solid credit metrics (i.e. LTV and
debt yield for real estate / portfolio transactions and
leverage ratios for corporate transactions). The high credit
quality of the international business was further validated
by the Asset Quality Review (AQR), where 100% of the
international portfolio data were delivered to the ECB and
resulted in no issues or adjustments identified. Additionally,
we have continued to support the Bank’s overall strategy of
exiting CEE markets. Overall, the CEE loan portfolio was
further reduced by EUR 427 million (a reduction of 67%)
with immaterial losses. The current CEE loan portfolio is
EUR 212 million with NPLs below EUR 20 million (NPL
coverage ratio 77%). The goal is to fully exit CEE loan
assets.
In BAWAG P.S.K.’s Treasury Services and Markets division,
the bond portfolio was rebalanced to shift investments into
stable economies with a focus on high-quality bonds (e.g.
covered and uncovered bank bonds, sovereign investments
and AAA-rated CLOs). The portfolio consists primarily of
investments in Europe and the United States. The portfolio
is comprised of 100% investment grade-rated bonds, of
which 85% are rated in the single “A” category or higher.
Exposure to CEE bonds represented < 3%, with 95% rated
in the single “A” rating or higher. The portfolio has no direct
exposure to Russia, Hungary or South-Eastern Europe as of
31 December 2014.
The Corporate Center is comprised primarily of the Bank’s
liquidity reserve and positive market values from derivatives
and non-core participations. All central functions and
Group Asset-Liability Management (ALM) activities are part
of the Corporate Center. Assets were reduced by 38%,
primarily driven by the reduction of assets related to excess
liquidity in money market positions.
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Credit risk and bonds by business segment

in EUR million
Book value
Bonds
Off-balance
business
Total
thereof collateralized1)
thereof NPL (incl.
LLP, gross view)

Retail Banking and Corporate Lending
Small Business
and Investments
31.12. 31.12.
31.12. 31.12.
2014
2013
2014
2013
9,308
9,190 12,352 11,274
7
10
1,465
1,765

Treasury Services
and Markets
31.12. 31.12.
2014
2013
0
86
5,755
4,935

Corporate Center

Total portfolio

31.12.
2014
1,816
818

31.12.
2013
4,618
1,892

31.12.
2014
23,476
8,045

31.12.
2013
25,168
8,602

1,938

1,843

1,562

561

1,239

660

62

118

4,801

3,182

11,253

11,043

15,379

13,600

6,994

5,681

2,696

6,628

36,322

36,952

6,372

6,198

4,348

4,459

232

117

150

132

11,102

10,906

305

305

153

336

0

8

257

281

715

930

1) Economic collaterals comprise residential and commercial real estate, guarantees, life insurances, etc.

The table below provides reconciliation between book values of loans and receivables, the risk report and the segment report

31.12.2014
in EUR million
Retail Banking and Small
Business
Corporate Lending and
Investments
Treasury Services and
Markets
Corporate Center
Total

31.12.2013
in EUR million
Retail Banking and Small
Business
Corporate Lending and
Investments
Treasury Services and
Markets
Corporate Center
Total

Note 16
Notes 12, 13, 141)
Loans and
Loans and bonds
receivables (L&R) (not part of L&R)

Risk view
Total loans &
bonds

Other assets

Total assets

9,308

7

9,315

264

9,579

13,115

702

13,817

68

13,885

959

4,797

5,755

0

5,755

1,898
25,280

736
6,242

2,634
31,521

2,798
3,129

5,432
34,651

Note 16
Notes 12, 13, 141)
Loans and
Loans and bonds
receivables (L&R) (not part of L&R)

Risk view
Total loans &
bonds

Segment Report
Other assets

Total assets

9,190

10

9,200

325

9,525

11,807

1,231

13,039

(101)

12,938

775

4,246

5,021

103

5,124

5,484
27,256

1,027
6,514

6,510
33,770

2,305
2,632

8,815
36,402

1) Shares and other variable rate securities (2014: EUR 7 million, 2013: EUR 40 million) are not included.
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Geographical distribution of the loan and bond portfolio
The geographic distribution of the loan portfolio is in line
with the Bank’s strategy to be in stable geographies and
currencies. 72% of the portfolio is located in Austria,
26% in Western Europe and North America1) and less
than 1% in CEE.

The geographic distribution of the bond portfolio is 78% in
Western Europe and North America2), 13% in Austria and
3% in CEE.

Geographical distribution of loans
31.12.2014

31.12.2013

Others 1%

Others 1%

CEE 1%

CEE 3%

Austria
72%

Western Europe
and
North America
26%

Austria
75%

Western Europe
and
North America
21%

Geographical distribution of bonds
31.12.2014
Others 6%
CEE 3%

Western Europe
and
North America
78%

31.12.2013
Austria
13%

Others 12%
CEE 4%

Austria
18%

Western Europe
and
North America
66%

1) This includes Germany with 6% (2013: 6%), United States with 6% (1%), Great Britain with 4% (4%) and France with 3% (6%).
2) This includes Great Britain with 12% (2013: 10%), United States with 12% (12%), France with 7% (4%) and Germany with 4% (3%).
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Geographical distribution of the loan and bond portfolio – Portugal, Ireland, Italy, Greece, Spain (peripheral Europe)
As the economic conditions in Ireland and Spain have
significantly improved, select international lending was
extended in these countries. The Bank continues to have
no Greece exposure since 2012. Lending and investments
in this segment are characterized by high credit quality
transactions focused on very solid covenants,
overcollateralization and low leverage. The significant part

in EUR million
Ireland
Spain
Italy
Portugal
Total

of the loan portfolio consists of large corporates and
commercial real estate and represents 95% investment
grade in Ireland and 100% investment grade transactions
in Spain. The banks and sovereign exposures represent
100% investment grade bonds. Individual bank
investments are focused on the underwriting of individual
bonds and are less dependent on external credit rating.

Book value
Banks
Non-banks
Sovereigns
31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2013
1,116
325
21
10
1,007
241
88
74
908
708
212
256
536
323
160
129
461
464
241
273
38
34
182
157
24
64
24
51
–
–
–
13
2,509
1,561
498
590
1,581
598
430
373

Credit portfolio and bonds by currencies
Consistent with the Bank’s overall positioning, the majority
of financing is denominated in EUR. The following table

in EUR million
EUR
CHF
USD
GBP
Others
Total
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captures the currency distribution of the credit portfolio and
bond book of the Bank.

Book value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
25,818
29,186
2,286
2,492
2,240
1,220
1,058
687
119
185
31,521
33,770

Relative value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
81.9%
86.4%
7.3%
7.4%
7.1%
3.6%
3.4%
2.0%
0.4%
0.5%
100.0%
100.0%
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Credit quality overview: Loans, provisions, delinquencies and collaterals
The following table captures the days past due, NPL ratio
and provisioning of the loan portfolio. The low-risk profile is
reflected by the NPL ratio, low delinquency of loan volumes
and provision and collateral coverage across the portfolios.

in EUR million
Loans and receivables (net)
Individual provisions
Loans and receivables (gross)
IBNR
Total
thereof performing
thereof non-performing
NPL LLP coverage ratio
NPL coverage ratio (collateral + LLP)

Approximately 72% of the total portfolio can be assigned to
an investment grade rating which corresponds to the
external rating classes AAA to BBB.

Book value1)
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
25,280
27,256
278
359
25,558
27,615
31
33
25,527
27,582
24,822
26,652
715
930
–
–
–
–

Additional information (in EUR million):
Total unprovisioned outstandings past due
1–30 days
31–60 days
61–90 days
91–180 days
More than 180 days

267
151
29
5
10
73

Relative value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
99.0%
98.8%
1.1%
1.3%
100.1%
100.1%
0.1%
0.1%
100.0%
100.0%
97.2%
96.6%
2.8%
3.4%
38.8%
38.6%
62.6%
59.3%

209
125
10
7
25
42

1.0%
0.6%
0.1%
0.0%
0.0%
0.3%

0.8%
0.5%
0.0%
0.0%
0.1%
0.2%

1) Bonds are not included since the bond portfolio does not show any days past due or non-performing loans.

Impaired loans
Provisions are booked on loans for which the probability of
collection will not be fulfilled. The main components are:
 Specific loan loss provisions are formed manually after a
detailed analysis. In cases when exposures are
restructured according to internal processes, which may
include the extension of forbearance measures, an
appropriate impairment test is performed. The
derecognition is assessed on an individual basis.
 Loan loss provisions are booked automatically by the
core banking system in the case of unpaid balances.
This occurs when limits are continuously exceeded on
current accounts and / or when legal action is initiated.
 A general provision is booked on a portfolio basis for
incurred but not reported (IBNR) losses as of the
reporting date. The general provision is formed for onand-off balance sheet claims in the Group’s credit
portfolio. This includes bonds, but not positions
measured at fair value. As of 31 December 2014, the

IBNR portfolio impairment amounted to EUR 37.8
million (comprised of EUR 30.8 million for financial
assets and EUR 7.0 million for off-balance sheet items –
e.g. contractual liabilities and guarantees), versus EUR
41.2 million the prior year.
The volume reported as NPL includes all claims against
customers classified as being in default and against
customers for which specific impairment provisions have
been formed2).

Non-performing loans (NPLs)
Exposures relating to all customers in default risk class 83)
are categorized as non-performing loans, regardless of
whether a limit has been exceeded or a payment missed on
an individual account. When a material exposure of a
customer is greater than 90 days past due, a loan loss
provision is allocated or a customer-specific default
criterion applies. The customer is considered to be in

2) The IBNR portfolio provision does not lead to a classification as “in default.” On the other hand, the two further impairment provision types described in the
Impaired Loans section lead to the immediate default of the customer. All exposure-bearing products of the customer who is defaulted are classified as nonperforming loans.
3) Risk class 8 contains all customers that are classified as in default according to the CRR definition.
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default across all exposure-related products and is
assigned to risk class 8.
The overall development of the NPL portfolio is shown on
the following pages segmented by respective business
units.

Forbearance
Measures of forbearance or refinancing are extended if
borrowers face financial difficulties and are considered to
be unable to meet contractual obligations. The Bank has
sound and transparent processes in place to define the
conditions under which concessions, in the form of
modification of terms and conditions, or refinancing, may
be granted. In this respect, strictly temporary measures –
i.e. a reduction or postponement of as well as transfer to
terms of interest only repayments are in place. In
exceptional cases, temporary or permanent reduction of
interest rates may be granted. Depending on customer
segments, a split of loan agreements or refinancing
facilities may be accepted as viable measures.
The description of different responsibilities for managing
and monitoring forbearance measures is covered by
detailed guidelines.

Collateral and valuation of residential and commercial real
estate
All types of acceptable collateral are listed in the Group
Collateral Catalogue. Adequate haircuts are defined for
each type of collateral.
The central real estate valuation department determines
the value of all residential properties in Austria on the basis
of a standard methodology and valuation tool. The periodic
review and updating of property values is automated based
on the real estate price index published by the Association
of Real Estate and Asset Trustees of the Austrian Federal
Economic Chamber (Fachverband der Immobilien- und
Vermögenstreuhänder der Wirtschaftskammer Österreich).
The values of commercial real estate properties are
appraised individually by experts in the central real estate
valuation department, by select external appraisers
commissioned by the Group or by a syndicate partner after
an inspection of the property and completion of a full
appraisal report.

Measures of forbearance or refinancing are instruments to
ultimately reduce the existing risk with respect to debt
claims. However, forbearance measure is by no means
used to avoid or postpone the recognition of impairment or
disguise the level of credit risk resulting from forborne
assets.

Workout group

By implementing forbearance measures, the Bank
supports clients in maintaining financial stability. One of the
positive effects of forbearance is to assist clients on their
way back to a sustainable financial situation. If the
supporting measure is not successful, exposures are
recognized as non-performing and impaired according to
regulatory and accounting standards. For clients or a group
of clients where a loss was identified, a provision is booked
by following internal guidelines.

Early recognition of troubled assets

For reporting as well as internal risk management
purposes, the Bank implemented processes and methods
according to regulatory standards1) in order to identify
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exposures for which forbearance or refinancing measures
have been extended and also the respective reclassification of forbearance measures is considered.

1) EBA/ITS/2013/03/rev1 issued on 24 July 2014.

The workout group is responsible for the processing and
administration of troubled and defaulted loan commitments.
The primary objective is to minimize losses by providing
restructuring expertise and maximizing repayments.

Customers that raise flags for various reasons (i.e. a
significant decline in the stock price, a rise in CDS spreads,
general deterioration of creditworthiness, negative reports
in the news, unusual risk concentrations or other relevant
reasons) are placed on a review list and discussed at the
exposure review meeting within the Risk organization.
Customers on this list are subject to stringent review and
monitoring.
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Retail Banking and Small Business
The Retail Banking and Small Business portfolio is
comprised of 47% mortgages, 32% consumer loans, 14%
social housing and 7% small business loans. The portfolio
is characterized by strong collateral coverage in the
secured products (65% LTV across mortgage portfolio,
59% in small business loans and 51% across the social
housing portfolio). New business volumes were originated
primarily from consumer loans (51%) and mortgages
(40%). The core products have well-defined underwriting
standards that focus on collateral coverage, overall
customer indebtedness and assessing customers’ ability to
service the loan. Additionally, active portfolio management
(i.e. delinquency reporting, trend analysis, regional
concentration analysis, NPL remediation) is a key
component to proactively manage the risk in this portfolio.
Having well defined policies, procedures and analytical
tools related to portfolio management are essential to
managing risk in this retail, flow-oriented business. The
credit risk is measured continuously by the following
methods:







Portfolio trends in terms of risk class distribution
Portfolio trends in terms of overdue/late payments
Portfolio trends for defaulted loan facilities
Portfolio trends in terms of losses
Scorecard performance: Approval rate and manual
scoring for decision cancellations

The results of the analysis are presented to the Managing
Board and the relevant decision makers as part of the
overall operating rhythm. This process ensures a regular
and standard flow of information and enables the Group to
respond directly to changes in risk parameters and market
conditions.
Furthermore, the risk from new business is managed using
clear and strict credit guidelines. Decisions at the point of
sale are taken on the basis of automated scoring systems
or, in certain cases, manual decisions by the Risk
department. A key focus in this portfolio is on compliance
with policies and ensuring high data quality. A central
monitoring process ensures ongoing quality assurance.

Credit portfolio and bonds by products
Book value
in EUR million
Mortgage loans
Consumer loans
Social housing
Small business loans
Total

31.12.2014
4,417
2,979
1,340
579
9,315

31.12.2013
4,068
2,978
1,457
697
9,200

NPL
ratio1)
31.12.2014
2.4%
4.6%
0.2%
7.7%
3.2%

NPL
coverage ratio
31.12.2014
94.9%
94.9%
73.7%
93.5%
92.0%

LTV2)
31.12.2014
65.0%
n/a
51.0%
59.0%
57.1%

1) The NPL ratio reflects a gross perspective.
2) The LTV for the total unprovisioned outstandings past due is close to the above shown LTVs.
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The mortgage portfolio is characterized by low LTVs, low
NPL ratio, high coverage ratio and good geographic
diversification. The weighted average life of the mortgage
portfolio is less than 15 years. Mortgages comprise both
EUR-denominated and CHF-denominated mortgages. The
CHF-denominated mortgage portfolio was EUR 1.5 billion
at year-end 2014. This is a portfolio that is proactively
being managed down and/or converted to EURdenominated loans. The volume in CHF-denominated
mortgages was reduced by 9% in 2014 and is down by
over EUR 1 billion since the discontinuation of the product
in 2008 (reduction of 35%). Specific programs have been
in place for the past few years that were established
between the Risk and Market organizations to convert
customers to EUR-denominated loans. The LTV as of yearend was 73%.
The consumer loan portfolio is comprised of unsecured
one-stop and online loans, overdrafts and a mix of leasing
assets (consumer auto, real estate and equipment leasing).

The focus has been on developing robust risk scorecards
and processes to support the growth of this core segment.
The risk profile of the portfolio is characterized by a
weighted average life of less than three years. All the
delinquency trends remained stable.
The overall social housing portfolio shows LTVs of 51%.
Small business loans are proactively monitored to ensure
the potential identification of weakening credits and risk
mitigation as required by the risk portfolio management
group.
The overall NPL and coverage ratios reflect a stable and
low-risk portfolio. Significant resources have been allocated
and investments made over the past few years to address
legacy NPL portfolios (primarily sold in the past few years),
to enhance early and late stage collection processes /
capabilities and to develop a proactive approach of dealing
with NPLs both from an Operations and Risk standpoint.

Forbearance by products

in EUR million
Austria
thereof nonperforming
Impairments
Collateral

Consumer loans
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
53
80

Mortgage loans
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
58
100

Social housing
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
6
7

11

25

24

43

9

15

3

4

4
9

18
10

6
46

13
77

2
14

6
29

1
3

0
4

By analyzing the type of the identified forbearance, the
most common measure was recognized in changes in
interest and conditions (approximately 55% contracts),
followed by workout and refinancing (approximately 35%
contracts) and extensions of the repayment schedule
(approximately 10% contracts). Interest income recognized
in respect of forborne assets amounts to EUR 4.4 million.
Actual risk costs for forborne exposures (impairments and
derecognition in 2014) amount to EUR 5.6 million. 74.5%
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Small business loans
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
20
40

of forborne volume are up to 30 days past due, 7.4%
between 30 and 90 and 18.1% more than 90 days past
due as of 31 December 2014. Due to steady optimization
of internal processes, figures improved significantly
compared to 2013. In particular, sizable effort on the
identification of deferred claims has been carried out in
compliance with EBA Implementing Technical Standards in
order to provide data for supervisory reporting on
forbearance and non-performing exposures.
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Days past due – credit quality
The product portfolio is monitored by days past due (i.e.
delinquency buckets) on an ongoing basis. The aim is to
ensure early identification of negative credit developments
within the portfolio and to work with customers on a
proactive basis to ensure full repayment of loans.

in EUR million
Total
1–30 days
31–60 days
61–90 days
NPL ratio1)
NPL LLP coverage ratio

Consumer loans
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
2,979
2,978
0.7%
0.7%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
4.6%
3.9%
81.6%
94.3%

The total retail portfolio is 98.7% current (i.e. no days past
due). In comparison to 2013, this is an improvement of
0.3 pts. Overall, the low days past due volumes, the stable
vintages and the product-specific scorecard results prove
the good quality of the portfolio.

Mortgage loans
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
4,417
4,068
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.0%
0.1%
2.4%
2.8%
30.3%
28.4%

Small business loans
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
579
697
1.0%
1.7%
0.2%
0.4%
0.2%
0.3%
7.7%
7.4%
43.5%
39.3%

Social housing loans
31.12.
31.12.
2014
2013
1,340
1,457
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.2%
0.3%
28.7%
11.8%

1) The NPL ratio reflects a gross perspective.

Retail assets - Regional distribution
Book value
in EUR million
Vienna
Styria
Lower Austria
Tyrol/Vorarlberg
Upper Austria
Carinthia
Salzburg
Burgenland
Total

31.12.2014
2,664
1,852
1,717
790
725
704
446
418
9,315

31.12.2013
2,719
1,792
1,607
806
721
694
446
414
9,200

Relative value
31.12.2014
28.6%
19.9%
18.4%
8.5%
7.8%
7.6%
4.8%
4.5%
100.0%

31.12.2013
29.6%
19.5%
17.5%
8.8%
7.8%
7.5%
4.8%
4.5%
100.0%

NPL
ratio1)
31.12.2014
3.4%
1.9%
3.1%
4.2%
3.2%
2.8%
3.5%
2.3%
3.2%

NPL
coverage ratio
31.12.2014
90.6%
89.4%
90.1%
93.6%
88.9%
92.2%
93.7%
87.8%
92.0%

1) The NPL ratio reflects a gross perspective.

The portfolio is regionally diverse across Austria, with two
thirds of the exposure distributed across the stronger
economic regions of Vienna, Styria and Lower Austria.

151

BAWAG P.S.K. CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2014

Corporate Lending and Investments
Book value
in EUR million
Austrian Corporate Business
International Business
IB Coporates
IB Real Estate
Total

31.12.2014
7,791
6,027
3,869
2,157
13,817

31.12.2013
8,896
4,143
2,761
1,382
13,039

NPL
ratio1)
31.12.2014
1.9%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
1.2%

NPL
coverage ratio
31.12.2014
81.1%
n/a
n/a
n/a
81.1%

Investment grade
31.12.2014
83.2%
81.0%
76.0%
90.0%
82.2%

1) The NPL ratio reflects a gross perspective.

The Corporate Lending and Investments business is split
between domestic Austrian Corporate and Public Sector
assets (56%) and the International Business assets (44%)
and was characterized by proactive risk management,
disciplined growth in stable international Western countries,
continued exit of non-core CEE assets and maintaining a
disciplined approach to risk-adjusted pricing. The overall
portfolio is comprised of over 80% investment grade
between both Austrian and international assets. The total
NPL ratio reflects the high credit quality of the business
and was further reduced by 1.7pts from 2.9% to 1.2% in
2014 due to active portfolio management.
All material credit decisions are taken within a specific
credit committee that meets weekly and is comprised of the
majority of Managing Board members. Individual credit
applications are thoroughly reviewed, discussed and voted
on. The Group’s credit risk managers have a diverse and
experienced background spanning different asset classes
with domestic and international experience. For loan
applications below a certain threshold, risk managers are
granted authority to approve credits outside of the formal
credit committee.
Within the Austrian Corporate business, the focus is on
managing credit risks based on customer-specific financial
profiles, industry limits and risk-adjusted returns. A great
deal of effort and resources has been directed towards
proactive risk management. This entails separating
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customers with solid financial standing and future growth
prospects from those with a weakening credit profile and/or
not meeting acceptable profitability metrics based on riskadjusted returns. This disciplined proactive risk
management approach has led to the continued
deleveraging of non-core low yielding assets and
disciplined growth in the core prime customer base.
The growth in International Business has been
characterized by high-quality individual credits, solid credit
metrics (e.g. LTV and debt yield for real estate / portfolio
transactions and leverage ratios for corporate transactions).
The international corporate business is conservatively
managed with a low Debt/EBITDA ratio of <4x and a very
favorable risk/return ratio. The international real estate and
portfolio-lending transactions have an average LTV of less
than 60% and diverse geographic distribution. The high
credit quality of the international business was further
validated by the Asset Quality Review (AQR), which
covered 100% of all international credits and resulted in no
issues or adjustments identified.
Additionally, the Risk organization continued to support the
Bank’s overall strategy of exiting CEE markets. Overall, the
CEE loan portfolio was further reduced by EUR 427 million
(a reduction of 67%) with immaterial losses. The current
CEE loan portfolio is EUR 212 million with NPLs below EUR
20 million (NPL coverage ratio 77%). The goal is to fully
exit CEE loan assets.
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Currency distribution of the credit and bond portfolio

in EUR million
EUR
USD
GBP
CHF
Others
Total

Book value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
10.330
10.898
1.870
893
1.056
622
519
559
42
67
13.817
13.039

Relative value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
74,8%
83,6%
13,5%
6,8%
7,6%
4,8%
3,8%
4,3%
0,3%
0,5%
100,0%
100,0%

Forbearance
The most common measures relate to customer workouts
and refinancing (approximately 95% of contracts) followed
by changes in interest, contractual terms and extensions of
the repayment schedule (approximately 5% of contracts).
Interest income recognized in respect of forborne assets
in EUR million
Forborne
thereof non-performing
Impairments
Collateral

amounts to EUR 4.0 million. Actual risk costs for forborne
exposures (impairments and derecognition in 2014) amount
to EUR 9.5 million. 81.3% of forborne volume are up to 30
days past due, 0.7% between 30 and 90 and 18.0% more
than 90 days past due as of 31 December 2014.
31.12.2014
184
77
29
91

31.12.2013
291
194
111
101

Particular risk concentrations in the credit portfolio
A large focus of risk management in the Corporate Lending
and Investments segment is centered around managing
concentration risk. Concentration risk arises from both
large exposures in individual customer segments or large
industry / country / foreign currency exposures.
The framework for the management of concentration risk is
based on the requirements imposed by the senior
management of the Bank in line with the rules and
recommendations of national and international regulators.
Concentration risks are managed, limited and reported to
the Managing Board as part of the overall monthly risk
management reporting.
The principles and methodological framework for the
measurement and monitoring of these credit risk
concentrations are outlined in risk manuals and guidelines.

Concentration risks at the level of individual transactions
and products are managed in a sub-portfolio category.
Country and sector limits are managed using a standard
process in accordance with internal guidelines.
Concentration risk at the level of individual borrowers and
groups of affiliated customers as well as for sectors,
countries and currencies is quantified on the basis of
allocated economic capital. Adapted risk-weighted assets
form the methodological basis in accordance with IRB
standards.
Corresponding limits and warning thresholds are specified
for countries, sectors, currencies and groups of customers
and form an integral part of the management of overall risk
in the Group. All limits are monitored on an ongoing basis
and in accordance with the estimated risk potential.
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Risk concentrations by industry segmentation

in EUR million
Government
Public Sector
Portfolio Financing
Real Estate
Pharmaceuticals & Health Care
Services
Retail – Food
Financial Institutions
Commodity
Automotive
Investment Funds
Hotel, Gaming & Leisure
Telecommunication & Electronics
Retail – Non-food
Beverages, Food & Tobacco
Transport
Wood & Paper
Media
Utilities
Construction & Building Materials
Social Housing
Engineering
Chemicals
Others
NGO
Leasing
Total
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Book value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
2,343
2,563
1,871
1,982
1,691
663
1,348
1,609
874
447
531
542
513
482
417
330
407
422
406
316
384
5
381
452
364
277
356
623
337
234
304
220
203
256
188
241
186
308
167
304
161
160
128
136
92
119
83
274
51
49
31
25
13,817
13,039

Relative value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
17.0%
19.7%
13.5%
15.2%
12.2%
5.1%
9.8%
12.3%
6.3%
3.4%
3.8%
4.2%
3.7%
3.7%
3.0%
2.5%
2.9%
3.2%
2.9%
2.4%
2.8%
0.0%
2.8%
3.5%
2.6%
2.1%
2.6%
4.8%
2.4%
1.8%
2.2%
1.7%
1.5%
2.0%
1.4%
1.8%
1.3%
2.4%
1.2%
2.3%
1.2%
1.2%
0.9%
1.0%
0.7%
0.9%
0.6%
2.1%
0.4%
0.4%
0.2%
0.2%
100.0%
100.0%
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Treasury Services and Markets
Book value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
4,331
3,873
814
705
610
443
5,755
5,021

in EUR million
Banks
Sovereigns
CLOs
Total
The Treasury Services and Markets segment includes
interest rate and currency risk positions, capital market
activities and comprises the Group’s portfolio of debt
securities. The portfolio was rebalanced on a macro level to
shift investments to stable economies and focus on highquality securities (high-quality covered and uncovered
bank bonds, sovereign investments and high-quality CLOs).
The portfolio consists primarily of investments in Europe
and the United States with an external investment grade
rating.
The portfolio is comprised of 100% investment grade-rated
securities, of which 85% are rated in the single “A”
category or higher. Exposure to CEE securities represented
~5%, with 95% rated in the single “A” rating or higher. The
portfolio has no direct exposure to Russia, Hungary or
South-Eastern Europe as of 31 December 2014.

Investment grade
31.12.2014
99.0%
100.0%
100.0%
99.2%

A selective CLO portfolio with a carrying value of EUR 610
million is managed within the framework of the overall
investment strategy. Of these securities, 91% are rated
AAA and the remaining 9% are rated AA. The majority
(91%) is comprised of European CLOs with the residual 9%
CLOs in the United States. The weighted average life (WAL)
of the investments is 3.7 years. Internal valuation models
are used to determine the fair value of CLOs for which there
is no active market. The CLO model is calibrated to actively
traded instruments and uses all available market data
(such as yield curves, CDS spreads, loan prices, etc.) as
inputs. The portfolio is constantly monitored and meets
both risk as well as profitability criteria, which is reflected in
both the low risk cost and risk-adjusted capital returns.
The Treasury Services and Markets segment comprises no
forborne customers nor any non-performing loans.

Currency distribution of the credit and securities portfolio

in EUR million
EUR
USD
Others
Total

Book value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
5,514
4,827
217
167
24
27
5,755
5,021

Relative value
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
95.8%
96.1%
3.8%
3.3%
0.4%
0.5%
100.0%
100.0%
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Geographical distribution of the securities portfolio1)
Geographical distribution of bonds
31.12.2014
Others 4%

31.12.2013
Austria
7%

CEE 5%

Western Europe
and
North America
84%

Others 4%

Austria
8%

CEE 7%

Western Europe
and
North America
81%

Corporate Center
The Corporate Center is comprised primarily of the Bank’s
liquidity reserve, positive market values from derivatives,
certain equity participations, and the Asset-Liability
Management (ALM) function of the Bank. More than 75%
of assets are related to the ALM activities, mainly consisting
of the liquidity reserve and positive market values from
derivatives, which are used for hedging purposes. Assets
were reduced by over 38%, primarily driven by a reduction
of assets related to excess liquidity in money market
positions.

Impairment tests are conducted every year to validate the
values of the equity investments in the Group’s portfolio.
These impairment tests are completed on the basis of the
planning projections (budgeted financial statements – i.e.
cash flow, P&L and balance sheet) prepared for future
periods by the management of each entity. The after-tax
results indicated in the projections are discounted using
risk-adjusted rates. The proportionate value of the company
based on the Group’s shareholding is then compared with
the carrying amount of the investment.

Participation risk

In contrast to the procedure described above, more
simplified techniques are adopted for micro-participations
and those reporting book values covered either by pro rata
equity, by pro rata capitalized average earnings before
taxes of the last three years or by other measurements of
value – e.g. net asset values for real estate companies.

Participation risk includes potential losses in the fair value
of non-consolidated equity investments, potential
impairments and low profitability of non-consolidated equity
investments. Participation risk does not include operating
subsidiaries because their risks are assessed separately
according to the specific risk types and accounted for as
such.
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The overall results of the impairment tests are reviewed and
confirmed by the Participation Risk team.

1) This includes Great Britain with 13% (2013: 12%), United States with 11% (2013: 13%), France with 5% (2%) and Germany with 4% (4%).
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54 | Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss caused by open risk positions
in the market and the adverse development of market risk
factors (interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity
prices, volatilities, credit spreads). Market risk can arise in
conjunction with trading and non-trading activities.

Market risk in the trading book

In 2014, the Bank received the official report on the
successful on-site review of the market risks in the banking
book by the local regulator (Austrian National Bank). The
processes and models used in this area were judged to be
appropriate and adequate. This is in particular due to the
constant development and refinement of the risk
measurement and analysis tools. This work was continued
in 2014.

The Bank uses an officially approved internal model for
value-at-risk (VaR) for the purpose of internal risk
monitoring and reporting to the supervisory authorities. The
model covers the following risk categories: interest rate,
equity market and foreign exchange risk. The regulatory
capital requirements for specific risk in the trading book are
calculated using the legally standardized measurement
method. Stressed value-at-risk (sVaR) must be taken into
account in addition to standard VaR in determining the
minimum capital requirements. The VaR limits are
supplemented by sensitivity and worst-case limits.

Particular emphasis is placed upon market risk
identification, measurement, analysis and management
performed by the Market Risk division for all market related
risks in the Group. The applied market risk limits consist of
value-at-risk, sensitivity, volume and worst-case limits and
are approved by the Bank’s Managing Board.

The Bank’s strategy to discontinue proprietary trading
activities resulted in a further reduction in risk and
derivative volume in the trading book in 2014.

The following table depicts the total trading Book VaR
based on a confidence interval of 99% and a holding
period of one day.

VaR trading book
in EUR thousand
Average VaR
Year-end VaR

Market risk in the banking book
The primary components of market risk for the BAWAG
P.S.K. Group are interest rate risk, credit spread risk and
liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk in the banking book
Interest rate risk in the banking book is the potential loss
resulting from net asset value changes and the future
development of net interest income due to adverse interest
rate shifts.
The Strategic Asset Liability Committee (SALCO) has
assigned interest rate risk limits to the Treasury Services
and Markets division in order to manage the interest rate
risk in terms of an optimal risk/return ratio at the Group
level as determined by the Controlling / ALM division. The

31.12.2014
(243)
(316)

31.12.2013
(380)
(251)

Market Risk division reports to the SALCO on a daily basis
for some areas as well as monthly at the Group level on
limit utilization and the distribution of risk.
The target interest rate risk structure mandated by the
SALCO is implemented by the Controlling / ALM and
Treasury Services and Markets divisions. Interest rate
derivatives are employed to this end in order to manage
interest rate risk. The BAWAG P.S.K. Group uses interest
rate derivatives:
 to implement the interest risk strategy within the
requirements and limits defined by the SALCO,
 to manage the sensitivity of the valuation result and the
revaluation reserve,
 and to hedge the economic risk position thereby taking
the accounting treatment into consideration.
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To achieve its defined management goals in the income
statement, the BAWAG P.S.K. Group uses hedge
accounting pursuant to IAS 39. The following fair value
hedge accounting methods are currently used to value
interest rate risk hedges of the balance sheet:
 Micro fair value hedge: hedging against the risk of
interest rate changes for fixed-interest instruments held
as assets and liabilities
 Portfolio fair value hedge (‘EU carve-out’): application to
sub portfolios of sight deposits that are available for the
long term after derivation of a bottom layer

Interest rate derivatives that are not assigned to a hedge
accounting relationship are recognized at their fair values.
Interest rate risk is measured using sensitivities based on
the present value of a basis point (PVBP) concept. The
PVBP, which is derived from the duration of interestbearing financial instruments, reflects the impact on net
asset value resulting from an upward parallel shift of the
yield curves by one basis point. The following table depicts
the Group’s interest rate risk sensitivities as of 31
December 2014 on the basis of the PVBP concept:

Interest rate sensitivity
in EUR thousand
EUR
USD
CHF
GBP
Other currencies
Total 31.12.2014
Total 31.12.2013

<1Y
(74)
(38)
10
0
2
(101)
(97)

1Y–3Y
(145)
(30)
0
(2)
(1)
(178)
13

The impact upon the Profit or Loss Statement and Other
Comprehensive Income of fair value changes arising from
interest rate changes is calculated and monitored
separately. The sensitivity of financial assets designated at
fair value through profit or loss amounted to minus EUR
266 thousand on 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013:
minus EUR 104 thousand). For the available-for-sale
financial assets, the sensitivity amounted to minus EUR
662 thousand (31 December 2013: minus EUR 588
thousand).
Furthermore, a value-at-risk calculation for the Group is
conducted within the framework of the Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) on a monthly
basis.
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3Y–5Y
(161)
(5)
(3)
0
0
(170)
(98)

5Y–7Y
(217)
12
(4)
0
4
(205)
(119)

7Y–10Y
(36)
(9)
(4)
0
(3)
(52)
54

>10Y
(4)
6
(4)
0
(7)
(10)
(98)

Total
(637)
(65)
(5)
(3)
(6)
(716)
(346)

Credit spread risk in the banking book
Credit spread risk in the banking book refers to the risk of
decreasing fair values of securities and derivatives due to
changes in market credit spreads. The risk management
models employed by the Bank to address this risk have
been continuously refined. The credit spread risk is
measured on the basis of the sensitivities (basis point
value). The following table shows the total credit spread
sensitivity of the Bank along with the breakout by
accounting categories impacting the Profit or Loss
Statement and Other Comprehensive Income:
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Credit spread sensitivity
31.12.2014
(2,418)
302
(1,223)
(1,497)

in EUR thousand
Total portfolio
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity assets & Loans and receivables
The risk indicators “value at risk” and “expected shortfall”
are also calculated and scenario calculations are run, both
on a monthly basis.

31.12.2013
(2,021)
358
(1,425)
(954)

at least once per year by assessing the assumptions and
backtesting.

FX risk in the banking book
Credit spread risk is also taken into account and limited for
the Bank as a whole in the ICAAP process and is part of
the Bank-wide stress tests.
All employed models are calibrated regularly and validated

The extent of open foreign exchange positions in the
Group’s banking book is managed by conservative limits in
order to ensure that only marginal FX risks are carried in
the banking book. Compliance with these limits is observed
on a daily basis.

55 | Liquidity risk
The Asset-Liability Management (ALM) department is
responsible for central liquidity management of the Bank.

scenarios (systemic stress, idiosyncratic stress, combined
stress) in order to calibrate the liquidity buffer.

Liquidity management

Long-term liquidity management is conducted for the
coming five years as part of the annual planning process.
Strategic measures are also analyzed during the course of
the year.

The liquidity management is performed under a Group
perspective.
For managing the short-term liquidity, a 30-day liquidity
forecast is prepared daily for ongoing liquidity position
management by Treasury Services and Markets.
For a mid-term perspective, a liquidity forecast for the next
15 months is prepared every month and reported in the
SALCO. It also takes scenario calculations for planned
measures and various assumptions about customer
behavior into account. The regulatory and internal liquidity
indicators are also projected.
Liquidity stress tests are used to determine the outflow of
liquidity that may be incurred under different stress

Liquidity buffer
The liquidity buffer consists of a portfolio of liquid assets
that can be rapidly accessed in a stress situation to obtain
liquidity. Asset-Liability Management takes the necessary
measures to ensure that the liquidity buffer is sufficiently
diversified and its size adequate for the Group’s anticipated
needs. Additionally, Asset-Liability Management centrally
manages the liquidity buffer required for LCR purposes in
designated portfolios.
The table below shows the composition of the liquidity
buffer on the basis of the market values of unencumbered
assets after a component-specific haircut.
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Structure of the liquidity buffer
31.12.2014
750
4,699
1,929
7,378
1,960
828
2,788
10,166

in EUR million
Money market
Bonds
ECB pledged credit claims
Short-term liquidity buffer
Bonds
Credit claims available for covered bonds
Medium-term liquidity buffer
Total

31.12.2013
2,940
3,420
1,610
7,970
1,850
880
2,730
10,700

Maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial assets and liabilities
31.12.2014
Gross nominal Less than 1
in EUR million
inflow/outflow
month
Assets
Loans to customers
27,075
2,254
Bonds
8,549
90
Money market assets
862
783
Subtotal
36,486
3,126
Liabilities
Deposits from banks
(2,739)
(757)
Deposits from customers
(21,247)
(17,306)
Debt securities issued
(6,649)
(62)
Subtotal
(30,635)
(18,125)
Derivatives
Inflow
7,501
1,548
Outflow
(6,672)
(1,465)
Other off-balance-sheet financial
(1,841)
(1,841)
obligations
Total
4,839
(16,756)
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1–3 months

3 months to 1
year

1–5 years

More than
5 years

463
244
4
712

1,751
752
75
2,578

9,821
5,296
0
15,117

12,786
2,167
0
14,953

(79)
(681)
(71)
(830)

(164)
(1,741)
(1,826)
(3,731)

(1,343)
(1,372)
(1,998)
(4,714)

(396)
(147)
(2,692)
(3,235)

858
(767)

994
(971)

3,105
(2,637)

996
(832)

0
(28)

0
(1,131)

0

0

10,871

11,882
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31.12.2013
Gross nominal Less than 1
in EUR million
inflow/outflow
month
Assets
Loans to customers
27,023
2,688
Bonds
9,421
119
Money market assets
3,544
3,069
Subtotal
39,987
5,875
Liabilities
Deposits from banks
(1,677)
(559)
Deposits from customers
(22,179)
(16,465)
Debt securities issued
(8,828)
(21)
Subtotal
(32,684)
(17,045)
Derivatives
Inflow
6,424
1,213
Outflow
(5,982)
(1,191)
Other off-balance-sheet financial
(2,216)
(2,216)
obligations
Total
5,529
(13,364)
The table above shows the consolidated nominal (not
discounted) cash flows including interest payments on
financial assets and liabilities. They are assigned to time
buckets on the basis of their contractual maturities. All daily
callable loans and deposits were placed into the shortest time
bucket. In case of call or put options, the end of the term
equals the next day on which the option can be exercised.
The liquidity management already takes the new regulatory
liquidity ratios into account. Due to the current liquidity

1–3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1–5 years

More than
5 years

467
327
472
1,266

1,961
1,297
2
3,261

8,860
5,869
0
14,730

13,047
1,809
0
14,856

(14)
(832)
(1,100)
(1,946)

(38)
(2,502)
(576)
(3,115)

(558)
(2,222)
(3,296)
(6,076)

(508)
(158)
(3,835)
(4,502)

882
(861)

1,072
(1,001)

2,701
(2,501)

555
(428)

0
(659)

0

0

0

217

8,853

10,481

structure of the Bank, both the Liquidity Coverage Ratio of
134% and the Net Stable Funding Ratio1) of 122%
significantly exceed the stipulated future regulatory
requirements.
The main focus of the funding strategy is on retail deposits,
which reduces the reliance on capital markets as well as
interbank markets. This is reflected in a wholesale funding
ratio2) of below 30%.

56 | Operational risk
The Bank continues to apply the Standardized Approach to
assess operational risk, resulting in RWAs of EUR 1.6 billion
in 2014. However, the realized OpRisk losses over the last
few years were significantly lower than the assessed risk
under the Standardized Approach. The OpRisk RWAs are
assigned as part of the Corporate Center segment.
For the purpose of internal economic steering (ICAAP), a
statistical model is used to calculate the Value-at-Risk,
which results from operational risks.
In addition to recipient-oriented reporting, the risk
organization applies a risk control self-assessment (RCSA)
tool in managing operational risk. All business units assess

their material operational risks and the effectiveness of their
control measures on a yearly basis applying a uniform
framework. This includes the assessment of individual
control measures, the estimation of probabilities and the
extent of losses arising from individual risks. If the risk
potential exceeds a defined limit, the implementation of
specific remediation measures is required.
A clear organizational structure and authorization levels
form the basis of OpRisk limits. Additionally, a consistent
guideline and a risk-adequate internal control system
(including automated controls embedded in the IT
infrastructure) are designed to allow the Group to manage
OpRisk.

1) Determined based on the calculation methodology of the Quantitative Impact Studies.
2) Wholesale funding ratio = 1 – (customer liabilities/(financial liabilities – liabilities held for trading)).
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ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY AUSTRIAN LAW

57 | Fiduciary assets
31.12.2014
189
189
189
25
164

in EUR million
Fiduciary assets
Receivables from customers
Fiduciary liabilities
Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers

31.12.2013
186
186
186
23
163

58 | Breakdown of securities pursuant to the Federal Banking Act (BWG)
The following table breaks securities down in accordance
with section 64 paragraph 1 line 10 and line 11 BWG as of
31 December 2014 (IFRS figures):

Not listed
in EUR million
Bonds and other fixed income securities
Shares and other variable income securities
Shares in associates and other shares
Shares in non-consolidated subsidiaries
Total securities

1,294
4
58
19
1,375

The difference between carrying amounts and lower
repayment amounts for the purposes of section 56
paragraph 2 BWG was EUR 156 million (2013: EUR 110
million). The difference between carrying amounts and
higher repayment amounts for the purposes of section 56
paragraph 3 BWG was EUR 15 million (2013: EUR 24
million).
Liabilities and subordinated capital amounting to a
repayment amount of EUR 1,740 million will come due
under the corresponding contracts in 2015.
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Total
4,710
3
–
–
4,713

Listed
Loans and
receivables
963
–
–
–
963

BAWAG
P.S.K. Group
Other
measurements Total 2014
3,747
6,004
3
7
–
58
–
19
3,750
6,088

Subordinated and supplementary capital liabilities are
primarily issued in the form of securities. These securities
are all bullet bonds. Supplementary and subordinated
capital bonds are subscribed by private Austrian investors
and sold to major domestic and international investors.
As of 31 December 2014, the average weighted nominal
interest rate on supplementary and subordinated capital
bonds was 5.84% (2013: 5.93%), and the average
remaining term to maturity was 5.3 years (2013: 6.2 years).
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59 | Collateral received
Different types of collateral have been pledged to the Bank
as part of its business transactions. To reduce credit risk for
derivative instruments, the Bank received consideration

in EUR million
Financial collateral
Stocks
Cash deposits
Bonds
Real Estate
Commercial properties
Private properties
Personal collateral
Guarantees
Credit derivatives
Other forms of collateral
Assignation of claims
Life insurance policies
Collateral received

(collateral deals) in the amount of EUR 580 million (2013:
EUR 390 million) and paid consideration (collateral deals)
in the amount of EUR 320 million (2013: EUR 661 million).
Collateralized on- Collateralized offbalance-sheet
balance-sheet
claims
claims

Total

53
61
79

79
572
2

132
633
81

661
5,351

27
76

688
5,427

2,028
–

25
52

2,053
52

13
211
8,457

2
5
840

15
216
9,297

60 | Hybrid capital
The consolidated financial statements recognize hybrid
capital within the meaning of Article 63 CRR in conjunction
with Article 18 of the Austrian CRR Supplementary
Regulation in the amount of EUR 83 million (2013: EUR

142 million). The entirety of this amount was reported on
the IFRS Statement of Financial Position in the line item
Supplementary capital and subordinated debt capital.

61 | Human resources
Headcount – salaried employees

Number of employees on reporting date
Average number of employees

31.12.2014
3,802
4,120

31.12.2013
4,192
4,351

31.12.2014
3,285
3,591
2,836

31.12.2013
3,695
3,857
3,181

Full-time equivalents – salaried employees

Number of employees on reporting date
Average number of employees
Active employees1)

1) Excluding employees on any form of temporary leave or who have entered an agreement under a social compensation scheme; 2013 figure as of 1 January 2014.
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62 | Branches
31.12.2014
BAWAG P.S.K.
BAWAG Malta
International
Bank Limited
International
Credit institution
Business
Great Britain
Malta
0.0
8.8
1.1
4.4
4
8
(0.5)
2.7
0.0
(2.9)
0
0

in EUR million
Name of branch
Business segment
Country of residence
Net interest income
Operating income1)
Number of full-time employees
Profit before tax1)
Income tax
Government aid received
1) BAWAG P.S.K. International: income is based on internal funds transfer pricing.

63 | Trading book
BAWAG P.S.K. Group maintains a securities trading book, which breaks down by volume as follows:
31.12.2014
15,406

in EUR million
Derivative financial instruments in the trading book (nominal value)
Money market transactions (book values, recognised under receivables from credit
institutions and payables to credit institutions)
Trading book by volume

31.12.2013
19,768

131

176

15,538

19,944

64 | Geographical regions
Gross income of BAWAG P.S.K. relates to the following
geographical regions, with the split being based on the
domicile of the customer. Income from derivative and
in EUR million
Interest and similar income
Income from securities and
equity interests
Fee and commission income
Gains and losses on financial
instruments
Other operating income
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Domestic
707.0

Western
Europe
297.4

trading transactions is presented as domestic due to the
fact that trading is centralized in Vienna and no material
country risks arise as most transactions are collateralized.
Central and
North America
Eastern Europe
21.7
42.6

Rest of the
world
21.2

Total
1,089.9

9.8

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

9.8

299.6

1.8

0.3

0.3

0.1

302.0

32.2

6.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

38.7

11.6

8.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

20.2
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65 | Other disclosures required by BWG and Austrian GAAP (UGB) including remuneration policy
The Statement of Financial Position entry for Land and
buildings shows property with a carrying amount of EUR 8
million (2013: EUR 8 million).
Obligations arising from the use of tangible non-current
assets not recognized on the Statement of Financial
Position were expected to come to EUR 24 million for the
period subsequent to 2014 (2013: EUR 24 million); the
expected amount in the five years following the year under
review was EUR 93 million (2013: EUR 93 million).
The Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2014
contains accrued interest on supplementary capital bonds in
the amount of EUR 3 million (2013: EUR 4 million).
Expenses for subordinated liabilities amounted to EUR 58
million (2013: EUR 42 million).
Expenses for BAWAG P.S.K.’s group auditor in the current
financial year amount to EUR 1.7 million and comprise
audit fees in the amount of EUR 1.6 million, tax advisory
fees of EUR 0.0 million as well as other advisory fees in the
amount of EUR 0.1 million.
As of 31 December 2014, the return on total assets in
accordance with section 64 paragraph 1 item 19 BWG
amounts to 0.96% (2013: 0.61%).
The Company is a member of the consolidated group
headed by Promontoria Sacher Holding N.V., which is
situated in Baarn, The Netherlands. Promontoria Sacher
Holding N.V. is the most senior parent company for which
BAWAG P.S.K. as the primary credit institution according to
the provisions of section 59 BWG produces consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements
of Promontoria Sacher Holding N.V. are prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) pursuant to the provisions of section 59a
BWG and are available at BAWAG P.S.K.'s headquarters in
Vienna.

Remuneration Policy
BAWAG P.S.K. has a Remuneration Committee, which is a
Supervisory Board committee. The Remuneration
Committee specifies the remuneration policy, monitors its
implementation and submits regular reports on its activities
to the full Supervisory Board. The committee consists of the
chairman of the Supervisory Board, who heads it, and five
further Supervisory Board members, including two
members of the Works Council.
BAWAG P.S.K.’s Remuneration Committee has adopted a
remuneration guideline that applies to the members of the
Managing Board and the employees of the Group and that
takes into account the principles of the EU’s CRD IV
Directive, the CEBS guideline and the associated provision
of the Austrian Banking Act.
For employees whose activities have a material influence
on the Bank’s risk profile, this guideline stipulates a
remuneration policy that does not impede effective risk
management. It is designed to align the objectives of the
employees with the long-term interests of the Bank and to
ensure an appropriate balance between fixed and variable
remuneration components. It also takes into account the
legal regulations stipulating that the policy must be applied
to the management and to risk purchasers, to employees
with controlling duties, as well as to employees who are in
the same wage group as the management and the risk
purchasers and whose activities have a material influence
on the risk profile of the Bank.
The annual budget for variable remuneration components
is based on the degree to which the Bank achieves its
earnings targets.
Approval for the payment of a bonus proposed by the
Managing Board is granted by the Remuneration Committee,
taking into account the market conditions and development,
the appropriateness of bonus payments, the development of
risk and the strengthening of the Bank’s equity base.

BAWAG P.S.K. uses the Internet as the medium for
publishing disclosures under section 65 BWG and the
Disclosure Regulation. Details are available on the website
of BAWAG P.S.K. at:
www.bawagpsk.com/BAWAGPSK/IR/EN/Financial-Results.
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The rules were implemented in the remuneration guideline
as follows:
 To ensure risk adequacy, the variable remuneration
must not provide an incentive to enter into inappropriate
risks.
 To ensure sustainability, success is determined based
on a longer-term observation period. For this reason,
parts of the bonus are distributed over a period of up to
five years. The payment of the retained portions is
subject to strict Bank success criteria.
 Because the Bank has no marketable shares, a “phantom scheme” was implemented that is also tied to the
Bank’s business performance.

 The appropriateness and market adequacy of
remuneration is ensured, applying a balanced
relationship between fixed and variable components.
The variable remuneration is determined on the basis of
the individual’s success (in quantitative and qualitative
terms) as well as on the success of the respective
organizational unit and the Bank.
For individual matters concerning the remuneration of
Managing Board members, a Committee for Management
Board Matters has been set up taking into account the
framework of the Austrian Labor Constitution Act.

66 | Date of release of publication
The Group financial statements were approved by the
Board of Managing Directors for submission to the
Supervisory Board on 24 February 2015. The Supervisory

Board is responsible for reviewing and acknowledges the
Group financial statements.

67 | Events after the reporting date
BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH
After having received all regulatory approvals, the closing of
the sale of all shares of BAWAG P.S.K. INVEST GmbH to
Amundi S.A. took place on 9 February 2015.

Development of EUR-CHF Exchange Rate
In January 2015, the Swiss National Bank (SNB) withdrew
its decision to fix the Euro / Swiss Franc exchange rate,
which led to a sharp appreciation of the Swiss Franc
against the Euro. The decision of the SNB to unwind the
fixing is mainly based on the weakening of the Euro against
the US Dollar, which also had negative implications on the
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Swiss Franc. Recently, however, the Swiss Franc decreased
again against the Euro.

BAWAG P.S.K. is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk, as all assets denominated in Swiss Franc are
refinanced in the same currency or are hedged. BAWAG
P.S.K. is closely monitoring the effect of the strengthening
of the Swiss Franc on its loan portfolio. We have allocated
appropriate resources to actively manage the related credit
risk.
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Vienna, 24 February 2015

Byron Haynes
CEO and Chairman of the Managing Board

Wolfgang Klein

Corey Pinkston

Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board

Member of the Managing Board

Anas Abuzaakouk

Stefan Barth

Member of the Managing Board

Member of the Managing Board
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STATEMENT OF ALL LEGAL REPRESENTATIVES

“We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss
of the group as required by the applicable accounting
standards and that the group management report gives a

true and fair view of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the group, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties the
group faces.”

Vienna, 24 February 2015

Byron Haynes
CEO and Chairman of the Managing Board
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Wolfgang Klein

Corey Pinkston

Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board

Member of the Managing Board

Anas Abuzaakouk

Stefan Barth

Member of the Managing Board

Member of the Managing Board
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BOARDS AND OFFICERS OF BAWAG P.S.K.

MANAGING BOARD OF BAWAG P.S.K. AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2014
Byron HAYNES
Member of the Managing Board (from 1 August 2008),
Chairman of the Managing Board and CEO (from 16 September 2009)

Wolfgang KLEIN
Member of the Managing Board (from 1 November 2010)
and Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board (from 1 January 2013)

Anas ABUZAAKOUK
(from 1 January 2014)

Jochen KLÖPPER
(from 1 April 2012 until 31 December 2014)

Corey PINKSTON
(from 1 January 2013)

MANAGING BOARD OF BAWAG P.S.K. FROM MARCH 2015
Byron HAYNES
Member of the Managing Board (from 1 August 2008),
Chairman of the Managing Board and CEO (from 16 September 2009)

Wolfgang KLEIN
Member of the Managing Board (from 1 November 2010)
and Deputy Chairman of the Managing Board (from 1 January 2013)

Anas ABUZAAKOUK
(from 1 January 2014)

Stefan BARTH
(from 1 February 2015)

Corey PINKSTON
(from 1 January 2013)

Sat SHAH
(from 4 March 2015)
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THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF BAWAG P.S.K. AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2014
Chairman
Franklin W. HOBBS
(from 12 March 2013 until revoked)

Deputy Chairman
Cees MAAS
(from 12 March 2013,
previously Chairman from 15 October 2009 until 12 March 2013,
Member of the Supervisory Board from 27 July 2009 until the end of the
Annual General Meeting adopting the Annual Financial Statements for 2014)

Pieter KORTEWEG
(from 15 December 2009,
Member of the Supervisory Board from 27 August 2007 until the end of the
Annual General Meeting adopting the Annual Financial Statements for 2014)

Members
Keith TIETJEN
(from 5 October 2010 until the end of the Annual General Meeting adopting
the Annual Financial Statements for 2014)

Walter OBLIN
(from 15 March 2012 until the end of the Annual General Meeting adopting
the Annual Financial Statements for 2014)

Frederick HADDAD
(from 12 March 2013 until revoked)

André WEISS
(from 12 March 2013 until the end of the Annual General Meeting adopting
the Annual Financial Statements for 2014)

Chad A. LEAT
(from 5 December 2013 until the end of the Annual General Meeting
adopting the Annual Financial Statements for 2014)
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Works Council Delegates

State Commissioner

Ingrid STREIBEL-ZARFL

Beate SCHAFFER

(from 1 October 2005)

(from 1 August 2009,
previously Deputy State Commissioner from 1 March 2007 to 31 July 2009)

Beatrix PRÖLL
(from 1 October 2005)

Deputy State Commissioner

Konstantin LATSUNAS

Markus CHMELIK

(from 12 March 2013)

(from 1 March 2010)

Manuela GÖSTEL
(from 18 September 2013)

COMMITTEES OF BAWAG P.S.K. AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2014
Risk and Credit Committee

Audit and Compliance Committee

Franklin W. HOBBS

Chad A. LEAT

Chairman

Chairman

Cees MAAS

Cees MAAS

Deputy Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Walter OBLIN

Walter OBLIN

Frederick HADDAD

Frederick HADDAD

Ingrid STREIBEL-ZARFL

Ingrid STREIBEL-ZARFL

Works Council Delegate

Works Council Delegate

Beatrix PRÖLL

Konstantin LATSUNAS

Works Council Delegate

Works Council Delegate
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Nomination Committee

Committee for Management Board Matters

Franklin W. HOBBS

Franklin W. HOBBS

Chairman

Chairman

Cees MAAS

Cees MAAS

Deputy Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Pieter KORTEWEG

Pieter KORTEWEG

Deputy Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Frederick HADDAD

Keith TIETJEN

Ingrid STREIBEL-ZARFL

Frederick HADDAD

Works Council Delegate

Beatrix PRÖLL
Works Council Delegate
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Remuneration Committee

Related Parties Special Audit Committee

Franklin W. HOBBS

Franklin W. HOBBS

Chairman

Chairman

Cees MAAS

Cees MAAS

Deputy Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Keith TIETJEN

André WEISS

Frederick HADDAD

Frederick HADDAD

Ingrid STREIBEL-ZARFL

Ingrid STREIBEL-ZARFL

Works Council Delegate

Works Council Delegate

Beatrix PRÖLL

Beatrix PRÖLL

Works Council Delegate

Works Council Delegate

AUDITOR’S OPINION

AUDITOR’S OPINION

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of BAWAG P.S.K. Bank für Arbeit und
Wirtschaft und Österreichische Postsparkasse
Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna, for the fiscal year from 1
January 2014 to 31 December 2014. These consolidated
financial statements comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as of 31 December 2014, the
consolidated profit or loss statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement
for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2014, and the
Notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements and for the Accounting Records
The Company’s management is responsible for the group
accounting records and for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the additional
requirements of section 245a UGB. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining a
system of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility and Description of Type and Scope of
the Statutory Audit
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with laws and
regulations applicable in Austria and Austrian Standards on
Auditing, as well as in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs) issued by the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). These

standards require that we comply with professional
guidelines and that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers the system of internal control relevant to the
Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
Our audit did not give rise to any objections. In our opinion,
which is based on the results of our audit, the consolidated
financial statements comply with the legal requirements
and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as of 31 December 2014 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the fiscal year from 1
January 2014 to 31 December 2014, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the EU.
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Comments on the Group Management Report
Pursuant to statutory provisions, the group management
report is to be audited as to whether it is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements and as to whether the
other disclosures are not misleading with respect to the
Group’s position. The auditor’s report also has to contain a
statement as to whether the group management report is

consistent with the consolidated financial statements and
whether the disclosures pursuant to section 243a para 2
UGB are appropriate.
In our opinion, the group management report is consistent
with the consolidated financial statements. The disclosures
according to section 243a para 2 UGB are appropriate.

Vienna, 24 February 2015

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH
Dr. Peter Bitzyk m.p.

ppa. Mag. Monika Dabrowska m.p.

Certified Public Accountants

The publication or transmission of the consolidated financial statements in a form different from the one we have audited is only permitted with our consent if
in the course of doing so reference is made to our audit opinion or our audit. The auditor’s opinion only refers to the German version of the consolidated
financial statements including the group management report. For any amended version the provision of section 281 para 2 UGB need to be obeyed.
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Associated
company
Backtesting
Banking book
CDS

A company over which a material influence is exerted in terms of its business or financial policy and
that is recognized in the consolidated accounts using the equity method.
A method for verifying projected VaR values by comparing them with the actual developments.
All risk-bearing on- and off-balance-sheet positions of a bank that are not assigned to the trading book.
Credit default swap; a financial instrument that securitizes credit risks, for example those associated
with loans or securities.
CLO
Collateralized loan obligation; securities that are collateralized by a pool of credit claims.
Cross-selling
The active selling of complementary products and services to existing customers.
CRR
Capital requirements regulation; Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and
amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 Text with EEA relevance.
Derivatives
Financial instruments whose value depends on the value of an underlying asset (such as stocks or
bonds). The most important derivatives are futures, options and swaps.
Fair value
Price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date.
Fair value hedge
Assets or liabilities, generally with fixed interest rates, are protected against changes in their fair value
using derivatives.
Futures
Standardized, exchange-traded forward agreements in which an asset must be delivered or purchased
at a specific time and at a price that is agreed in advance.
Hedge accounting An accounting technique that aims to minimize the effects that the opposing developments in the value
of a hedge transaction and its underlying transaction have on the income statement.
Hedging
Protecting against the risk of disadvantageous interest rate and price changes
HICP
Harmonized Index of Consumer Prices; basis for a comparative measurement of inflation in Europe
and for evaluating the stability of monetary values within the Eurozone
IBNR
Allowance for incurred but not reported losses.
ICAAP
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process; an internal procedure to ensure that a bank has
sufficient own funds to cover all material types of risk.
Investment
Properties held as financial investments, primarily to generate rental income.
properties
Loss identification
The time span from the default of the client until the recognition of the default in the Bank.
period (LIP)
Monte Carlo
A numerical method for solving mathematical problems by modelling random values.
simulation
NPL
Non-performing loan; all customer exposures in default risk class 8, regardless of whether a limit has
been breached or the customer is in arrears on an individual account or not.
NPL coverage ratio The total of impairment write-downs and collateral relative to the NPL exposure.
NPL LLP
Impairment write-downs relative to the NPL exposure
coverage ratio
Option
The right to buy (call) or sell (put) an underlying reference asset at an agreed price within a specific
period of time or at a fixed point in time
OTC
Over the counter; trade with non-standardized financial instruments directly between the market
participants instead of through an exchange.
Swap
A financial instrument that is generally used to exchange payment flows between two parties.
Trading book
All positions that a bank holds in financial instruments for the purpose of sale again in the short term
when the best result can be achieved depending on the development of prices and interest rates.
Positions that are not assigned to the trading book are managed in the banking book.
Value-at-risk (VaR) A method for quantifying risks that measures the potential maximum future losses that can occur
within a specific period and with a certain probability.
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